The role of A Disintegrin and
MetalloproteinasewithThrombospondinMotifs-15(ADAMTS-15) in Breast Cancer

RICHARD JOHN ROBERT KELWICK

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Biological Sciences University of East Anglia

September 2013

© This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with the author and that no quotation from the thesis, nor any information derived therefrom, may be published without the author's prior, written consent.

ACCCACGCCAACAAGGGCCAGGAC

Dedicated to the memory of my grandfather

John Vincent Kelwick

First shout out goes to Dylan and Iain my supervisory co-stars. My PhD has been an incredible journey and I couldn't have made it through without your support, advice and general good humour. I always aimed to make my research look as easy as "falling off a log," though it sometimes proved more difficult. Even when things got tricky the 'triple-hit' team of colleagues and friends from the Edwards/Robinson/Clark groups always made me smile.

Whilst a complete thank you list would read like a who's who of UEA and the NRP I do want to say a few special thank you messages. I would like to thank the 'C-man', Christian Roghi for your extensive scientific advice, inspirational mastery of technology and entertaining banter that always made a day in the lab an enjoyable experience. Thanks also go to Julie for always reminding me which fridge or freezer the reagents had been moved to and on a more serious note for your advice, which always proved to be invaluable. Lin, I hope most of your days are Dr. Happy and thanks for your help and knowledge of all things angiogenesis! Good luck Sally, it was fun starting our PhDs together and I wish you well for the future. Whilst always controversial, our coffee breaks were always the stuff of legend, take care Kev. Ursula and Ellie, our TC antics were hilarious and made my day, everyday. Thanh you made living in Norwich that much more special, you are a great friend and I will miss you.

Dylan you deserve an extra thank you for supporting me throughout the many opportunities you supported my involvement with including, the Impact Team, BiotechnologyYES, the E&E Club, iGEM and many others. I enjoyed working with everyone involved with those projects so thanks, you know who you are [©]

A huge thanks goes to my best friends Waseem Malik, Afzal Qalandari and James Clarke, who are also known as the BMS boys! Your support and friendship means a lot to me. Every thank you list that I will ever write will include your names.

Thank you isn't sufficient and words almost fail me. I could not have achieved anything without the advice, support, and love from my family. Especially my father, Vincent Robert Kelwick who has endured many hardships to provide the opportunities and encouragement I needed to 'have a go'. I'm not sure that I could ever fully repay him; I can only hope that I am always making him proud. I love you dad. Salam Alikum to my brother, Adam a source of knowledge and generosity. My mother, Mary taught me to be creative and self-determined from an early age, both of which have shaped me. I have dedicated this thesis in memory of my grandfather, John Vincent Kelwick, a kind, generous and noble man. He set an example to follow, and I hope in some way this thesis honours him and continues the Kelwick family name.

I am immensely grateful to the funders of my project and our lab as a whole including Breast Cancer Campaign, Big C, Cancer research UK, Pamela Salter Trust and the Norfolk Fundraisers.

Breast cancer is the most common cancer in women and in 2008 accounted for 8% of UK cancer related deaths. A poor prognosis is particularly conferred upon individuals with evidence of metastatic breast cancer. With some studies noting that at least 70% of patients dying with breast cancer have evidence of metastatic disease. In order to develop novel therapeutic strategies a greater understanding of breast cancer tumourigenesis and metastasis is required.

Metalloproteinases were implicated as key drivers of metastasis through their ability to degrade the components of the extracellular matrix. This perspective is now superseded with evidence highlighting the involvement of metalloproteinases in an array of biological roles, from maintaining tissue homeostasis to angiogenesis, and importantly these roles can have tumour suppressive effects. Several metalloproteinases from the A Disintegrin and Metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs (ADAMTS) family are candidate tumour suppressors, including ADAMTS-15. In the context of breast cancer relatively high levels of ADAMTS-15 expression had previously been associated with increased relapse free survival. However the functional consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression in breast cancer are unknown and are the focus of this thesis.

ADAMTS-15 reduced the migration of MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells, in a metalloproteinase-independent manner. This anti-migratory effect likely involves syndecan-4, since modulation of syndecan-4 expression and signalling attenuated this effect. In contrast to its effects on cell migration, only *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 exhibited an anti-angiogenic effect in *in vitro* and *ex vivo* models of angiogenesis. In experimental metastasis assays, both ADAMTS-15 and E362A (metalloproteinase inactive form of ADAMTS-15) reduced metastasis of MDA-MB-231 cells to the liver, though paradoxically, ADAMTS-15 but not E362A enhanced lung colonisation. Taken together these studies demonstrate for the first time that extracellular ADAMTS-15 has multiple tissue context-dependent actions on breast tumour pathophysiology, some of which require its proteolytic activity whereas others do not.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	2
Abstract	3
Table of Contents	4
List of Figures	8
List of Tables	11
Abbreviations	12
Chapter One: Introduction	14
1.1 Cancer	14
1.2 Breast Cancer	16
1.3 The tumour microenvironment	
1.4 Proteases in tumour biology	
1.5 The ADAMTS Family	32
1.6 ADAMTS functional subgroups	35
1.6.1 Pro-collagen peptidases (ADAMTS-2, -3 and -14)	37
1.6.2 COMP proteinases (ADAMTS -7 and -12)	
1.6.3 vWF cleaving protease (ADAMTS-13)	39
1.6.4 Hyalectanases (ADAMTS-1, -4, -5, -8, -15, -9 and -20)	40
1.7 ADAMTSs in cancer	44
1.8 Cell Migration	47
1.8.1 Migration cycle	
1.8.2 Integrins and cell migration	53
1.8.3 Syndecans and cell migration	56
1.9 Project hypothesis and thesis aims	59
Chapter Two: Materials and Methods	60
2.1 Buffers	60
2.2 Reagents	62
2.3 Cell culture	64
2.4 ADAMTS-15 constructs	66
2.4.1 Constitutive expression	67
2.5 Cell growth assay	67
2.6 Cell viability: MTT assay	67
2.7 Aggrecanase assay	68
2.8 Plasmid DNA transient transfection	
2.9 siRNA transfection	69
2.10 Adhesion assay	69

	2.11 2D Cell migration assays	. 70
	2.11.1 Matrix migration assay	. 70
	2.11.2 Conditioned matrix assay	. 71
	2.11.3 siRNA treated migration assay	.71
	2.11.4 Time-lapse microscopy and analysis	72
	2.12 3D migration assay	. 72
	2.13 Scratch assay	72
	2.14 RNA extraction	73
	2.15 Reverse transcription	.73
	2.16 Quantitative real time PCR	.74
	2.17 Collection of cell lysates	.74
	2.18 Collection of cell derived matrix	.74
	2.19 TCA precipitation of conditioned media samples	75
	2.20 Determination of total protein	.75
	2.21 SDS PAGE gel electrophoresis	75
	2.22 Antibodies	.76
	2.23 Western blot	.78
	2.24 R&D phosphokinase array	.78
	2.25 Immunohistochemistry	. 79
	2.25.1 Fixation and antibody staining	. 79
	2.25.2 Phalloidin staining	. 79
	2.25.3 Imaging	. 80
	2.26 Flow Cytometry	. 80
	2.26.1 Cell cycle analysis	. 80
	2.26.2 Cell surface protein detection	. 81
	2.27 Angiogenesis Assays	. 81
	2.27.1 Generation of ADAMTS-15 conditioned media	. 81
	2.27.2 HUVEC 3D tube formation assay	. 82
	2.27.3 Aortic ring assay	. 83
	2.28 Experimental Metastasis: Tail Vein Assay	. 83
	2.29 Statistical analysis	. 83
С	hapter Three: Characterisation of ADAMTS-15 Expression Systems	85
	3.1 Introduction	. 85
	3.2 Characterisation of human mammary cell culture models	. 86
	3.2.1 Myoepithelial cells	. 86
	3.2.2 Breast cancer cells	. 90
	3.3 Generation of ADAMTS-15 expressing mammary cancer cell lines	. 94

3.3.1 Validation of ADAMTS-15 constructs	94
3.3.2 Transient expression of ADAMTS-15 in human breast cancer lines	cell 96
3.3.3 Constitutive expression of ADAMTS-15 in human breast cancer lines	cell 97
3.4 Analysis of cell viability and proliferation	100
3.5 ADAMTS-15 localisation	102
3.6 Aggrecanase assay	107
3.7 Discussion	109
3.8 Chapter summary	115
Chapter Four: ADAMTS-15 Modulates the Migratory Behaviour of Hu Breast Cancer Cell Lines	man 116
4.1 Introduction	116
4.2 Analysis of migration in 2D assays	116
4.2.1 Scratch wound assay	116
4.2.2 Analysis of random cell migration	118
4.3 Analysis of matrix specific effects on cell migration	120
4.3.1 Conditioned matrix migration assay	120
4.3.2 2D migration on fibronectin, collagen type I and laminin	122
4.3.3 ADAMTS-15 expression is associated with an altered integrin pr	ofile 126
4.4 Investigation of potential involvement of syndecan-4 in ADAMTS-15 e on cell migration	ffect 129
4.5 Analysis of the involvement of signalling pathways that might be invo in mediating the ADAMTS-15 anti-migratory phenotype	lved 132
4.5.1 PKC signalling	132
4.5.2 EGF signalling	135
4.5.3 ROCK signalling	137
4.5.4 Global effects on kinase phosphorylation	139
4.6 Analysis of migration in 3D matrices	142
4.7 Discussion	144
4.7.1 ADAMTS-15 inhibits cell migration in a metalloproteir independent manner	າase 144
4.7.2 ADAMTS-15 modulates cell-ECM interactions	146
4.7.3 Importance of ADAMTS-15 during breast tumourigenesis	149
4.7.3 ADAMTS-15 and syndecan-4	154
4.8 Chapter summary	158

Chapter Five: The Effects of ADAMTS-15 on Angiogenesis and M	letastasis 159
5.1 Introduction	159
5.2 Angiogenesis assays	159
5.2.1 HUVEC tube formation	160
5.2.2 Aortic ring assay	162
5.3 Experimental metastasis (tail vein assay)	164
5.4 Discussion	167
5.4.1 Angiogenesis	167
5.4.2 Metastasis	171
5.5 Chapter summary	173
Chapter Six: Final discussion and Future Perspectives	174
References	183
Appendix	221
Appendix 1: ADAMTS evolutionary history	221
Appendix 2: miRNA regulation of ADAMTSs	224
Appendix 3: ADAMTS domain sizes	226
Appendix 4: ADAMTS-15 sequences	226
Appendix 5: Validation of ADAMTS-15 antibodies	227
Appendix 6: Phosphokinase array data	228
Appendix 7: qRT-PCR data	229

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: A summary of the fundamental characteristics that tumour cells acquire

Figure 1.2: Schematic of human breast tissue architecture

Figure 1.3: Schematic of the histological model of breast cancer progression

Figure 1.4: Tumour-stroma signalling interactions during tumourigenesis and metastasis

Figure 1.5: Historical overview of MMP cancer research

Figure 1.6: General domain organisation of several members of the metzincin superfamily

Figure 1.7: The A Disintegrin And Metalloproteinase with ThromboSpondin motifs (ADAMTS) family

Figure 1.8: Aggrecan and Versican

Figure 1.9: Cell migration cycle

Figure 1.10: Typical integrin structure

Figure 1.11: Syndecan-4 in co-operation with α 5 β 1 provides a mechanical link between the extracellular matrix and the actin cytoskeleton

Figure 2.1: ADAMTS-15 constructs and pcDNA3.2 plasmid map

Figure 3.1: Myoepithelial cells display a dynamic phenotype in culture

Figure 3.2: Images of MCF-7 cells and MDA-MB-231 cells

Figure 3.3: Expression profile of MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells

Figure 3.4: Validation of ADAMTS-15 pcDNA 3.2 constructs

Figure 3.5: Characterisation of ADAMTS-15 transient expression in human breast cancer cell lines

Figure 3.6: Characterisation of ADAMTS-15 expression in human breast cancer cell lines

Figure 3.7: Western blot analysis of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells

Figure 3.8: Expression profile of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells

Figure 3.9: ADAMTS-15 does not affect breast cancer cell viability or proliferation

Figure 3.10: ADAMTS-15 associates with the ECM

Figure 3.11: ADAMTS-15 associates with the ECM via its ancillary domain

Figure 3.12: ADAMTS-15 aggrecanase activity is inhibited by N-TIMP-3

Figure 4.1: ADAMTS-15 reduces scratch wound recovery of human breast cancer cells in a metalloproteinase-independent manner

Figure 4.2: ADAMTS-15 reduces 2D migration of human breast cancer cells in a metalloproteinase-independent manner

Figure 4.3: Knockdown of ADAMTS-15 abrogates the anti-migratory phenotype

Figure 4.4: ADAMTS-15 conditioned matrix reduces the migration of human breast cancer cells

Figure 4.5: ADAMTS-15 reduces 2D migration on fibronectin and laminin

Figure 4.6: MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells on laminin and fibronectin

Figure 4.7: ADAMTS-15 expression is associated with an altered integrin profile

Figure 4.8: Expression profile of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells

Figure 4.9: ADAMTS-15 expression associated with increased levels of Syndecan-4

Figure 4.10: Knockdown of syndecan-4 abrogates ADAMTS-15 anti-migratory phenotype

Figure 4.11: Modulation of signalling pathways down-stream of syndecan-4 abrogates ADAMTS-15 anti-migratory phenotype

Figure 4.12: ADAMTS-15 reduces the sensitivity of breast cancer cells to the migration stimulatory effects of EGF

Figure 4.13: Rock inhibitor Y27632 does not affect the ADAMTS-15 antimigratory phenotype

Figure 4.14: Global effects on kinase phosphorylation in ADAMTS-15 expressing cells

Figure 4.15: ADAMTS-15 reduces 3D migration through matrigel but not collagen type I in a metalloproteinase-independent manner

Figure 4.16: ADAMTS-15 may protect syndecan-4 from being shed from the cell surface

Figure 5.1: ADAMTS-15 reduces HUVEC tube formation in a metalloproteinase dependent manner

Figure 5.2: ADAMTS-15 reduces aortic ring sprouting in a metalloproteinasedependent manner

Figure 5.3: ADAMTS-15 reduces metastatic spread to liver in a metalloproteinase-independent manner

Figure 5.4: ADAMTS-15 does not affect metastatic spread to the bone marrow

Figure 5.5: ADAMTS-15 enhances metastatic spread to the lungs in a metalloproteinase-dependent manner

Figure 6.1: Summary of ADAMTS-15 protective effects in breast cancer that have been experimentally verified in this thesis.

Figure A1: ADAMTS evolutionary history and genomic locations.

Figure A1.2: ADAMTS metalloproteinase sequence identity

Figure A3: ADAMTS domain sizes

Figure A4: ADAMTS-15 Sequence

Figure A5: Commercial ADAMTS-15 antibodies do not reliably detect endogenous ADAMTS-15

Figure A6: Human phosphokinase array data

Figure A7: Expression profile of MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells

Figure A8: Expression profile of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells

List of Tables

Table 1.1: The hormone status of breast cancer subtypes.

 Table 1.2: Stromal sources of MMPs and TIMPs.

 Table 1.3: Known ADAMTS substrates.

Table 1.4: Members of the ADAMTS family that are down regulated in cancer.

Table 1.5: Integrin heterodimers that bind to major components of the extracellular matrix.

Table 2.1: List of buffers and their contents.

 Table 2.2: List of experimental reagents.

Table 2.3: Cells and culture conditions.

Table 2.4: Antibodies used for Western Blot, Immunofluorescence and Flow

 Cytometry experiments.

 Table 3.1: Comparison of MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 human mammary cancer cell lines.

Table A1: ADAMTS orthologues.

Table A2: miRNA regulators of the ADAMTSs.

Abbreviations

- (v/v), volume per volume
- (w/v), weight per volume
- 2D, 2 dimensional
- 3D, 3 dimensional
- ADAM, a disintegrin and metalloproteinase
- ADAMTS, a disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs
- ADAMTS-15 (TS15), wild-type ADAMTS-15
- ADAMTS-15 E362A (E362A), metalloproteinase inactive ADAMTS-15
- ADH, atypical ductal hyperplasia
- ALH, atypical lobular hyperplasia
- CD1 nu/nu, CD1 nude mouse
- DCIS, ductal carcinoma in situ
- DMEM, dulbecco's modified eagle's medium
- DNA, deoxyribonucleic acid
- ECL, enhanced chemiluminescence
- ECM, extracellular matrix
- EDS type VIIc, ehler-danlos syndrome type 7c
- EGF, epidermal growth factor
- EMT, epithelial to mesenchymal transition
- EV, empty vector control pcDNA3.2
- FCS, foetal calf serum
- GAPDH, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
- HELU, hyperplastic enlarged lobular units
- HRP, horseradish peroxidase
- HUVEC, human umbilical vascular endothelial cell
- IBC, invasive breast cancers
- IgG, immunoglobulin

- IV, intravenous
- Kb, kilo base
- **kDa**, kilo dalton
- LCIS, lobular carcinoma in situ
- MDA-MB-231, m.d.anderson metastatic-breast 231.
- MCF-7, michigan cancer foundation 7.
- MMP, matrix metalloproteinase
- MMPI, matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors
- mRNA, messenger RNA
- MT-MMP, membrane type matrix metalloproteinase
- NGS, nottingham grading system
- PBS, phosphate buffered saline
- pcDNA3.2, plasmid vector
- **qRT-PCR**, quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
- RNA, ribonucleic acid
- RR, relative risk of invasive breast cancer
- SDS-PAGE, sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- SEM, standard error of mean
- siRNA, small interfering RNA
- SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism
- TBS, tris buffered saline
- TDLU, terminal duct lobular units
- $TGF-\beta$, transforming growth factor beta
- TIMP, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases
- **TNF-** α , tumour necrosis factor alpha
- TTP, thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura
- VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor
- WB, western blot

1.1 Cancer

Cancer is a group of diseases associated with uncontrolled cellular proliferation that occurs when cells lose key regulatory mechanisms associated with the control of cell growth, genome stability and cell survival (Figure 1.1; Brown *et al.* 2009; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Cancer aetiology and progression are the result of complex processes. It was originally thought that a single, as of yet undiscovered event was at the heart of cancer initiation (Foulds, 1958; Klein, 1998). In 1958 Leslie Foulds changed the carcinogenesis paradigm when his research proposed that cancer development was a progressive process in which tissue abnormalities associated with cancer were acquired over time (Foulds, 1958; Klein, 1998). Ideas emerged which complemented Fould's concept with somatic mutation theory, whereby it was the acquisition of genetic mutations and epigenetic alterations which over time equipped cancer cells with the capacity for uncontrolled proliferation and survival (Klein, 2009; Sonnenschein and Soto, 2008).

Cancer cells that are able to escape the local tumour microenvironment and establish distant secondary tumours (metastasis) are of the greatest clinical concern, with some indications that metastasis may account for up to 90% of cancer deaths (Croft and Olson, 2008; Klein, 2009; Nguyen *et al.* 2009 Pagani *et al.* 2010). For metastasis, cancer cells must invade into the surrounding tissues, intravasate into the circulatory or lymphatic system, extravasate into

distant tissues and then proliferate to form a novel tumour (Kopfstein and Christofori, 2006; Nguyen *et al.* 2009).



Figure 1.1: A summary of the fundamental characteristics that tumour cells acquire. Figure based upon figures 1 and 3 in Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011.

1.2 Breast Cancer

Breast cancer is the most common cancer in women and in 2008 accounted for 8% of UK cancer related deaths (Cancer Res. UK, 2009; Quinn *et al.* 2008) Although screening and therapeutic strategies have contributed to a 35% decline in UK mortality since 1989 levels, the annual incidence of breast cancer continues to rise (Autier *et al.* 2010; Quinn *et al.* 2008). In recent years the lifetime risk for women developing breast cancer in the UK has risen from 1in9 to 1in8 (Cancer Research UK, 2013). A poor prognosis is particularly conferred upon individuals with evidence of metastatic breast cancer, with some studies noting that at least 70% of patients dying with breast cancer have evidence of metastatic disease (Buijs and van der Pluijm, 2009; Rubens, 1998).

Breast cancer progression from healthy tissue towards an invasive carcinoma is complex and was originally classified through the emergence of histomorphological changes in which normal breast architecture is aberrantly disrupted (Wellings and Jensen, 1973). Mammary glands in healthy breast tissue form into a layered structure consisting of luminal epithelial cells, which are responsible for the secretion of milk into the adjacent lumen (Figure 1.2; Adriance *et al.* 2005). Underneath luminal epithelia, myoepithelial cells form a continuous layer interfacing between the luminal epithelial cells and the basement membrane (Figure 1.2; Adriance *et al.* 2005). A highly fibrous connective stroma and adipose tissue surrounds the glandular structures of the mammary ductal tree (Adriance *et al.* 2005).



Figure 1.2: Schematic of human breast tissue architecture. The diagram is a representation of the general features of human breast tissue architecture. A cross section of a breast duct is shown as are two important cell types that are responsible for breast tissue homeostasis and function. The luminal epithelial cells, which line the lumen of the duct, are responsible for the generation of milk proteins. The myopepithelial cells are phenotypically a combination of muscle and epithelial like features. Myoepithelial cells are involved in the generation of the contractile forces needed to secrete the milk proteins into the lumen during lactation. This figure is based upon information that was adapted from *Butcher et al.* 2009 and Gordon *et al.* 2003.

During lactation these glandular structures, termed terminal duct lobular units (TDLUs), are under mechanical pressure, due to the stresses exerted with the build-up of milk (Adriance *et al.* 2005; Butcher *et al.* 2009; Cichon *et al.* 2010). Myoepithelial cells, a combination of muscle (myo) and epithelial-like character, must contract to secrete luminal milk to alleviate these pressures and restore tissue homeostasis (Adriance *et al.* 2005; Butcher *et al.* 2009). Myoepithelial and luminal epithelial cells seek clues about the environmental tensile forces from cell-cell (e.g. E-Cadherin), desmosomal (e.g. DSg3) and hemidesmosomal (e.g. integrin α 6 β 4) signalling interactions (Butcher *et al.* 2009; Gordon *et al.* 2003). *In vitro* studies demonstrate that signalling interactions between the

epithelial cell layer and the basement membrane are essential for apical-basal polarity and differentiation for the generation of milk proteins (Barcellos-Hoff *et al.* 1989; Butcher *et al.* 2009). Desensitisation of these signalling elements through constant exposure to tensile stress can lead to a loss of tissue integrity invoking extensive tissue remodelling (Butcher *et al.* 2009). Luminal epithelial-like cells and in rarer cases myoepithelial-like cells, which have acquired the capacity for unrestrained proliferation, gain a selective advantage during this remodelling process and potentially initiate tumourigenesis (Adriance *et al.* 2005; Gordon *et al.* 2003; Polyak and Hu, 2005).

Unrestrained proliferation of malignant cells in the TDLUs results in the emergence of tissue abnormalities (Figure 1.3; Allred *et al.* 2001; Wellings and Jensen, 1973). The most common tissue abnormalities that develop during disease progression have been extensively characterised and histologically modelled (Allred *et al.* 2001; Cichon *et al.* 2010; Wellings and Jensen, 1973). According to histological models of breast cancer, hyper-proliferation of the TDLU epithelium leads to the development of extended tissue structures, such as cysts and unfolded lobules at the proliferative disease without atypia (PDWA) and hyperplastic enlarged lobular units (HELU) stage (Figure 1.3; Cichon *et al.* 2010; Lee *et al.* 2006). Over time alterations in cell adhesion, polarity and other cellular abnormalities develop resulting in the distension of acini (Allred *et al.* 2008; Cichon *et al.* 2010). These changes are characteristic of the transition into the atypical hyperplasia stage, which can manifest itself in ductal (atypical ductal hyperplasia, ADH) or lobular (atypical lobular hyperplasia, ALH) forms (Allred *et al.* 2008; Cichon *et al.* 2010). Differences between ductal and lobular

forms are largely descriptive and not necessarily representative of the lesions' site of origin (Cichon *et al.* 2010).



Figure 1.3: Schematic of the histological model of breast cancer progression. Abbreviations: TDLU, terminal duct lobular units; HELU, hyperplastic enlarged lobular units; ADH, atypical ductal hyperplasia; ALH, atypical lobular hyperplasia; DCIS, ductal carcinoma in situ; LCIS, lobular carcinoma in situ; IBC, invasive breast cancers; RR, relative risk of invasive breast cancer. This figure is based upon data that was adapted from Allred *et al.* 2001; Cichon *et al.* 2010; Wellings and Jensen, 1973.

Hyperplasias can transition into either ductal or lobular forms of carcinoma in situ, DCIS or LCIS respectively (Allred *et al.* 2008; Bombonati and Sgroi, 2011). Carcinoma *in situ* is a descriptor for the last stage of benign breast neoplasia and DCIS in particular may account for up to 20% of all detected breast cancers (Ernster *et al.* 2000; Jones, 2006). DCIS is a broad descriptive term, which is frequently sub-divided into three groups, depending upon the appearance of cytonuclear features (Jones, 2006; NHSBSP Guidelines, 2005). At the *in situ* stage the myoepithelial and basement membrane interface is intact, essentially maintaining the rapidly proliferating neoplastic tissue within the ducts or lobules of the breast (Adriance *et al.* 2005; Cichon *et al.* 2010).

Invasive disease often follows DCIS, with up to 50% of DCIS lesions reported to progress to invasive disease (Jones, 2006; Sanders *et al.* 2005). Transition to invasive and/or metastatic disease typically requires the breakdown of the myoepithelial-basement membrane interface, an event that is likely to occur post-DCIS, in part due to the accumulation of myoepithelial cell genetic abnormalities (Adriance *et al.* 2005; Hsiao *et al.* 2011; Jones, 2006; Polyak and Hu, 2005). Once basement membrane integrity is compromised tumour cells are able to spread to distant tissues and organs. For breast tumours metastatic spread is typically to the lymph nodes, lungs, liver, bone and brain (Buijs and van der Pluijm, 2009; Nguyen, Bos, and Massagué, 2009)

The descriptive histological characteristics of invasive disease are based upon observed growth patterns and diverging resemblance from healthy epithelial cells (differentiation) (Rakha *et al.* 2010). The Nottingham Grading System (NGS) describes the criteria for a semi-quantitative analysis and grading (I, II, III) of breast tumour patho-morphology which in combination with Lymph node (LN) status has prognostic value (Rakha *et al.* 2010). Despite the prognostic and therapeutic utility of histo-pathological models of breast cancer, they are arguably an over-simplistic representation of breast cancer disease progression.

Critical appraisal of these models highlights several limitations, which refinements in descriptive histological terminology have not managed to overcome, but a molecular analysis may yet address (Bombonati and Sgroi, 2011; Cichon *et al.* 2010; Griffith and Gray, 2013; Ma *et al.* 2003; Rakha *et al.* 2010). Not all patients display clearly progressive histological features and even when they do the progression duration varies greatly, taking in some cases

decades (Allred *et al.* 2008; Jones, 2006; Sanders *et al.* 2005). Prediction of progression timescales from benign disease towards invasive disease is difficult from a purely histological analysis. For instance several DCIS studies have revealed that not all DCIS have invasive potential, or at least not in the patients' lifetime (Emery *et al.* 2009; Jones, 2006; Sanders *et al.* 2005). This has an impact on therapeutic strategy. It is perhaps unfortunate for patients to undergo aggressive therapies with harmful side effects, when their form of cancer may not progress to a threatening stage within their lifetime (Jones, 2006). Perhaps more importantly these studies allude to the hidden diversity of breast cancer origins, progression and invasive potential, which can be masked in a purely histological analysis.

It is argued that a molecular stratification of breast cancer is needed to fully understand the complexity of breast cancer progression and to usher in truly personalised therapeutic strategies (Bombonati and Sgroi, 2011; Curtis *et al.* 2012; Prat *et al.* 2010; Rakha *et al.* 2010; Stephens *et al.* 2009; Swanton *et al.* 2011). Breast cancer molecular subtypes are broadly categorised by the expression of Oestrogen Receptor (ER), Progesterone Receptor (PgR) and Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2) respectively (Table 1.1). Luminal subtypes are the most frequently clinically presented of the breast tumour subtypes and since they are positive for ER, these cancers respond well to anti-endocrine therapies. However prolonged direct (Tamoxifen) or indirect (aromatase inhibitors, Als) therapeutic modulation of ER signalling often leads to endocrine resistance and disease recurrence (Leary and Dowsett, 2006).

Only 25% of breast tumours over-express the epithelial growth factor receptor (EGFR), Her-2 (Table 1.1; Dean-Colomb and Esteva, 2008). Yet for those

patients that have HER2+ tumours, treatment with the anti-HER2 monoclonal antibody Trastuzumab (Herceptin) has proven particularly effective (Dean-Colomb and Esteva, 2008; Pero *et al.* 2007). Arguably the HER-2 subtype is currently the best example of how an examination of the molecular subtypes can inform a highly personalised and effective therapeutic strategy. In contrast to this, basal and claudin-low subtypes do not respond well to either anti-endocrine or HER based therapies and are associated with a poor prognosis (Kennecke *et al.* 2010; Prat *et al.* 2010).

	Normal-	Luminal	Luminal	HER-2	Claudin	Basal
	like	Α	В		-Low	
ER status	+	+	+	-	-	-
PgR status	+	+	+	-	-	-
ErbB2 (Her2/neu) status	+	-	+	+	-	-
% of triple negative tumours	0%	3-4%	4-9%	14-22%	61-71%	73-80%

Table 1.1: The hormone status of breast cancer subtypes. The percentage of these tumour subtypes which display a triple negative hormone status was derived from three patient data sets; UNC337, NKI295 and MDACC133 respectively. Table based upon Prat *et al.* 2010.

Breast cancer subtypes also display differential capacities for metastatic spread, with basal tumours being particularly metastatic (Kennecke *et al.* 2010). These capacities are not just intrinsic to the tumour cells themselves but also involve co-operation with the tumour microenvironment. In other words only

tumour cells, which acquire the capacity to co-opt the tissue microenvironment are capable of successful metastatic spread (Klein, 2004; Klein, 2009; Langley and Fidler 2011; Mueller and Fusenig, 2004; Paget, 1889).

1.3 The tumour microenvironment

Tumour cells do not reside in isolation but are in fact surrounded by multiple cell types and an extracellular matrix (ECM), which in combination form the constituents of the tumour microenvironment (stroma) (Figure 1.4). The extracellular matrix includes the structural proteins such as collagens, laminins, fibronectin, as well as proteoglycans such as, hyaluronan, aggrecan and versican, (Butcher *et al.* 2009; Huxley-Jones *et al.* 2007; Mao and Schwarzbauer, 2005). The ECM influences tumour cell behaviour either directly through interaction with cellular receptors leading to cell signalling or mechanotransduction of force, or indirectly via the proteolytic release of matricryptic fragments that in turn elicit cell signalling (Butcher *et al.* 2009; Hojilla, Wood and Khokha, 2008; Xu, Boudreau and Bissell, 2009).

Within the context of breast tissues stromal cells include fibroblasts, adipocytes and the multiple cell types of the tumour-associated vasculature. The vasculature includes the pericytes and the endothelial cells that form the vessels themselves, as well as the natural killer cells, neutrophils, macrophages and other circulatory cells of the immune system. Tumour cells interact with and co-opt stromal cells to produce growth factors, cytokines and proteases that in combination create a pro-inflammatory environment which is conducive to tumourigenesis (Allen and Jones, 2011; Kessenbrock, Plaks, and Werb, 2010). Of these factors proteases are particularly important since they mediate several tumorigenic processes including an acceleration of tumour growth and the induction of the epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), a process in which cancer cells become malignant (Edwards *et al.* 2009; Kempen, de Visserc and Coussens, 2006; Lopez-Otin and Matrisian, 2007; Ota *et al.* 2009). Originally, however, proteases were considered for their ability to degrade the ECM and as a result were thought to clear a pathway in which tumour cells could grow, invade and spread to distant tissues (Lopez-Otin and Matrisian, 2007).



Figure 1.4: Tumour-stroma signalling interactions during tumourigenesis and metastasis. (**Upper**) The assembly and collective contributions of the assorted cell types constituting the tumour microenvironment (stroma) are orchestrated and maintained by reciprocal heterotypic signalling interactions, of which only a few are illustrated. (**Lower**) The intercellular signalling depicted in the upper panel is reciprocal and highly dynamic. These signalling interactions drive the increasingly aggressive phenotypes that underlie growth, invasion, and metastatic dissemination. (Figure 5 from Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011. Permission granted via RightsLink Licence Number: 3167020799762).

1.4 Proteases in tumour biology

Fisher (1946) proposed that the proteolytic activity of tumours actively facilitated the degradation of the ECM, permitting tumour growth, invasion and metastasis. This provided the basis for implicating proteases in cancer progression (Liotta *et al.* 1980; Lopez-Otin and Bond, 2008; Lopez-Otin and Matrisian, 2007; Overall and Kleifeld, 2006). Protease research continued and by the 1970s individual proteases were identified and later classified into five distinct classes: Cysteine-, Serine-, Aspartic-, Threonine- and Metallo- proteases (Lopez-Otin and Bond, 2008; Neurath and Walsh, 1976).

The matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) emerged from amongst the five classes of proteases as distinctly important in ECM turnover (Brinckerhoff and Matrisian, 2002; Page-McCaw *et al.* 2007). A rationale evolved which placed the activities of MMPs as key drivers of turnour mediated ECM degradation and subsequent metastatic action (Egeblad and Werb, 2002). Evidence demonstrating the propensity for turnours in advanced disease stages to express high levels of MMPs strengthened arguments in favour of MMP inhibition (Baker *et al.* 2002; Brown, 1998; Greenwald, 1999; Sternlicht and Werb, 2001). An array of smalldrug MMP inhibitors (MMPIs) were developed in the 1980s and 1990s (McCullagh *et al.* 1984; Low *et al.* 1996; Zucker *et al.* 2000). However the proposed benefits associated with broad action MMP inhibition did not translate into the clinic. Phase III clinical trials with MMPIs did not increase the survival prospects of patients with advanced cancer (Coussens *et al.* 2002; Pavlaki and Zucker, 2003; Zucker *et al.* 2000). Between 1962, which saw the discovery of the first MMP, and 1984, which marks the patenting of a first generation MMPI, only a handful of the 23 human MMPs had been discovered (Gross and Lapiere, 1962; Kessenbrock *et al.* 2010; McCullagh *et al.* 1984). Perhaps then with hindsight it was not too surprising that first generation MMPIs, designed upon incomplete knowledge of the MMP family did not increase the survival prospects of patients with advanced cancer (Pavlaki and Zucker, 2003; Zucker *et al.* 2000). Critics have also argued that the design of early Phase III first generation MMPIs. (Zucker *et al.* 2000). The selection of advanced stage patients placed the focus on treating mature tumours and in doing so the roles of MMPs in earlier stages of tumour development were ignored. This focus also overlooked the major source of MMPs, the tumour stroma (Table 1.2), thus downplaying the importance of the interactions between the tumour and the tumour microenvironment.

Breast architecture is frequently disturbed by the stresses of normal breast physiology (Butcher *et al.* 2008). In the healthy breast MMPs are major players in the tissue remodelling processes needed to maintain breast tissue homeostasis and to facilitate the architectural changes required for mammary gland growth, lactation and involution. To prevent aberrant remodelling processes the MMPs are tightly regulated at the level of transcription, activation of the pro-enzyme, and through the action of 4 endogenous MMP inhibitors, the tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) (Baker *et al.* 2002; Clark *et al.* 2008). In tumourigenesis however, tumour cells are able to disrupt and aberrantly modulate the MMP:TIMP axis needed for the maintenance of breast tissue homeostasis. In doing so tumour cells are able to co-opt the surrounding stroma into the production of yet more MMPs to aid an array of disease progression processes (Table 1.2; Kessenbrock *et al.* 2010; Page-McCaw *et al.* 2007). These cancer disease progression processes of which MMPs are implicated include the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) of tumour cells to a more invasive phenotype (Ota *et al.* 2009), inflammatory responses (Hojilla *et al.* 2008), tumour angiogenesis (Handsley and Edwards, 2005) and mediation of the pre-metastatic niche (Kaplan *et al.* 2005).

Stromal Cell	MMPs / TIMPs
Neutrophils	MMP-8 and MMP-9. TIMP-1
Macrophages	MMP-1, -2, -7, -9, -12 and -14.
	TIMP -1, -2 and -3
Mast Cells	MMP-2 and MMP-9. TIMP-1
Fibroblasts	MMP-1, -2, -3, -9, -11, -13, -14 and -19.
	TIMP-1, -2 and -3
Lymphocytes	MMP-3 and MMP-9. TIMP-1

Table 1.2: Stromal sources of MMPs and TIMPs.Table based uponKessenbrock et al. 2010.

In contrast to other matrix metalloproteinases, MMP-8 (Collagenase-2), an MMP that is involved with inflammatory and tissue remodelling processes may be tumour suppressive (Balbin *et al.* 2003; Gutiérrez-Fernández *et al.* 2007; Thirkettle *et al.* 2013). Male mice experimentally deficient of MMP-8 (MMP-8 -/-) demonstrated an increased susceptibility to skin cancer, marked by an increase

in skin tumour incidence (Balbin *et al.* 2003). *In vitro* studies where MMP-8 was over expressed in melanoma cell lines, showed reduced invasive capacity as expected for a tumour suppressor gene and breast cancer patients which show relatively high MMP-8 expression have a good prognosis (Gutiérrez-Fernández *et al.* 2008).

In light of these studies the failure of first generation MMPIs can now be attributed in part to the broad-spectrum inhibition of MMPs, many of which had not yet been discovered and whose roles in cancer are still not fully understood. The unintentional inhibition of cancer anti-targets, such as the tumour suppressor MMP-8 was also a contributing factor and may even explain the poorer outcome of some MMPI treated patients (Devy *et al.* 2009; Gutierrez-Fernandez *et al.* 2008; Overall and Kleifeld, 2006; Pavlaki and Zucker, 2003; Zucker *et al.* 2000). Additionally the failure of early generation MMPIs may also have been due to unforeseen off-target effects, most significantly that MMPIs demonstrate both direct and indirect inhibition of members of the related zinc moiety containing protease families, a disintegrin-like and metalloproteinase (ADAM) and a disintegrin-like and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin type 1 motif (ADAMTS) (Figure 1.5; Figure1.6; Butler *et al.* 2008; Fridman *et al.* 2007; Pavlaki and Zucker, 2003; Porter *et al.* 2005).

The ADAMS and ADAMTSs have complex roles in health and disease. Atypical expression, regulation or function of these metalloproteinases can lead to inherited genetic disorders, or contribute to aberrant patho-physiological processes in arthritis, cardiovascular disease and cancer. Whilst the ADAMs are generally pro-tumourigenic, interestingly members of the ADAMTS family

exhibit tumour suppressor functions in some contexts and are therefore of great interest (Kelwick and Edwards, 2014).



Figure 1.5: Historical overview of MMP cancer research. Proteases implicated in metastasis (Fisher, 1946; LopezOtin and Bond, 2008) through to the failure of MMPIs (Pavlaki and Zucker, 2003), the discovery of tumour suppressive MMPs (Gutierrez Fernandez 2008) and the related ADAMs (Edwards *et al.* 2008), ADAMTS (Kelwick and Edwards, 2014; Porter *et al.* 2005; Wagstaff *et al.* 2011).



Figure 1.6: General domain organisation of several members of the metzincin superfamily. ECM associated MMPs and membrane type (MT-MMPs) are depicted along with the ADAMs and ADAMTSs. The defining characteristics of these related families includes the HEXXH Zn-coordinating catalytic core and the presence of a Met residue downstream that sets up the topology of the active site cleft; a feature exploited by MMPIs. Figure adapted from Edwards *et al.* 2008.

1.5 The ADAMTS Family

The human ADAMTSs (<u>A</u> <u>D</u>isintegrin <u>and</u> <u>M</u>etalloproteinase with <u>T</u>hrombo<u>s</u>pondin motifs) are a family of 19 secreted, matrix-associated zinc metallo-endopeptidases. The founding member of the family, ADAMTS-1 was discovered by Kuno *et al.* 1997. Subsequent research has identified a total of 19 human ADAMTSs that can be sub-grouped based on phylogenetic analysis and according to their known substrate specificities (Figure 1.7; Table 1.3; Appendix A1; A3).

The ADAMTSs have diverse roles in the regulation of tissue morphogenesis, patho-physiological tissue remodelling, inflammation, neural plasticity and angiogenesis (Kelwick and Edwards, 2014; Porter *et al.* 2005; Wagstaff *et al.* 2011). Whilst the loss of individual ADAMTSs may in some cases be phenotypically mild, mutations or changes in ADAMTSs expression, localisation or function are associated with disease. Mutations in *ADAMTS-2* lead to Ehler-Danlos syndrome type VIIc, a connective tissue disorder and mutations in *ADAMTS-13* drive an inherited form of thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP), a disease associated with the accumulation of platelet thrombi that can obstruct the cardiovascular system (Li *et al.* 2001; Pimanda *et al.* 2004; Prockop *et al.* 1998). Broad changes in ADAMTS expression, function or localisation are also associated with an array of arthritis and cancer patho-physiological processes (Kelwick and Edwards, 2014; Kevorkian *et al.* 2004; Lin and Liu 2010; Porter *et al.* 2004; Wagstaff *et al.* 2011).

The basic structure of the ADAMTSs is broadly organised into a protease domain and an ancillary domain. The proteinase domain comprises of the signal, pro, metalloproteinase and disintegrin-like domains. The ancillary domain varies greatly between different family members and is composed of one or more Thrombospondin type 1 Sequence Repeats (TSR), a Cysteine-rich domain and a spacer domain. Several ADAMTSs also contain one or more specialist domains as part of their ancillary domain, which regulate enzyme function in terms of substrate preferences, localisation, secretion and proteolytic activity (Figure 1.7). Beyond intrinsic structural features the ADAMTSs are also regulated at the level of transcription, via post-translational modifications and via endogenous inhibition (TIMPs).



Figure 1.7: The <u>A</u> <u>Disintegrin And Metalloproteinase with</u> <u>ThromboSpondin motifs (ADAMTS) family.</u> The figure illustrates the basic domain organisation of the 19 human ADAMTS family members and their major functional groups. Structurally the ADAMTS members are broadly organised into a proteinase domain and an ancillary domain. The diagram is drawn to scale. Adapted from Kelwick and Edwards, 2014.

1.6 ADAMTS functional subgroups

The major functional ADAMTS sub-groups include, the pro-collagen N-propeptidases (ADAMTS-2,-3 and -14), the cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) cleaving proteases (ADAMTS-7 and -20), von-Willebrand Factor proteinase (ADAMTS-13) and the largest sub group, the hyalectanases / aggrecanases (ADAMTS-1,-4,-5,-8,-9,-15 and -20). There are also several orphan proteases, with no known substrates (ADAMTS-6,-10,-16 to -19) (Table1.3). These subgroups will be examined in the coming sections.

However it should also be noted that beyond the currently known sub-groups, proteomics based approaches are identifying novel ADAMTS substrates and by inference a greater understanding of the biological functions of the ADAMTS family (Canals *et al.* 2006; Esselens *et al.* 2010; Lopez-Otin and Overall, 2002). These types of degradomic approaches are highlighting that the ADAMTSs have functions beyond the current sub-group descriptors, which may be biologically relevant to breast cancer tumourigenesis and metastasis (Esselens *et al.* 2010; Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009).

Gene	Substrates
	Hyalectanases
ADAMTS-1	Aggrecan, Versican, Dystroglycan, Syndecan-4, TFPI-2, Semaphorin 3C, Nidogen-1, -2, Desmocollin-3, Mac-2, Gelatin (Collagen type I).
ADAMTS-4	Aggrecan, Versican, Neurocan, Biglycan, Brevican, Reelin, Matrilin-3, α2-Macroglobulin, COMP.
ADAMTS-5	Aggrecan, Versican, Biglycan, Brevican, Reelin, Matrilin-4, α2- Macroglobulin.
ADAMTS-8	Aggrecan.
ADAMTS-9	Aggrecan, Versican.
ADAMTS-15	Aggrecan, Versican.
ADAMTS-20	Versican.
	Pro-collagen peptidases
ADAMTS-2	Fibrillar pro-collagens type I-III and V.
ADAMTS-3	Fibrillar pro-collagen type II, Biglycan.
ADAMTS-14	Fibrillar pro-collagen type I (pN α 1 and pN α 2 chains).
	Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) proteinases
ADAMTS-7	COMP.
ADAMTS-12	COMP.
	von Willebrand factor (vWF) proteinase
ADAMTS-13	vWF.
	Orphan ADAMTSs
ADAMTS-6	-
ADAMTS-10	Fibrillin-1.
ADAMTS-16	-
ADAMTS-18	-
ADAMTS-17	-
ADAMTS-19	-

 Table 1.3: Known ADAMTS substrates. Adapted from Kelwick and Edwards, 2014
1.6.1 Pro-collagen peptidases (ADAMTS-2, -3 and -14)

Ehler-Danlos syndrome (EDS) type VIIc is an autosomal recessive disorder caused by a reduction in the cleavage and maturation of pro-collagen N-propeptides (Colige et al. 2004). Maturation of collagen fibrils is essential to ensure their tensile strength and to ensure that appropriate tissue morphologies are formed (Cabral et al. 2005; Colige et al. 2004). Patients with Ehler-Danlos syndrome (EDS) type VIIc present several phenotypes including severe skin fragility, depressed nasal bridges, micrognathia and short stature (Cabral et al. 2005; Colige et al. 2004). The major proteases involved in collagen fibril maturation have been identified as ADAMTS-2, -3 and -14 (Cabral et al. 2005; Cal et al. 2002; Colige et al. 2002; Colige et al. 2004; Colige et al. 2005; Fernandes et al. 2001). ADAMTS-2 can process the removal of the N-terminal pro-peptides from pro-collagen types I, II and III, whereas ADAMTS-3 is only associated with the processing of type II and ADAMTS-14 can process type I (pN α 1 and pN α 2). (Table 1.5; Cal *et al.* 2002; Cabral *et al.* 2005; Colige *et al.* 2002; Colige et al. 2004; Colige et al. 2005; Fernandes et al. 2001; Wang et al. 2006).

In the context of EDS type VIIc ADAMTS-2 is the most important pro-collagen peptidase. Several mutations in ADAMTS-2 have been described and are associated with EDS type VIIc (Colige *et al.* 2004). In addition to this ADAMTS-2 null mice demonstrate that ADAMTS-3 and -14 are not sufficient to compensate for the loss of ADAMTS-2 within the skin, though ADAMTS-3 and -14 may be physiologically important in other contexts such as cartilage (Colige *et al.* 2002; Fernandes *et al.* 2001; Li *et al.* 2001).

1.6.2 COMP proteinases (ADAMTS -7 and -12)

Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) is a non-collagenous component of cartilage formed from five ~110 kDa subunits, held together by disulphide bonds (Liu 2006a,2006b; Oldberg *et.* al 1992). COMP only accounts for around 1% of the weight of articular tissue, though interest in this glycoprotein has increased since the discovery that COMP degradation is common in post-traumatic and arthritic joints (Di Cesare, 1996; Liu *et al.* 2006a, 2006b; Lohmander, 1994). COMP fragments can be found at higher levels in rheumatoid and osteoarthritic cartilage and may serve as a useful biomarker (Di Cesare, 1996; Liu *et al.* 2006a, 2006b; Lohmander, 1994).

ADAMTS-12 has been reported as the major protease responsible for COMP degradation. Increased ADAMTS-12 expression is common in osteoarthritic joints, with reports also showing that ADAMTS-12 is capable of binding to and proteolytically degrading COMP (Liu *et al.* 2006a, 2006b). ADAMTS-12 is not the only known protease that is able to degrade COMP. ADAMTS-7 which shares the same general structure as ADAMTS-12 is also able to degrade COMP (Figure 1.4; Liu *et al.* 2006a, 2006b). The binding of COMP to both ADAMTS-7 or-12 involves an interaction between their four C-terminal TSRs and the EGF-like repeat domain found in COMP (Figure 1.4; Liu *et al.* 2006a, 2006b). COMP shares sequence homology with the Thrombospondins, which are known to reduce pathophysiological inflammatory and angiogenic processes in rheumatoid arthritis (Park *et al.* 2004). Therapeutic targeting of ADAMTS-7 and -12 may become of interest particularly if they are also shown to degrade the Thrombospondins.

1.6.3 vWF cleaving protease (ADAMTS-13)

The processing of Von-Willebrand Factor (vWF) proteins from large multimeric vWF precursor proteins into smaller cleaved vWF proteins is important to ensure proper blood coagulation (Dong *et al.* 2002; Fujikawa *et al.* 2001). This is apparent in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP), a thrombotic disorder in which ultra large (UL) vWF multimers coagulate with platelets that in combination ultimately occlude circulation (Dong *et al.* 2002; Fujikawa *et al.* 2001; Metcalf *et al.* 2008). Several studies have associated mutations in ADAMTS-13 with the inherited form of TTP. An analysis of a patient with TTP revealed the presence of a frameshift mutation (4143-4144InsA) in the *ADAMTS-13* to be expressed which lacked the final 49 amino acids in the second CUB domain (Pimanda, 2004).

Whilst ADAMTS-13 has been confirmed to be capable of processing von-Willebrand Factor (vWF) and ADAMTS-13 mutations are associated with TTP there are still some unanswered questions (Akiyama *et al.* 2009; Dong *et al.* 2002; Pimanda *et al.* 2004). When a mutant form of ADAMTS-13 (4143-4144InsA), which was discovered in a TTP patient, was expressed in COS-7 cells, ADAMTS-13 displayed normal vWF protease activity (Pimanda, 2004). In another study ADAMTS-13 deficient mice did not display any apparent thrombocytopenia, however there was evidence of the presence of unusually large vWF multimers (Banno *et al.* 2006). Taken together it is clear that ADAMTS-13 is a physiologically important vWF cleaving protease, though more research is needed to fully understand TTP (Banno *et al.* 2006; Pimanda, 2004).

1.6.4 Hyalectanases (ADAMTS-1, -4, -5, -8, -15, -9 and -20)

The Hyalectanases were originally termed the aggrecanase sub-group largely due to efforts from researchers that were interested in understanding aggrecan cleavage during osteoarthritis (OA) (Troeberg and Nagase, 2012). The proteoglycan aggrecan is a member of the hyalectans and is a major component of the extracellular matrix (Troeberg and Nagase, 2012). Aggrecan structure is augmented with several keratin sulphate (KS) and CS GAG chains (Figure 1.8). The propensity for these structural features to attract water, enables aggrecan to provide a swelling pressure that contributes to the load bearing properties of tissues such cartilage and tendon (Chandran and Horkay, 2012). In osteoarthritis (OA) aggrecan is progressively degraded and is lost from the cartilage (Echtermeyer *et al.* 2009; Fosang and Little, 2008; Jones and Riley, 2005; Kelwick and Edwards, 2014; Lin and Liu, 2010). For this reason the proteases responsible for aggrecanase activity became of interest to the arthritis field.

ADAMTS-4 (AKA aggrecanase-1) and in particular ADAMTS-5 (AKA aggrecanase-2) were identified as the major physiologically relevant aggrecanases in OA (Abbaszade *et al.* 1999; Arner *et al.* 1999; Fosang and Little, 2008; Song *et al.* 2007; Troeberg and Hideaki Nagase 2012). ADAMTS - 1, -8 and -15 display negligible expression in osteoarthritic and normal cartilage (Kevorkian *et al.* 2004; Naito *et al.* 2007). Subsequent studies have identified at least limited aggrecanase activity amongst ADAMTS-1, -8, -9, and -15, though their physiological importance as aggrecanases is perhaps not related to cartilage (Collins-Racie *et al.* 2004; Kelwick and Edwards, 2014; Kuno *et al.* 2000; Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2002; Somerville *et al.* 2003; Yamaji *et al.*

2000). For instance an ADAMTS-1 knock-out mouse model showed that ADAMTS-1 is an important aggrecanase in the developing kidney (Lee *et al.* 2005).

Because the aggrecanases can also cleave other hyalectans including versican, brevican and neurocan it has been argued that it is more appropriate for this sub-group to be termed the hyalectanases (Table 1.3; Figure 1.7; Kelwick and Edwards, 2014; Kuno et al. 2000; Stanton et al. 2011; Stupka et al. 2013; Tauchi et al. 2012; Zeng et al. 2006). Versican cleavage can be carried out by several hyalectanases including ADAMTS-1, -4, -5, -9, -15 and -20 (Figure 1.6; Table 1.5; Kintakas and McCulloch 2011; Russell et al. 2003; Sandy et al. 2001; Somerville et al. 2003; Stupka et al. 2013). Versican-null mice die during development primarily due to cardiac defects, though defects in versican expression or cleavage can affect limb morphogenesis, palate formation, melanoblast development and myogenesis (Dupuis et al. 2011; Kern et al. 2010; McCulloch et al. 2009; Mjaatvedt et al. 1998; Silver et al. 2008; Stupka et al. 2013). The cleavage of versican is critical during developmental processes for several reasons. Versican rich matrices provide a temporary structural support which must be removed during morphogenesis and the cleavage of versican can release versican fragments that are bioactive (McCulloch et al. 2009; Stupka et al. 2013). In combination these two mechanisms can influence tissue architecture, cell adhesion, migration and proliferation (Dupuis et al. 2011; Kern et al. 2010; McCulloch et al. 2009; Mjaatvedt et al. 1998; Silver et al. 2008; Stupka et al. 2013).



Figure 1.8: Aggrecan and Versican. The figure shows a schematic of the major structural features of Aggrecan and Versican. This figure is based upon Kelwick and Edwards, 2014; Stanton *et al.* 2011; Stupka *et al.* 2013; Wight, 2002.

ADAMTS-15 along with ADAMTS-5 are emerging as important versicanases within the context of muscle development (Stupka et al. 2013). Several hyalectanases (ADAMTS-1, -4, -5 and -15) are expressed in developing embryonic muscle and in an in vitro myogenesis model which utilises differentiating C2C12 cells (Stupka et al. 2013). Knockdown of ADAMTS-5 in differentiating C2C12 myoblasts impaired their ability to fuse together to form multinucleated myotubes (Stupka et al. 2013). For myoblast fusion to occur versican must be cleared from the pericellular matrix to allow the myoblasts to make direct cell-cell contact and subsequent fusion (Stupka et al. 2013). This phenotype was rescued through the addition of catalytically active forms of ADAMTS-5 or ADAMTS-15, highlighting these hyalectanases as important versicanases within this process (Stupka et al. 2013). In other studies involving either the combinatorial knockout of ADAMTS-4 and -5 or a combinatorial deletion of ADAMTS-5, -9 and -20 there were no signs of significant skeletal muscle myopathy (Rogerson et al. 2008; Stupka et al. 2013). It has been suggested that the lack of any skeletal muscle myopathy in these knock-out mice was due to functional compensation from ADAMTS-15 (Rogerson et al. 2008; Stupka et al. 2013). Ultimately it may be therapeutically useful to know the expression of ADAMTS-15 in patients which might be treated with ADAMTS-5 proteolytic inhibitors, such as those with arthritis. Whilst inhibition of ADAMTS-5 proteolytic activity might be therapeutically beneficial in terms of reducing aggrecan loss in OA, loss of ADAMTS-5 versicanase activity without compensation from ADAMTS-15 may lead to detrimental muscle wasting and/or impaired regeneration (Cudic et al. 2005; Rogerson et al. 2008; Stupka et al. 2013; Vankemmelbeke et al. 2003).

The hyalectanases have also been noted for their ability to modulate angiogenic processes and are sometimes referred to as an angioinhibitory sub-group (Wagstaff *et al.* 2011). Several ADAMTSs, particularly the hyalectanases exert their pro and anti-tumorigenic effects through a regulation of angiogenesis.

1.7 ADAMTSs in cancer

The ADAMTSs influence an array of biological processes including tissue remodelling, cell migration, inflammation and angiogenesis (Esselens *et al.* 2010; Kelwick and Edwards, 2014; Porter *et al.* 2005; Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009; Wagstaff *et al.* 2011). During tumourigenesis and metastasis many of these processes are aberrantly regulated and emerge as the hallmarks of cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Therefore it is unsurprising that the expression profiles of the ADAMTSs show significant alterations in cancer. In breast cancer ADAMTS-1, -3, -5, -8, -9, -10 and -18 are all downregulated compared to normal tissue, whereas ADAMTS-4, -6 and -14 are up-regulated (Porter *et al.* 2004). Interestingly ADAMTS-15 expression is not significantly different between normal tissues and cancerous mammary tumours. However ADAMTS-15 expression does inversely correlate with tumour grade, with expression significantly reduced in grade III breast tumours compared to grade I or II tumours (Porter *et al.* 2004). ADAMTS-15 expression has also been shown to inversely correlate with tumour grade in colorectal cancer (Viloria *et al.* 2009).

The loss of expression of genes in a cancer context may be indicative of a tumour suppressive function (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). However determining whether an ADAMTS might be a tumour suppressor based upon expression level is complicated for several reasons. Firstly the pattern of

ADAMTS expression (down or up-regulated) can differ between cancer type and stage. For instance ADAMTS-1 expression is down-regulated in primary head and neck carcinomas, breast cancer and around 85% of colorectal cancer cell lines (Demircan *et al.* 2009; Lind *et al.* 2006; Porter *et al.* 2004). Yet in contrast to this ADAMTS-1 is up-regulated in metastatic head and neck carcinomas and also non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (Demircan *et al.* 2009; Rocks *et al.* 2006). Secondly the mechanism underpinning the inactivation of the ADAMTS differs, where some ADAMTSs are epigenetically silenced and others are inactivated by mutation (Table 1.4). For example whilst ADAMTS-15 is inactivated by mutation in colorectal cancer, in breast cancer ADAMTS-15 is epigenetically silenced (Table 1.4; Porter *et al.* 2005; Porter *et al.* 2009).

Epigenetically Silenced	Inactivated via Mutation	Unknown
ADAMTS-1(*)	ADAMTS-15(*)	ADAMTS-3
ADAMTS-8(*)		ADAMTS-5(*)
ADAMTS-9(*)		ADAMTS-10
ADAMTS-12		
ADAMTS-15(*)		
ADAMTS-18		

Table 1.4: Members of the ADAMTS family that are down-regulated in cancer. (*) denotes that these genes have also been shown to be up-regulated in some cancers. Table adapted from Dunn *et al.* 2006; Jungers *et al.* 2005; Kelwick and Edwards, 2014; Koo *et al.* 2010; Kutz *et al.* 2008; Li *et al.* 2009; Llamazares *et al.* 2007; Lopez-Otin and Matrisian, 2007; Porter *et al.* 2005; Porter *et al.* 2006; Viloria *et al.* 2009; Stanton *et al.* 2004.

These seemingly ambiguous patterns of ADAMTS expression in cancer are further confounded by the activities of the ADAMTSs which can be anti- or protumorigenic in a context dependent manner. These have been extensively covered in several reviews (Edwards *et al.* 2005; Kelwick and Edwards, 2014; Wagstaff *et al.* 2011), however an overview of ADAMTS-1 will be given since ADAMTS-1 is the archetype of these complexities (de Arao Tan, Ricciardelli, and Russell, 2013).

The catalytic activities of ADAMTS-1 have been shown to be pro-tumourigenic in several cancers. Expression of catalytically active ADAMTS-1 enhances the metastatic propensity of TA3 mammary carcinoma and Lewis Lung Carcinoma cells *in vivo* (Liu *et al.* 2006). In other contexts, including breast cancer, ADAMTS-1 shedding of syndecan 4 or semaphorin 3C enhances the migratory behaviour of cancer cell lines (Esselens *et al.* 2010; Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009).

Conversely ADAMTS-1 proteolytic activity can also be anti-metastatic. ADAMTS-1 proteolytic cleavage of thrombospondins -1 and -2 releases anti-angiogenic fragments (Lee *et al.* 2006). ADAMTS-1 also displays auto-catalytic behaviour, at a cleavage site within its own spacer region (Liu *et al.* 2006). This autocatalytic event releases N-terminal and C-terminal anti-metastatic fragments, that primarily act as anti-angiogenic factors (Liu *et al.* 2006). ADAMTS-1 can also elicit anti-tumorigenic effects in a metalloproteinase independent manner, through the binding of VEGF. The binding of VEGF sequesters both pro-angiogenic and pro-migratory signalling (Freitas *et al.* 2013; Luque *et al.* 2003).

1.8 Cell Migration

Cell migration is a highly dynamic and tightly regulated process which is critical to the development and function of living systems. Perturbations of these processes contribute to pathological forms of migration such as tumour cell invasion and metastasis. To this end an understanding of the processes and factors, which influence cell migration, may elucidate druggable targets that will inhibit metastasis.

Several migration types have been identified, and include mesenchymal and amoeboid forms (Ashby and Zijelstra, 2012; Even-Ram and Yamada, 2005; Germena and Hirsch, 2013; Holmes and Edelstein-Keshet, 2012; Petrie *et al.* 2012). These forms of single cell migration are occasionally controversial since invading 'mesenchymal-like' tumour cells may not need to release proteases in order to clear a path for migration if they adopt an ameboid configuration to squeeze through the ECM (Ashby and Zijelstra, 2012; Even-Ram and Yamada; 2005; Mierke *et al.* 2008). Cells can also collectively migrate as part of complex and highly dynamic multi-cellular structures (Friedl *et al.* 2012; Rørth, 2012). In the context of cancer, tumour cells may collectively invade and endothelial cells may collectively migrate to vascularise the tumour (Friedl and Wolf, 2003; Nguyen-Ngoc *et al.* 2012).

The factors which influence cell migration are varied and include those which are intrinsic (e.g. regulation of cytoskeleton, adhesion receptors, proteases), extrinsic (e.g. cell-cell interactions, soluble signalling factors) and matrix associated (e.g. composition, structure, stiffness) (Ashby and Zijelstra, 2012; Even-Ram and Yamada, 2005; Holmes and Edelstein-Keshet, 2012; Schiller *et*

al. 2013). Whilst the full complexities of cell migration processes have not yet been fully characterised a general model of the migration cycle is fairly well established.

1.8.1 Migration cycle

Cell migration is often conceptualised as a cyclical model in which four general stages occur, as summarised in Figure 1.9. Initially cells become polarised, in which a migration direction is determined. Cellular polarisation is primarily regulated by the Rho GTPase, Cdc42, which is active at the leading edge of a migrating cell (Mullins and Hansen, 2013; Petrie, Doyle and Yamada, 2009; Reymond et al. 2012). Cdc42 acts to localise and reorient the microtubuleorganising centre and the Golgi apparatus towards the leading edge (Hehnly et al. 2010; Raftopoulou and Hall, 2004; Ridley et al. 2003). The leading edge is visibly defined through the extension of the cell membrane either as 'finger like' filopodia or as 'broad ruffle like' lamellipodia projections (Mullins and Hansen, 2013; Raftopoulou and Hall, 2004; Ridley et al. 2003). These transient extensions are broadly driven by the forces elicited by the dynamic assembly and disassembly of actin bundles (actin polymerisation) (Carlsson, 2010; Mullins and Hansen, 2013). Actin polymerisation dynamics are themselves regulated by Cdc42 acting in co-operation with the Rho-GTPase, Rac1 (Bass et al. 2007; Choi et al. 2011; Keum et al. 2004; Riddley et al. 1992). However Cdc42 and Rac1 do not directly bind to actin bundles, instead they act via members of the WASp/SCAR/WAVE family of scaffold proteins (Mullins and Hansen, 2013; Raftopoulou and Hall, 2004; Ridley et al. 2003). Cdc42 acts via the direct activation of WASp (Lamalice, Le Boeuf and Huot, 2007; Raftopoulou and Hall, 2004; Rohatgi, Ho and Kirschner, 2000; Ridley et al. 2003). Rac1 on the other hand acts via an indirect pathway in that it activates members of the Scar/WAVE family of scaffold proteins via the Nck-adapter complex (Raftopoulou and Hall, 2004; Ridley *et al.* 2003; Rohatgi *et al.* 2001). Activated WASp/SCAR/WAVE proteins subsequently go on to activate the Arp2/3 complex, which initiate *de novo* actin polymerisation (Mullins and Hansen, 2013). Cdc42 regulated actin polymerisation tends to favour filopodia membrane protrusions, though Rac1 regulated actin polymerisation leads to the formation of lamellipodia (Mullins and Hansen, 2013; Ridley *et al.* 2003).

Cdc42 and in particular Rac1 also signal to recruit transient adhesion complexes (Mullins and Hansen, 2013; Reymond *et al.* 2012; Ridley *et al.* 2003). Transient adhesion complexes include integrins and co-receptors such as syndecans (Beauvais and Rapraeger, 2004; Reymond *et al.* 2012; Schiller *et al.* 2013). These complexes maintain localised Rac1 and Cdc42 signalling at the leading edge and as a result assist in the stabilisation of the lamellipodia (Beauvais and Rapraeger, 2004; Petrie, Doyle and Yamada, 2009; Schiller *et al.* 2013). It is thought that these adhesion complexes also serve as regions in which cells can dynamically 'sample' the rigidity and composition of the extracellular matrix in order to seek out an optimal migration pathway (Beauvais and Rapraeger, 2004; Petrie, Doyle and Yamada, 2009; Schiller *et al.* 2013).

However in order to migrate, cells require a secure attachment site from which enough force can be generated to facilitate cell migration (Lui, Lee and Nelson, 2012; Lai, Hsieh and Chang, 2003). The GTPase RhoA induces the formation of stress fibres and stable focal adhesions that provide the cytoskeletal tension required for cell contractility (Brew *et al.* 2009; Mullins and Hansen, 2013; Tilghman *et al.* 2010). RhoA acts via several downstream effectors including the Rho-associated kinases, ROCK (Bhadriraju *et al.* 2007; Brew *et al.* 2009; Tilghman *et al.* 2010). Rock activated myosin II promotes the stabilisation of actin-myosin filament bundles which provide the cellular tension needed for cell contractility (Bhadriraju *et al.* 2007; Brew *et al.* 2009; Mullins and Hansen, 2013; Tilghman *et al.* 2010). Tension is transduced via mechanosensitive integrins which elicits further activation of RhoA (Ross *et al.* 2013; Schiller *et al.* 2013; Streuli and Akhtar, 2009). This positive feedback network increases focal adhesion size and induces the formation of stress fibres via increased RhoA activation of mDia (Doherty and McMahon, 2008; Ridley *et al.* 2003; Schiller *et al.* 2013; Spiering and Hodgson, 2011). Thus RhoA signalling acts synergistically to alter cytoskeletal dynamics in order to generate the contractile forces needed for cell migration.

The force of cell migration is largely transmitted to the leading and trailing edges of the cell (Beningo *et al.* 2001; Holmes and Edelstein, 2012; Mierke *et al.* 2008; Ridley *et al.* 2003). In response, adhesion complexes must be temporally coordinated to disassemble at both edges of the cell. At the leading edge cell adhesion complexes must disassemble and then reform as the cell membrane rolls forward (tread milling effect) (Carlsson, 2010; Friedl and Wolf, 2003) Germena and Hirsch, 2013; Ridley *et al.* 2003). These newly formed adhesion complexes reinforce Cdc42 and Rac1 signalling at the leading edge (Friedl and Wolf, 2003; Ridley *et al.* 2003). Rac1 and RhoA are mutual inhibitors of their activities (Caswell, Vadrevu and Norman, 2009; Germena and Hirsch, 2013; Ridley *et al.* 2003). As a consequence Rac1 activity is restricted to the leading edge and RhoA activity is highest at the periphery and trailing edges (Bass *et*

al. 2007; Friedl and Wolf, 2003; Ridley *et al.* 2003). This maintains migration polarity whilst also serving to co-ordinate the detachment of adhesion complexes at the trailing edge, which is a RhoA and myosin-dependent process (Schiller *et al.* 2013; Terry *et al.* 2012). However it should be noted that multiple signalling pathways are also implicated in focal adhesion turnover such as focal adhesion kinase (FAK), ERK and Src (Bass *et al.* 2007; Beningo *et al.* 2001; Ross *et al.* 2012; Streuli and Akhtar, 2009).

RhoA also stabilises microtubules at the trailing edge (Fonseca *et al.* 2010; Fonseca and Corbeil, 2011; Heck *et al.* 2012). As noted earlier Cdc42 and Rac1 also regulate microtubule dynamics, such that Cdc42 orientates microtubules towards the direction of migration and Rac1 enables the elongation of microtubules into the newly forming lamellipodia (Hehnly *et al.* 2010). In coordination these GTPases provide a platform from which adhesion receptor complexes can be recycled and transported along the microtubules towards the leading edge (Caswell, Vadrevu and Norman, 2009). Thus the migration cycle comes full circle.



Figure 1.9: Cell migration cycle. The 4 main stages of the cell migration cycle are depicted alongside several key signalling pathways. Cells may become polarised in response to a pro-migratory stimulus such as a chemo-attractant gradient or matrix topology (stiffness etc.) (1) Polarisation of the cell and the formation of lamellipodia from which a migration direction is established. (2) The formation of more stable focal adhesion sites and stress fibres that enable the cell to generate enough force to (3) contract. (4) The rear of the cell is released and migration signalling complexes are reorganised around the newly formed leading edge. This figure is based upon information from Lamalice, Le Boeuf and Huot, 2007.

1.8.2 Integrins and cell migration

Integrins are the principal family of cell adhesion receptors in vertebrates (Humphries *et al.* 2006; Hynes, 2002; Hynes, 1987). Integrins form into one of 24 known mammalian heterodimers that consist of an α and a β subunit (Figure 1.10; Humphries *et al.* 2006; Hynes, 2002). Integrin heterodimers, span the cell membrane such that their ectodomains directly bind to the matrix and their intracellular domains directly interact with the cytoskeleton and the cell signalling machinery, including: Rac1, RhoA and Cdc42 (Figure 1.10, 1.11; Beauvais and Rapraeger, 2004; Beningo *et al.* 2001; Schiller *et al.* 2013; Wertheimer *et al.* 2012). Ligand binding is thought to cause a conformational change in integrin structure, which subsequently alters the propensity for membrane receptors and intracellular signalling proteins to form signalling clusters around activated integrins (Campbell and Humphries, 2011). Thus integrins are able to modify cellular behaviour through direct 'outside-in' signalling pathways.

Within the context of cell migration, integrins play several important roles that have been extensively reviewed, but are not yet fully understood (Huttenlocher and Horwitz, 2011; Hynes, 2002; Plotnikov and Waterman, 2013). Principally, integrins enable cells to adhere to the extracellular matrix and thus are a major component of the adhesive structures required to generate the traction needed for cell migration (Huttenlocher and Horwitz, 2011; Plotnikov and Waterman, 2013). Additionally, integrin heterodimers are matrix-ligand specific, thus a layer of specificity is added to these interactions, which provide context to the regulation of downstream signalling (Table 1.5; Caswell *et al.* 2009; Humphries *et al.* 2006; Hynes, 2002; Streuli and Akhtar, 2009).

Matrix	Integrin heterodimers	
component		
Collagen	α10β1, α2β1, α1β1, α11β1	
Laminin	α3β1, α6β1, α6β4, α7β1, α1β1, α2β1, α10β1	
Fibronectin	αVβ3, αVβ6, αVβ1, α5β1, α8β1	

Table 1.5: Integrin heterodimers that bind to major components of the extracellular matrix. This table is based upon Humphries, Byron and Humphries, 2006.

Due to the specificity of integrin-ligand binding, changes in the expression of integrins can drastically alter the adhesive, migratory and/or invasive capacity of a cell. For instance, an increase in the expression of integrin α6β4 is generally associated with an increase in the invasive capacity of breast tumour cells (Chen *et al.* 2008; Gabarra *et al.* 2010; Gordon *et al.* 2003). Yet interestingly, it is generally understood that overexpression of integrins may ultimately inhibit cell migration, since cells may become 'anchored' to the matrix (Huttenlocher and Horwitz, 2011). Therefore, a balance in the expression and turnover of integrins is required to ensure persistent cell migration (Huttenlocher and Horwitz, 2011). Indeed, integrin-containing adhesion complexes, of which focal adhesions are the most characterized, are largely transient (Beauvais and Rapraeger, 2004; Petrie, Doyle and Yamada, 2009; Schiller *et al.* 2013). The transient nature of focal adhesion complexes is also of paramount importance because they are sites at which cells can dynamically enact integrin-mediated sampling of the rigidity and composition of the ECM (Beauvais and Rapraeger,

2004; Petrie, Doyle and Yamada, 2009; Schiller *et al.* 2013). Integrin signalling is co-ordinated with an array of signaling and adhesion receptors, such as the syndecans, that together influence cell adhesion and migration pathways (Beauvais and Rapraeger, 2004; Huttenlocher and Horwitz, 2011; Plotnikov and Waterman, 2013).



Figure 1.10: Typical integrin structure. (A) The schematic displays a typical integrin heterodimer. **(B)** The schematic displays the structure of a typical integrin as it sits within the membrane. Adated from Barczyk *et al.* 2010.

1.8.3 Syndecans and cell migration

The syndecans are a family of four heparan sulfate proteoglycans that sit within the cell membrane as type I transmembrane receptors (Choi *et al.* 2011). Syndecans are functionally diverse and have been shown to partake in the regulation of cell adhesion and migration signalling (Choi *et al.* 2011; Couchman and Woods, 1999; Morgan *et al.*, 2007). There seems to be an intimate connection between the syndecans and the ADAMTSs, which co-ordinate with other metalloproteinases to regulate cell-ECM interactions. In transfected human chondrosarcoma cells, the MMP-17 processed form of ADAMTS-4, termed p53, directly associates with syndecan-1 (Gao *et al.* 2004). Since ADAMTS-4 does not undergo autolytic processing within this context it is possible that the association of ADAMTS-4 within the MMP:ADAMTS:syndecan complex favours proteolytic processing, rather than autolytic processing. (Gao *et al.* 2004). This is functionally important since proteolytic and autolytic processing can alter ADAMTS localisation, substrate preferences and proteolytic activity.

In the case of ADAMTS-5, its association with syndecan-4 within an osteoarthritic context enhances ADAMTS-5 aggrecanase activity (Echtermeyer, *et al.* 2009). Syndecan-4 enhances ADAMTS-5 aggrecanase activity in part through their direct interaction and also through the syndecan-4 enhanced expression of matrix metalloproteinase-3 (MMP-3) (Echtermeyer, *et al.* 2009). Thus these complexes may serve as a regulatory mechanism from which to modulate the activities of secreted ADAMTSs.

Metalloproteinases can also feedback into these complexes since it has been demonstrated that TIMP-3 responsive metalloproteinases are responsible for the shedding of syndecan-1 and -4 (Fitzgerald *et al.* 2000). More specifically ADAMTS-1, and -4 are major syndecan-4 ectodomain sheddases and MMP-7, and MT1-MMP are major syndecan-1 sheddases (Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009). MMP-9 and ADAM-17 may also shed syndecan -1 and -4 in some contexts (Brule *et al.* 2006; Pruessmeyer *et al.* 2010). Critically these shedding activities have functional consequences, particularly with regards to the regulation of cell adhesion and migration (Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009).

Syndecan-4 can mediate cell adhesion to fibronectin either directly or as a coreceptor with Integrin $\alpha 5\beta 1$ as part of a focal adhesion complex (Figure 1.11; Choi et al. 2011; Rodríguez-Manzanegue et al. 2009). Upon engagement with fibronectin, the cytoplasmic domain of syndecan-4 recruits, stabilises and activates PKC α at the plasma membrane (Keum *et al.* 2004; Woods and Couchman, 1997). Subsequent downstream Rac1 signalling is thus localised in a PKC α -dependent manner to a region of the cell in which syndecan-4 and other co-receptors are engaged with the extracellular matrix (Bass et al. 2007; Bass, Morgan and Humphries, 2007). Rac1 activity promotes the spreading and ruffling of the cell membrane into actin-rich lamellipodia (Riddley et al. 1992). PKC α also activates RhoA signalling which is required to generate stable focal adhesion complexes (Avalos et al. 2009; Brew et al. 2009; Car et al. 2013) In combination these structures provide a leading edge from which cell polarity and a stable migration direction can be established (Bass et al. 2007; Choi et al. 2011; Keum et al. 2004; Riddley et al. 1992). Thus syndecan-4 promotes persistent migration (directionality) by maintaining Rac1 localisation at the leading edge (Bass *et al.* 2007). ADAMTS-1 shedding of syndecan-4 from the cell surface results in a functional loss of cell adhesion and promotes a promigratory phenotype with a concomitant loss of directionality (Bass *et al.* 2007; Choi *et al.* 2011; Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009). Shedding of syndecan-4 also results in a functional loss of cell adhesion and an altered cytoskeletal topology, such that actin stress fibres are redistributed to the periphery (Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009). Therefore it is likely that the ADAMTSs are functionally linked with the syndecans within the context of regulating the ability of a cell to adhere and migrate in response to a highly dynamic ECM.



Figure 1.11: Syndecan-4 in co-operation with α 5 β 1 provides a mechanical link between the extracellular matrix and the actin cytoskeleton. An adapted version of the figure from Beauvais and Rapraeger, 2004. © 2004 Beauvais and Rapraeger; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article: verbatim copying and redistribution of this article are permitted in all media for any purpose, provided this notice is preserved along with the article's original URL: http://www.rbej.com/content/2/1/3

1.9 Project hypothesis and thesis aims

Hypothesis: ADAMTS-15 is a tumour suppressor gene within the context of breast cancer.

An array of *in vitro* and *in vivo* approaches will be utilised to determine the functional consequences of the expression of ADAMTS-15 within the context of breast cancer disease progression.

- Characterisation of appropriate myoepithelial and epithelial breast cancer cell lines to establish *in vitro* models for the investigation of ADAMTS-15 in breast cancer.
- Investigate the effects of ADAMTS-15 expression on breast cancer cell behaviour in an array of *in vitro* cell assays, including: aggrecanase, proliferation, adhesion and migration assays.
 - Determine the mechanism(s) underpinning any observed
 ADAMTS-15 tumour suppressive effects.
 - Discern whether ADAMTS-15 metalloproteinase activity is required for the tumour suppressive actions of ADAMTS-15 in breast cancer.
- 3. Determine if ADAMTS-15 modulates angiogenic processes.
- Investigate the consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression on *in vivo* tumour development and metastasis.

Chapter Two: Materials and Methods

2.1 Buffers

Buffer	Contents
Aggrecanase Assay Buffer	50mM Tris-HCI (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl; 10mM CaCl ₂ ; 0.05% (v/v) Brij-35
Blocking / Antibody Buffer	5% (w/v) half-fat milk or 5% (w/v) BSA in PBS (or TBS) with or without 0.02% (v/v) Tween-20
Coating Buffer	0.1M NaCO _{3,} (pH 9.6)
Coomassie Blue	45% (v/v) methanol, 10% (v/v) glacial acetic acid, 0.25% (w/v) Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 (Fluka), dH_2O
Coomassie Blue (De-stain)	20% (v/v) methanol, 5% (v/v) glacial acetic acid, 75% (v/v) dH ₂ O.
Lysis Buffer	50mM Tris-HEPES pH 7.8, 150mM NaCl and 1% (v/v) Triton X-100 detergent supplemented with protease inhibitor (Roche, Hertfordshire, UK; #11836170001)
Methylene Blue	1% (w/v) Methylene Blue, 10mM borate buffer (pH8.5), 50% (v/v) Methanol.
Methylene Blue (De-stain)	50% Ethanol, 50% 0.1M HCl
PBS (1x)	Dissolve in 1 litre of dH_2O : 8g of NaCl, 0.2g of KCl, 1.15g of Na ₂ HPO ₄ , 0.2g of KH ₂ PO ₄ , (pH 7.4)
Ponceau S Stain	5% (w/v) Acetic acid, 0.1% (w/v) Ponceau S in dH_20
TAE (Tris/Acetate/EDTA)	50x Stock: 2M Tris-HCl, 1M glacial acetic acid, 100ml 0.5M EDTA, made up to 1L with dH_2O .
	TAE (1x): 1:50 dilution of stock in dH_2O .
Tris-buffered saline (TBS) (1x)	50mM Tris-Cl (pH 7.5), 150mM NaCl
trypsin-EDTA (TE)	10mM Tris-HCI, 1mM EDTA, (pH 8.0)

Washing Buffer	1x PBS,	0.1% (v/v) T	ween	-20	
Western Blotting Sample Buffer	125mM	TRIS-HCI,	5%	SDS,	15%
	Glycerol, Bromophenol Blue, (pH 6.8)		6.8)		

Table 2.1: List of buffers and their contents

2.2 Reagents

Reagent	Description	Catalogue No.
ADAMTS-15 siRNA	ON-TARGET plus	Thermo scientific
		#L-005766-00-0005
BCA	BCA protein assay kit	Thermo scientific #PN23227
Collagen Type I	Rat tail type I, sterile	First Link UK Ltd.
	solution roomi for gels.	#60-30-810
Collagen Type I	Collagen, Type I solution from rat tail.	Sigma #C3867
Control siRNA	ON-TARGET plus Non-	Thermo scientific
		#D-001810-01-05
ECL	Pierce ECL WB Substrate	Thermo scientific #32106
EGF	epidermal growth factor 1mg	Sigma #E4127
FGF-2	Basic fibroblast growth factor	PeproTech
Fibronectin	Fibronectin from bovine plasma	Sigma #F1141
HyClone Water	HyPure Cell Culture Grade Water	Thermo Scientific #SH30529.02
Insulin	insulin 10mg	Sigma #10516
Laminin	Laminin from human	Sigma Aldrich
		#L62745MG
LipoD293	DNA In Vitro Transfection Reagent	SignaGen Laboratories #SL100668
Lipofectamine	RNAiMAX Reagent	Life technologies #13778-100
Matrigel	BD Matrigel Basement membrane Matrix	BD Biosciences #356234
Milk	Blotting grade milk	Bio Rad #170-6404

ММ	TaqMan master mix universal 5x5ml	Applied Biosystems #4440048
NEAA	Non-essential amino acids	Sigma #M7145
Oligofectamine	Transfection reagent	Life technologies #12252-011
ΟΡΤΙΜΕΜ	with Glutamax	Life technologies #51985
ProtoGel	Acrylamide 30% w/v stock solution 37.5:1	National Diagnostics #EC-890
RNAzol	RNAzol B	Amsbio #CS105B
ROCK inhibitor	Y-27632	Sigma #Y0503-1MG
Sodium Pyruvate	TC supplement	Sigma #S8636
SuperScript II	Reverse Transcription	Life technologies #18064-022
Syndecan-4 siRNA	ON-TARGET plus	Thermo scientific
		#L-003706-00-0005
Tween-20	Tween 20 sigma ultra	Sigma #P7949-500ML
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor	PeproTech
Phalloidin	Alexa Fluor 568 Phalloidin	Life technologies #A12380
SV Total RNA Isolation Kit	RNA extraction kit.	Promega #Z3105

Table 2.2: List of experimental reagents

2.3 Cell culture

Cells were generally cultured at 37° C and 5% CO₂ in T75 tissue culture flasks (Nunc) containing 12ml of culture media as described below. Cells were passaged upon reaching 80% confluency and were routinely tested for mycoplasma. Cell lines were also validated via 'SNP barcodes' (Demichelis *et al.* 2008) to confirm that the correct cell types were being used.

Cell Line	Description	Culture Media
MDA-MB-231	Epithelial (more mesenchymal-like) human breast adenocarcinoma with an invasive phenotype	DMEM (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK, #21885) supplemented with 10% FCS and non-essential amino acids.
	(Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004).	
MDA-MB-231 EV / TS15 / E362A	MDA-MB-231 cells constitutively expressing empty vector (EV), wild type ADAMTS-15 (TS15) or metalloproteinase inactive ADAMTS-15 (E362A).	As above plus selection antibiotic G418 (500µg/ml of culture media).
MCF7	Epithelial-like human breast adenocarcinoma (Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004)	DMEM (Invitrogen #21885) supplemented with 10% FCS and non- essential amino acids.
MCF7 EV / TS15 / E362A	MCF7 cells constitutively expressing empty vector (EV), wild type ADAMTS- 15 (TS15) or metalloproteinase inactive ADAMTS-15 (E362A).	As above plus selection antibiotic G418 (400µg/ml of culture media).
HCT-116	Epithelial -like human colorectal carcinoma (Viloria <i>et al.</i> 2009).	McCoy's 5A (Invitrogen #36600-021) + 10% FCS
1089-β4 / 1089-β6	Myoepithelial –like (Jones <i>et al.</i> 2009)	Ham's F12 Plus media (Sigma #N4888) with 10% FCS, L-Glutamine (2mM), Hydrocortisone (1µg/ml), insulin (1µg/ml) and EGF (100µg/ml).
HUVEC (Primary Cells)	Primary human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) (Cooley <i>et al.</i> 2010).	Large Vessel Endothelial Cell Basal Medium (TCS Cell Works #ZHM-2951) +2% FCS

Table 2.3: Cells and culture conditions.

2.4 ADAMTS-15 constructs

To investigate the role of ADAMTS-15 in *in vitro* models of breast cancer several ADAMTS-15 constructs were generated by Dr. Laura Wagstaff. In addition to full length ADAMTS-15, a metalloproteinase inactive form of ADAMTS-15 (E362A) and several truncated ADAMTS-15 constructs (ΔA , ΔB , and ΔC) which lack C-terminal domains were also generated. These constructs were PCR cloned into pcDNA 3.2 plasmid (Invitrogen #K2440-20). A FLAG tag was also cloned in-frame into the C-terminal sequence of all ADAMTS-15 constructs to enable purification and detection of ADAMTS-15 protein.



Figure 2.1: ADAMTS-15 constructs and pcDNA3.2 plasmid map. In total six constructs were generated: *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 (TS15), a metalloproteinase inactive form of ADAMTS-15 (E362A) and three truncation constructs (ΔA , B, C) that lack the c-terminal domains to the right of the indicated blue line. A FLAG tag was cloned in frame into the C-terminal sequence of all ADAMTS-15 constructs to enable purification and detection of ADAMTS-15 protein.

2.4.1 Constitutive expression

ADAMTS-15 constructs were established in several breast cancer cell lines; MDA-MB-231 cells and MCF-7 cells. The constructs were cloned into the pcDNA3.2 backbone and were transfected according to manufacturer's guidelines (Invitrogen #12489-019) into the cell lines for stable constitutive expression by Dr. Laura Wagstaff. Polyclonal pools were used in all experiments and antibiotic selection (G418) was utilised to select for overexpressing cells.

2.5 Cell growth assay

MDA-MB-231 EV / TS15 / E362A cells were seeded into 24 well plates at a density of 10,000 cells / well in 1ml of serum containing media. Cells were left overnight at 37°C / 5% CO₂ to adhere. The next day the wells were washed with DPBS and changed to either 1ml of serum containing media (10% FCS) or 1ml of serum free media (0% FCS). At days 2, 3 and 4 post seeding cells were trypsinised, suspended and counted using a haemocytometer to determine total cell number. Four wells were counted for each cell line at each time point. The data was averaged to determine cell growth curves.

2.6 Cell viability: MTT assay

The MTT 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) assay was utilised to determine cell viability (van Meerloo *et al.* 2011). Cells were seeded into 96 well plates and cultured for three days. MTT treated cells (0.5mg/ml final concentration) were cultured for 4 hours at 37°C before Absorbance of the DMSO solubilised formazan product was measured at 550nm with a plate reader (ThermoMAX, Molecular Device). Cell number was

optimised for each cell line used and wells containing MTT substrate only were used as a negative (background signal) control.

2.7 Aggrecanase assay

ADAMTS-15 and E362A were partially purified from serum-free conditioned media of heparan-treated (100 µg/ml) MDA-MB-231 TS15 and E362A cultures by affinity chromatography on anti-FLAG Sepharose. Bovine Aggrecan (0.5 mg/ml) was incubated with either purified ADAMTS-5 (2nM; domain deletion mutant consisting of catalytic, disintegrin and thrombospondin 1 domains), ADAMTS-15 (~0.6 nM) or E362A mutant ADAMTS-15 (~0.6 nM) in 700µl of aggrecanase assay buffer (Table 2.1) with or without N-TIMP-3 (200 nM) for the indicated time at 37 °C. Assay samples were de-glycosylated using chondroitinase ABC and keratanase (each 0.01 U / 10 µg of aggrecan) at 37°C overnight as previously described (Kashiwagi *et al.* 2004). De-glycosylated samples were analysed by SDS PAGE and western blotted using aggrecan neo-epitope antibody (anti-AGEG), which recognizes the N-terminal AGEG generated by aggrecanase cleavage of bovine aggrecan at Glu1771-Ala1772 (Troeberg *et al.* 2008).

2.8 Plasmid DNA transient transfection

Cells were seeded into tissue culture treated 6 well plates and grown to 90% confluency. LipoD293 transfection reagent was utilised in all plasmid DNA transient transfection experiments. Transfection mixes containing 50µl serum free media and 3µl LipoD293 and DNA mixes containing 50µl serum free DMEM and 1µg plasmid DNA for each well were prepared. Transfection and DNA mixes were pipetted into the same tube and then mixed by tapping the

tube. The transfection/DNA mix was incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature. During the incubation steps cells were washed twice with DPBS and 900µl serum free media. 100µl transfection/DNA mix was added to each well. Media was replaced 6 hours post transfection with either 1ml serum free media or 1ml serum containing media.

2.9 siRNA transfection

MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded into 6 well plates at a density of 200,000 cells / well in 1ml of serum containing media. Cells were left overnight to adhere at 37°C / 5% CO₂. The next day media was removed from each well and then washed with OPTIMEM. 800µl of OPTIMEM was then added to each well. Transfection master mixes were then created containing 5µl Oligofectamine, 194µl OPTIMEM and 1µl ADAMTS-15 siRNA (10nM final concentration) per well. 200µl of transfection master mix was added to relevant wells. At 4 hours post siRNA transfection 500µl / well of serum containing media was added.

2.10 Adhesion assay

Tissue culture treated 96 well plates were coated with either Collagen type I, Laminin or Fibronectin at a final concentration of 5µg/ml. Matrix components were diluted to the final concentration in coating buffer (Table 2.1) and left overnight at 4°C.

Matrix coated wells were then washed twice with DPBS (1x) and blocked in 1% bovine serum albumin/DPBS (w/v) for 30 min at 37°C. MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded at a density of 60,000 cells / well and MCF7 cells were seeded at a density of 100,000 cells / well in 100µl of serum free DMEM.

Seeded plates were spun at 193 x g for 1 min and then incubated for 30 min at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Media was aspirated off and wells were carefully washed with 100µl DPBS to remove any non-adherent cells. Adhered cells were fixed and stained for 30 minutes at room temperature with a Methanol/Methylene Blue solution (Table 2.1). Plates were rinsed with dH₂O and then 100µl Methylene Blue de-stain (Table 2.1) was added to each well. 10 minutes post-addition of de-stain, plates were read in a micro-plate reader (ThermoMAX, Molecular Device). The absorbance of stained adhered cells was determined at 630 nm. These assays are based upon Oliver *et al.* 1989.

2.11 2D Cell migration assays

MDA-MB-231 or MCF7 cells were seeded into 24 well plates at a density of 10,000 cells/well with serum containing media and left overnight to adhere at $37^{\circ}C$ / 5% CO₂. Then each well was washed with DPBS and replaced with 1ml serum free media. For some assays cells were treated with EGF (0-100 ng/ml), Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) (0-100nM) or bis-indolylmaleimide I (BIM I) (0-1 μ M). 2D cell migration was analysed as described in section 2.11.4. 2D cell migration assay methods reviewed by Ashby and Zijlstra, 2012.

2.11.1 Matrix migration assay

Tissue culture treated 24 well plates were coated with either Collagen type I, Laminin or Fibronectin at a final concentration of 5µg/ml. Matrix components were diluted to the final concentration in coating buffer (Table 2.1) and left overnight at 4°C. Matrix coated wells were then washed with DPBS (1x) and blocked in 1% bovine serum albumin/DPBS (w/v) for 30 min at 37°C. Wells were washed again with DPBS and 10,000 MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded in1ml of serum free media per well. Seeded plates were spun down in a centrifuge at 193 x g for 1 minute. Time-lapse microscopy 2D Migration was tracked as described in section 2.11.4.

Time-lapse images, taken at 4 hours post seeding were also utilised to determine cell spreading on each matrix. The polygon tool in Image J (http://rsbweb.nih.gov/ij/) was utilised to determine the spreading area (pixel area) of individual cells.

2.11.2 Conditioned matrix assay

100,000 MDA-MB-231 EV / TS15 / E362A cells were seeded into 12 well plates with serum containing media and were cultured for 3 days to reach 100% confluency. Wells were washed with DPBS and cells were removed with EDTA/EGTA (5mM) to preserve the underlying conditioned matrices. 20,000 MDA-MB-231 naïve EV cells were then seeded onto each conditioned matrix and migration was tracked via time-lapse microscopy for 24 hours.

2.11.3 siRNA treated migration assay

MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded into 6 well plates at a density of 25,000 cells / well in 1ml of serum containing media. Cells were left overnight to adhere at 37° C / 5% CO₂. The next day media was removed from each well and then washed with OPTIMEM. 800µl of OPTIMEM was then added to each well. Transfection master mixes were then created containing 5µl Oligofectamine (Invitrogen #12252-011), 194µl OPTIMEM and 1µl siRNA (10nM final concentration) per well. 200µl of transfection master mix was added to relevant wells. At 4 hours post siRNA transfection 500µl / well of serum containing media

was added immediately prior to the start of time-lapse microscopy. 2D Migration was tracked as described below.

2.11.4 Time-lapse microscopy and analysis

2D and 3D migration was tracked with a Zeiss Inverted CCD microscope at 10x magnification and phase contrast illumination. Images were automatically taken every 10min for 24 hours to create time-lapse microscopy videos. Image J and two plugins (Manual Tracking and Chemotaxis Migration Tool) were utilised to manually track individual cells in order to determine average cell velocity (µm/min) and cell directionality.

2.12 3D migration assay

MDA-MB-231EV / TS15 / E362A cells were seeded into 12 well plates at a density of 87,500 cells / well. The cells were seeded within 150 μ l / well of Matrigel or Collagen I. Gels were set for 30 min at 37°C. Once gels were set 250 μ l serum free media was added per well. The plates were incubated for an additional 60 min at 37°C / 5% CO₂ to allow cells to adhere. Migration was tracked as described above, except multiple Z planes for each XY position were also tracked.

2.13 Scratch assay

MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded at high density (450,000 cells / well) into 12 well plates with 1ml serum containing media and left overnight to adhere. The next day scratches were generated with a pipette tip. Wells were then washed with 1ml DPBS before the addition of 1ml / well of serum containing media. Scratch recovery was tracked via time-lapse microscopy, with images automatically taken every 10min for 24 hours on a Zeiss Inverted CCD
microscope. Image J software was utilised to determine scratch wound closure (% of initial wound area that has recovered) at 12h and 24h post scratch. Assay reviewed in Ashby and Zijlstra, 2012.

2.14 RNA extraction

Cells were cultured to 80%-90% confluency in a T75 Flask. Media was removed; cells were washed twice with DPBS and then scrapped into 5ml DPBS using a cell scrapper (Fisher #FB55199). Cells were suspended into DPBS and then centrifuged in a 15ml tube (193 x g, 5min). PBS was removed and then the cell pellet washed in PBS. Cells were then centrifuged (193 x g, 5min); PBS removed and re-suspended in 1ml RNA BEE (Amsbio #CS105B). RNA was extracted using SV Total RNA Isolation Kit. A Nano-drop (NR-1000, Labtech) was utilised to determine sample RNA concentration. RNA absorbance was measured at 260nm and the absorbance ratios of 260nm/280nm (typically used to identify contaminants that absorb at 280nm, such as proteins or phenols) and 260nm/230nm (typically utilised to identify contaminants that absorb at 230nm, such as carbohydrates and phenols) were utilised to determine the purity of the RNA samples. RNA samples were stored at -80°C.

2.15 Reverse transcription

RNA samples were reverse transcribed to cDNA according to the Invitrogen superscript II protocol. Typically 1 μ g of RNA was reverse transcribed per reaction. RNase OUT Inhibitor (40 U/ μ I) was added into the reaction mix. Transcribed samples were stored at -20°C.

2.16 Quantitative real time PCR

To determine relative gene expression using mRNA, Quantitative Real Time PCR (qRT-PCR) was utilised. Primers and probes were designed to be specific for each gene. Reaction volumes were 20µl and contained 1-5ng of sample cDNA, 50% 2 x Fast master mix (v/v), 200 nM of primer and 100 nM of Universal Probe. Reaction cycles were programmed to follow: 2 minutes at 50°C, 10 minutes at 95°C then 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds / 60°C for 1 minute. Data was analysed using 7500 SDS Software (Applied Biosystems).

The Comparative CT method (Schmittgen and Livak, 2008) of relative quantitation was utilised to determine the results. All samples were normalised to 18S.

2.17 Collection of cell lysates

Cells were washed and scrapped into 5ml DPBS before being centrifuged at 2000 x g for five minutes. Cell pellets were lysed with lysis buffer (Table 2.1).

2.18 Collection of cell derived matrix

MDA-MB-231 EV / TS15 / E362A cells were seeded into 6-well tissue culture plates. Cells were cultured in 1ml serum free media/well until cell confluency reached 80%. The cell media was removed and then the cell layer was washed and detached with 1ml/well of 5mM EDTA / 5mM EGTA in DPBS. Matrices were scrapped into sample buffer and analysed via SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis and western blotting to detect ADAMTS-15.

2.19 TCA precipitation of conditioned media samples

MDA-MB-231 EV / TS15 / E362A cells cultured in 6-well tissue culture plates were grown to 80% confluency in 1ml of serum free media to generate conditioned media. Samples were stored at -20°C. To concentrate protein content, samples were precipitated with 10% (trichloroacetic acid) TCA/dH₂O (v/v) at a ratio of 1:3 (sample: 10%TCA) on ice for 4 minutes. Samples were then centrifuged at 10 000 g, for 4 minutes at 4°C. Pellets were washed twice with ice-cold acetone and centrifuged again at 10 000 g, for 4 minutes at 4°C. Supernatant was removed, pellets were then air dried and re-suspended in sample buffer (Table 2.1). Samples were then used for SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis and western blotting to detect ADAMTS-15.

2.20 Determination of total protein

The bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay was utilised to determine the total protein concentration of cell lysates. The assay was carried out according to manufacturers' guidelines. Protein samples were then analysed via SDS PAGE and Western Blot analysis.

2.21 SDS PAGE gel electrophoresis

Typically protein samples (30µg) in loading buffer were reduced with ßmercaptoethanol (β -ME) and loaded into 10% Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide (SDS) gels as described according to Cleveland *et al.* 1977. Protein samples were separated for one hour at 200v, alongside a protein molecular mass marker (dual colour).

2.22 Antibodies

Target / Description	Species / Application	Company	Dilution / Dilution Buffers			
Primary Antibodies						
Anti-FLAG M2	Mouse / WB	Stratagene 200472-21	1:500 / PBST- Milk			
Anti-MMP-14, catalytic domain, clone LEM-2/15.8	Mouse / FC	Millipore MAB3328	1µg / PBS-BSA			
Cytokeratin 14	Mouse / WB	Abcam ab9220	1:1000 / PBST- Milk			
Cytokeratin 18	Mouse / WB	Cell Signaling 4548	1:2000 / PBST- Milk			
DYKDDDDK Anti-Flag	Rabbit / IF	Cell Signaling 2368P	1:800 / PBST- BSA			
E-Cadherin	Rabbit / WB	Cell Signalling 4065	1:1000 / PBST- Milk			
GAPDH – HRP Conjugated	Rabbit / WB	Cell Signalling 3683	1:2000 / PBST- Milk			
Integrin α6	Rabbit / WB	(Clone U21) Gift from Professor Uli Mayer	1:1000 / PBST- BSA			
Integrin αV	Rabbit / WB	Millipore AB1930	1:5000 / PBST- Milk			
Integrin β1	Mouse / WB	AbD Serotec MCA1189	1:1000 / PBST- Milk			
Integrin β1 (12G10)	Mouse / IF	Ab cam ab30394	1:500 / PBST- BSA			
Integrin β1 (APC Conjugated)	Mouse / FC	BD 559883	20ul / / PBS-BSA			
Integrin β4	Rabbit / WB	Cell Signaling 4707	1:1000 / TBST- BSA			
Integrin β4	Mouse / FC	Millipore MAB1964	1:500 / PBS-BSA			
p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2)	Rabbit / WB	Cell Signaling 9102	1:1000 / TBST- BSA			

Phospho-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (Thr202/Tyr204)	Rabbit / WB	Cell Signaling 9101	1:1000 / TBST- BSA			
Syndecan-4 (5G9)	Mouse / FC	Santa Cruz sc- 12766	1µg / PBS-BSA			
Vimentin	Rabbit / WB	Cell Signalling 3932	1:1000 / PBST- Milk			
β-Catenin	Rabbit / WB	Cell Signalling 9587	1:1000 / PBST- Milk			
Secondary Antibodies						
Donkey Anti- Mouse Alexa 488	/ FC	Invitrogen A21202	1µg / PBS-BSA			
Allophycocyanin Goat Anti-Mouse	/ FC	Invitrogen A-865	1µg / PBS-BSA			
Mouse IgG1	/ FC	Invitrogen MG100	1µg / PBS-BSA			
Mouse IgG2a	/ FC	Invitrogen MG200	1µg / PBS-BSA			
Goat anti-Rabbit (FITC)	/ IF	Sigma	1µg / ml PBS- BSA			
Rabbit anti- Mouse Alexa Fluor 488	/ IF	Invitrogen	2µg / ml PBS- BSA			
Rabbit anti- Mouse (HRP)	/WB	Dako P0260	1:1000 / PBST or TBST-Milk			
Goat anti-rabbit (HRP)	/ WB	DAKO P0448	1:1000 / PBST or TBST-Milk			

 Table 2.4: Antibodies used for Western Blot, Immunofluorescence and

 Flow Cytometry experiments.

2.23 Western blot

Protein samples were transferred by the semi-dry method from the gels onto a nitrocellulose membrane at 100mA for one hour. Membranes were then Ponceau S stained (Table 2.1) to confirm that the protein samples had successfully transferred. Membranes were then blocked for one hour in the appropriate blocking buffer (Table 2.1). Application of the primary antibody (Table 2.4), typically diluted 1:1000 into antibody dilution buffer (Table 2.1) was either for one hour at room temperature or sixteen hours overnight at 4°C. Membranes were washed with washing buffer (Table 2.1) three times for ten minutes on a shaker before application of the secondary antibody dilution buffer was for one hour at room temperature. Membranes were then washed with washing buffer (Table 2.1) into antibody dilution buffer was for one hour at room temperature. Membranes were then washed with washing buffer three times for ten minutes on a shaker and ECL was applied according to manufactures instructions. Protein bands were imaged and detected using a Fuji Film (LAS-3000) system. Method reviewed by Bolt and Mahoney, 1997.

2.24 R&D phosphokinase array

MDA-MB-231 EV/ TS15 / E362A cells were grown to 80% confluency in a T75 (nunc) tissue culture flask. Cells were washed and scrapped into 5ml DPBS before being centrifuged at 2000g for five minutes. Cell pellets were lysed with the lysis buffer supplied with the R&D kit (R&D Systems #ARY003) according to manufactures guidelines. Cell lysate samples were BCA analysed to determine the total protein concentration of each extract as described in methods section 2.20.

100µg of cell lysate per sample was utilised in the R&D Phosphokinase array and the array was carried out according to manufacturers' guidelines (R&D). Membranes were imaged with Fuji Film imager (LAS-3000) and images were analysed with Image J according to manufacturers' guidelines.

2.25 Immunohistochemistry

300,000 cells were seeded onto coverslips, placed into tissue culture treated 6well plates. Cells were incubated overnight in 1ml of serum containing media at 37°C and 5% CO₂. The next day coverslips were washed twice in DPBS at 37°C prior to fixation. Methods reviewed Odell and Cook, 2013.

2.25.1 Fixation and antibody staining

Cells on coverslips were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde/DPBS (w/v) at room temperature for 10 min. Once fixed cells were washed twice with DPBS and then blocked with immunofluorescence blocking buffer (1% bovine serum albumin BSA in DPBS (w/v)) for 30 minutes at room temperature. Cells were then incubated with primary antibodies (Table 2.4) diluted in 1% BSA/DPBS (w/v) for 60 minutes at room temperature. Cells were then washed three times with blocking buffer before 60 minute incubation in the dark with secondary antibody (Table 2.4) diluted in 1% BSA/DPBS (w/v). Cells were then washed twice with blocking buffer (as described above). Coverslips were mounted onto slides with ProLong Gold-DAPI.

2.25.2 Phalloidin staining

Cells were seeded and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde/DPBS (w/v) as described above. Once fixed cells were washed twice with DPBS and then blocked with blocking buffer (1% bovine serum albumin BSA in DPBS (w/v)) for

30 minutes at room temperature. Cells were washed twice with DPBS and stained in the dark with 0.2 U Phalloidin in DPBS for 20 minutes at room temperature. Cells were then washed twice with blocking buffer and Coverslips were mounted onto slides with ProLong Gold-DAPI.

2.25.3 Imaging

Images were taken using either a charge-coupled device (CCD) upright microscope or a LSM Confocal Microscope (Carl Zeiss). Images were analysed and fluorescence intensity determined with Axiovision 4.7.1 software or Zeiss LSM Examiner 4.0 software.

2.26 Flow Cytometry

All flow cytometry experiments were carried out using an Acruri C6 (BD Biosciences) and analysed with BD Acuri C6 Software or FlowJo. A gating strategy was utilised to identify events which correspond to single live cells (doublet discrimination, FL2A:FL2W; Wersto *et al.* 2001).

2.26.1 Cell cycle analysis

50,000 MDA-MB-231 EV / TS15 / E362A cells were seeded into tissue culture treated 6 well plates and cultured for three days in serum containing media at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Media was removed and wells were washed with DPBS. Cells were trypsinised and suspended in 600µl of serum containing media. Cells were then spun down at 2000g for 5 minutes and the cell pellet was washed with DPBS. Cells were then fixed with 70% ethanol in DPBS (v/v) and incubated for 2 hours at 4°C. Cells were washed with DPBS and spun down at 2000g for 5 minutes. Cell pellets were re-suspended and stained with propidium iodide solution (5µg PI, 10µg RNAase A in 1ml DPBS). Samples were analysed with a

flow cytometer. Events were gated as described above and readings were taken with FL2-A. Cell cycle analysis was performed using FlowJo and the Watson Pragmatic Model (Watson *et al.* 1987).

2.26.2 Cell surface protein detection

MDA-MB-231 EV / TS15 / E362A cells were scrapped into ice cold DPBS. Cells were centrifuged at 2000g for five minutes and then cell pellets were resuspended and fixed in 4% PFA for 10 minutes at room temperature. Cells were then washed twice via centrifugation and re-suspended with 100µl antibody blocking buffer and incubated for ten minutes at room temperature. Primary or isotype control antibodies (Table 2.4) were added at the appropriate dilution and incubated for one hour. Cells were washed twice as described before and re-suspended in 100µl antibody blocking buffer (Table 2.1). Secondary antibody (Table 2.4) was applied at the appropriate dilution and incubated for 30 minutes. Cells were washed via centrifugation as described before and re-suspended in DPBS. Samples were analysed with a flow cytometer. Events were gated as described above and the appropriate filter for each fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibody was used. Assay based upon protocols described by Beauvais *et al.* 2004.

2.27 Angiogenesis Assays

2.27.1 Generation of ADAMTS-15 conditioned media

300,000 MDA-MB-231 cells constitutively expressing either empty vector (EV), wild type ADAMTS-15 (TS15) or metalloproteinase inactive ADAMTS-15 (E362A) were seeded into T75 tissue culture treated flasks (nunc) with serum containing media. The next day cells were washed and HUVEC media with 2%

FCS was applied. HUVEC media was conditioned for 48 hours before being used in HUVEC 3D tube formation assays.

2.27.2 HUVEC 3D tube formation assay

Primary human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) when cultured in 3D Collagen Type I gels spontaneously form tube like structures (Cooley *et al.* 2010). This and similar assays are used as *in vitro* models of angiogenesis.

HUVECs were routinely grown on flasks coated with 60µg/ml Collagen type I and were used before reaching the sixth passage for all experiments. For the 3D tube formation assay HUVECs (1.25x10⁶ cells/ml) were suspended into Collagen gels (1.6 mg/ml) and seeded into 24-well plates. Collagen gels were prepared using rat-tail Collagen Type I solution (BD Biosciences) mixed with 10× 199 medium (Sigma), VEGF (25ng/ml) and FGF-2 (25ng/ml). Collagen gels were then polymerised by adjusting the pH to 7.5 using sodium hydroxide (1N). The process of polymerisation was carried out at 37°C and 5% (v/v) CO_2 for 30 minutes. ADAMTS-15 conditioned media (MDA-MB-231 EV / TS15/ E362A) was added to appropriate wells. Positive control wells were cultured with serum containing HUVEC media supplemented with VEGF (25ng/ml) and FGF-2 (25ng/ml). At 24 hours post seeding into collagen gels, wells were washed with DPBS and fixed with 4% PFA. Gels were then stained with Phalloidin and DAPI. Images were taken using a charge-coupled device (CCD) upright microscope (Zeiss). Images were focused at multiple Z-axis focal plane using DAPI staining as a guide. Phalloidin staining of HUVEC F-actin cytoskeleton was used to identify HUVEC tube like structures. Fluorescence from background signals and non-tube like structures (e.g. cell debris) was removed from the analysis.

2.27.3 Aortic ring assay

Thoracic aortae were isolated from 6 to 8 week-old mice and prepared for embedding in collagen type I matrix as described in Baker *et al.* 2012. Aortic rings were treated with MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A conditioned media as described in 2.27.1 and VEGF (30ng/ml). Six days later, rings were fixed and the number of micro vessels were quantified under phase contrast.

2.28 Experimental Metastasis: Tail Vein Assay

To determine the effect of ADAMTS-15 expression on the metastatic potential on human breast cancer cells an experimental model of metastasis was utilised. The tail vein assay as described by Elkin and Vlodavsky, 2001 involves the intravenous injection of tumour cells into immune-compromised mice (e.g. CD1 nu/nu mice), enabling circulating tumour cells to spread to the lungs, liver and other organs or tissues.

Prior to the experiment all cell lines were tagged by retroviral transduction with a β -galactosidase marker (lacZ tagged) as previously described in (Krüger *et al.* 1994). 1x10⁶ MDA-MB-231 (EV, TS15 or E362A) cells were suspended into 200µl of DPBS and injected intravenously into the tail vein of CD1 nu/nu mice. Mice were culled 35 days post injection. Lungs, Liver, Bone and Spleen were excised and stained for analysis of micro-metastasis.

2.29 Statistical analysis

In all experiments ADAMTS-15 and E362A transfected breast cancer cell lines were compared with EV (control cells containing empty pcDNA3.2 plasmid). Experimental procedures were repeated independently at least three times and statistical analysis was performed using two-tailed, unpaired t-test. Aortic ring assay statistics were based upon Mann-Whitney non-parametric μ test. Data bars represent the mean value with error bars indicating s.e.m. Values of *p≤0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

Chapter Three: Characterisation of ADAMTS-15 Expression Systems

3.1 Introduction

Previous studies have demonstrated that ADAMTS-15 expression inversely correlates with tumour grade in breast cancer, with expression significantly reduced in grade III breast tumours compared to grade I or II tumours (Porter *et al.* 2004). ADAMTS-15 expression also inversely correlates with tumour grade in colorectal cancer (Viloria *et al.* 2009). Another study involving a cohort of 229 Dutch patients showed that relatively high levels of ADAMTS-15 expression were associated with a good prognosis in breast cancer (Porter *et al.* 2006).

Taken together these studies indicate that ADAMTS-15 is protective in breast and colorectal cancer and that an examination of ADAMTS-15 expression may be a clinically useful independent predictor of survival (Porter *et al.* 2004; Porter *et al.* 2006; Viloria *et al.* 2009). However the functional consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression in breast cancer are unknown. To this end, this thesis set out to explore the effects of ADAMTS-15 on human mammary cell behaviour. This chapter outlines the characterisation of human mammary cell lines, and the ADAMTS-15 expression systems that were used in this study.

3.2 Characterisation of human mammary cell culture models

3.2.1 Myoepithelial cells

In healthy adult breast tissue ADAMTS-15 is expressed in myoepithelial cells, which sit in a continuous layer between the luminal epithelial cells and the basement membrane of the ductal lumen (Figure 1.8; Table 2.3; Porter *et al.* 2004). Myoepithelial cells are a combination of muscle (myo) and epithelial-like character that function to secrete luminal milk and to maintain breast tissue architecture (Adriance *et al.* 2005; Butcher *et al.* 2009; Gordon *et al.* 2003). To counteract the tensile forces that breast tissues experience during lactation, myoepithelial cells mediate ECM remodelling processes (Butcher *et al.* 2009; Gordon *et al.* 2009; Gordon *et al.* 2003). As part of these remodelling processes myoepithelial cells express an array of factors that also help to maintain luminal epithelial cell apical-basal polarity (Barcellos-Hoff *et al.* 1989; Butcher *et al.* 2009). Several of these factors are potentially tumour suppressive, including MMP-8 and ADAMTS-15 (Decock *et al.* 2008; Gordon *et al.* 2003; Hsiao *et al.* 2011; Jones *et al.* 2003; Polyak and Hu, 2005; Thirkettle *et al.* 2013; Xiao *et al.* 1999).

The role of myoepithelial cells in maintaining breast tissue architecture is particularly important to understand as a subset of aggressive breast cancer tumours express myoepithelial markers such as (α 6 β 4 integrin) and therefore may be of myoepithelial cell-like origin (Gordon *et al.* 2003; Jones *et al.* 2004; Polyak and Hu, 2005; Tan and Ellis, 2013). Even in the majority of breast cancers which are thought to originate from luminal epithelial cells, an absence of a myoepithelial cell population is observed during the progression to invasive disease (Gordon *et al.* 2003; Hsiao *et al.* 2011; Porter *et al.* 2004). Thus the

loss of *wildtype* myoepithelial cells and/or the loss of the protective factors expressed by these cells contribute to the transformation of *in situ* tumour cells into invasive disease (Gordon *et al.* 2003; Hsiao *et al.* 2011; Porter *et al.* 2004).

To investigate the functional consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression within a myoepithelial cell population, two cell lines 1089 β 4 and 1089 β 6 were acquired. These cell lines were kindly gifted to our lab from Professor Louise Jones, Queen Mary University of London. 1089 β 4 and β 6 cells are immortalised myoepithelial cell lines and both express integrin β 4. However the 1089 β 6 cell line has been engineered to over express integrin β 6. Integrin β 6 is upregulated in myoepithelial cells in high grade DCIS (Jones *et al.* 2009). Thus the original myoepithelial cell line (1089) is an *in vitro* model of *wildtype* cells and the 1089 β 6 is more DCIS-like.

Myoepithelial cells and luminal epithelial cells both express several markers including E-cadherin, integrin β 1, α 2, α 3, and α 6, though α 6 is expressed at lower levels in luminal epithelial cells compared to myoepithelial cells (Gordon *et al.* 2003). However there are some differences, which enable luminal cell populations to be distinguished from myoepithelial cells and vice versa. Integrin β 4, Vimentin, CK14, tenascin, and α -smooth muscle actin are all expressed in myoepithelial cells and are not expressed in luminal epithelial cells (Gordon *et al.* 2003). Likewise in contrast to myoepithelial cells, luminal epithelial cells express CK18 (Gordon *et al.* 2003).

To characterise 1089 β 4 and 1089 β 6 cell lines several cell markers were selected and analysed via western blot (Figure 3.1; Methods 2.17; 2.20-2.23). However these cell lines were prone to phenotypic drift with changes in marker

profiles and cell morphology occurring soon after entering culture (Figure 3.1). Both 1089 β 4 and 1089 β 6 cell lines displayed altered morphology from a 'cobble stone' like appearance to a more elongated fibroblastic like appearance (Figure 3.1). In concurrent to these morphological changes the cell lines lost Ecadherin and CK14 expression and occasionally gained CK18 expression (Figure 3.1).

The dynamic phenotype of the myoepithelial cell lines were determined to be inappropriate for experiments designed to investigate the long term consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression. It would have been difficult to determine and distinguish the effects of ADAMTS-15 expression from those that were due to phenotypic drift. Therefore alternative *in vitro* models of breast cancer were utilised.



Figure 3.1: Myoepithelial cells display a dynamic phenotype in culture. Myoepithelial cell lines 1089 β 4 and 1089 β 6 undergo a phenotypic drift in culture. Images (**a**, **b**) show evidence that the cells display altered morphology and western blot analysis from cell lysates of the expression of cell markers (**c**) E-Cadherin (135kDa), bands at the bottom are GAPDH loading control. (**d**) Cytokeratin 18 (45kDa). (**f**) A summary table compares our results with those from Prof. Louise Jones lab. + = expressed, - = not expressed, +/- = weak expression, LJ = Louise Jones lab result and DE = Dylan Edwards lab result. Numbers in brackets represent the predicted molecular weights of the respective proteins. Cell lysates from MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and G361 cells were used as controls.

3.2.2 Breast cancer cells

The luminal epithelial cells lie in close proximity to the surrounding layer of myoepithelial cells within the ductal structures of the breast (Figure 1.8; Gordon *et al.* 2003; Hsiao *et al.* 2011; Porter *et al.* 2004). Therefore it is likely that the luminal epithelial cells come into contact with ADAMTS-15, expressed by neighbouring myoepithelial cells (Figure 1.8; Gordon *et al.* 2003; Hsiao *et al.* 2011; Porter *et al.* 2004). And since the majority of breast cancers are thought to originate from an epithelial-like cell it is appropriate to investigate the functional consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression on luminal epithelial cell types. Several well established *in vitro* models of epithelial-like breast cancers exist (Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004). From amongst them, MCF-7 cells and MDA-MB-231 cells, both of which endogenously express ADAMTS-15 were chosen as appropriate models (Figure 3.3; Table 2.3; Table 3.1; Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004).

MCF-7 cells are a luminal epithelial-like, metastatic ductal carcinoma cell line. MCF-7 cells express an array of luminal epithelial markers (e.g. CK18, and progesterone receptor) and *in vivo* tumours derived from these cells display histological features that are representative of those found in patients (Figure 3.1; Table 3.1; Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004). The molecular profiles of MCF-7 cells (ER+/PgR+/ErbB2-) also correlate well with epithelial-like tumours found in patients, though there are some functional differences. MCF-7 derived tumours do not readily grow *in vivo* unless supplemented with oestrogen (Table 3.1; Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004). Though this has proved to be useful as a model for understanding oestrogen dependent tumour growth, and the development of tumour resistance to anti-oestrogen therapies e.g. Tamoxifen (Table 3.1; Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004). Also whilst cancer cells from patients with a similar molecular profile to that of MCF-7 cells are able to metastasise, in animal models MCF-7 cells are poorly invasive and rarely metastasise (Table 3.1; Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004). However the relatively low invasive potential of MCF-7 cells is useful, particularly as a comparator model against more invasive breast cancer cell lines, such as MDA-MB-231 cells.

MDA-MB-231 cells are an invasive mesenchymal-like, metastatic ductal carcinoma cell line. The morphology and behaviour of MDA-MB-231 cells is overtly different to that of MCF-7 cells (Figure 3.2; Table 3.1). MDA-MB-231 cells appear more elongated and fibroblastic than the more epithelial-like MCF-7 cells (Figure 3.2). Also in contrast to MCF-7 cells, MDA-MB-231 cells are highly invasive and metastatic in vivo (Table 3.1; Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004). MDA-MB-231 cells may have originally derived from a luminal epithelial cell type, though it is difficult to determine since these cells have 'turned off' several epithelial markers (e.g. E-Cadherin) and have 'turned on' expression of a variety of mesenchymal markers including Vimentin (Figure 3.1; Table 3.1; Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004). This 'epithelial to mesenchymal transition' (EMT) is thought to be a tumorigenic process in which epithelial cells acquire the morphological and molecular phenotypes associated with invasiveness (Figure 3.2; Table 3.1; Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004). MDA-MB-231 cells are therefore likely to be a dedifferentiated cell type and in concordance with their molecular profile (ER-/PgR-/ErbB2-, triple negative) are representative of the basal breast cancer subtype which frequently form poorly differentiated tumours (Grade III) (Table 1.1; Table 3.1; Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004). Indeed MDA-MB-231 cells were originally derived from a patient with a poorly differentiated tumour (Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004). In order to provide additional characterisation data an expression profile via qRT-PCR was carried out to determine the baseline expression (mRNA) levels of several hyalectanases, syndecans and integrins (figure 3.3; Appendix A7).

	MDA-MB-231	MCF-7		
Description	Invasive mesenchymal-like, metastatic ductal carcinoma cell line	Luminal epithelial-like, metastatic ductal carcinoma cell line		
Original Tissue	metastasis; pleural effusion	metastasis; pleural effusion		
Modal Chromosome number(s)	64, 69–70	88,86,79,65		
ER status	-	+		
PgR status	-	+		
ErbB2 (Her2/neu) status	-	-/+ (low)		
Tumourigenicity of cell line in mouse models	Aggressive, highly invasive and high incidence of metastatic spread particularly to the Lungs of nude and SCID mice.	Cells are viable but require estrogenic supplementation for tumourigenesis in nude mice. Cells are also poorly invasive and rarely metastatic in mice.		

 Table 3.1 Comparison of MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 human mammary cancer cell lines.
 Adapted from Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004.



Figure 3.2: Images of MCF-7 cells and MDA-MB-231 cells.

	MDA-MB-231	MCF7
ADAMTS1	26	34
ADAMTS4	21	40
ADAMTS5	36	40
ADAMTS8	40	40
ADAMTS9	26	40
ADAMTS15	29	30
ADAMTS20	37	36
TIMP3	26	29
Syndecan 1	28	26
Syndecan 4	25	26
Integrin β1	25	27
Integrin $\alpha 5$	24	27

Ct 15-25	Very high expression
Ct 26-30	High expression
Ct 31-35	Moderate expression
Ct 36-39	Low expression
Ct <40	Very low / undetectable expression

Figure 3.3: Expression profile of MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells. qRT-PCR analysis of gene expression in MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells. Relative expression levels are shown as a Ct value heat-map. The displayed Ct values are averaged from three independently collected RNA samples. See appendix A7 to see an expanded version of this data set.

3.3 Generation of ADAMTS-15 expressing mammary cancer cell lines

3.3.1 Validation of ADAMTS-15 constructs

To investigate the functional consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression in *in vitro* models (MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells) of breast cancer several ADAMTS-15 constructs were generated by Dr. Laura Wagstaff (Figure 2.1). In addition to full length ADAMTS-15, a metalloproteinase inactive form of ADAMTS-15 (E362A) and several truncated ADAMTS-15 constructs (ΔA , ΔB , and ΔC) which lack C-terminal domains were also generated. These constructs were PCR cloned into pcDNA 3.2 plasmid (Invitrogen #K2440-20). A FLAG tag was also cloned in-frame into the C-terminal sequence of all ADAMTS-15 constructs to enable purification and detection of ADAMTS-15 protein.

These constructs were validated through sequencing, which confirmed that these constructs had been cloned as expected, and via restriction digest. Empty vector (EV) pcDNA 3.2 contains a unique BamHI recognition sequence, which results in a linearized plasmid (Figure 3.4). During the construction of constructs TS15, E362A and ΔA , ΔB , ΔC the BamHI site was removed from the vector backbone. However ADAMTS-15 contains a unique BamHI site, therefore when digested with BamHI a single linearised product was formed as expected (Figure 3.4). ΔC did not linearise because the BamHI site is positioned immediately prior to the first TSR, a region which is lost in the ΔC truncated form of ADAMTS-15 (Figure 3.4; Figure 3.11a).



Figure 3.4: Validation of ADAMTS-15 pcDNA 3.2 constructs. 200ng of DNA loaded into each lane except for lane 1 which contained 10kb DNA ladder to approximate restriction digest product sizes. Even numbered lanes contained uncut circularised plasmid DNA and odd numbered lanes contained plasmid DNA that were linearised with *Bam*HI restriction enzyme. Predicted sizes pcDNA 3.2 (EV) 7.7kb, TS15 and E362A 10.6kb, ΔA 10.2kb, ΔB 9.7kb and ΔC 9.21kb.

3.3.2 Transient expression of ADAMTS-15 in human breast cancer cell lines

ADAMTS-15 constructs were validated through transient transfection into MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines. Western blot analysis (Methods 2.17; 2.20-2.23) of cell lysate samples collected 72 hours post transfection confirmed expression of ADAMTS-15 and E362A constructs (Figure 3.5). Transient expression of ADAMTS-15 was tolerated by both cell types. However since ADAMTS-15 is potentially protective in breast cancer it is possible that these cell types might reject and/or mutate the ADAMTS-15 plasmid over time. Also on a technical note transient transfection of plasmids into MDA-MB-231 cells are generally inefficient. Therefore systems that facilitate the stable expression of ADAMTS-15 were deemed more appropriate for longer-term assays.



Figure 3.5: Characterisation of ADAMTS-15 transient expression in human breast cancer cell lines. Western blot analysis of human breast cancer cells transfected with pcDNA3.2 empty vector control (EV), *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 (TS15) or a metalloproteinase inactive form of ADAMTS-15 (E362A). Anti-Flag antibodies were utilised to detect ADAMTS-15 from cell lysate samples. These data are representative of several experiments.

3.3.3 Constitutive expression of ADAMTS-15 in human breast cancer cell lines

ADAMTS-15 constructs empty vector (EV) control, *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 (TS15) and a metalloproteinase inactive form of ADAMTS-15 (E362A) were stably transfected as described in materials and methods (Methods 2.4.1) into MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells. Polyclonal pools were used in all experiments and antibiotic selection (G418) was utilised to select for ADAMTS-15 or E362A overexpressing cells respectively.

The expression of ADAMTS-15 was determined via western blot analysis (Methods 2.17; 2.20-2.23) of cell lysate samples (Figure 3.6) and gRT-PCR (Figure 3.8; Methods 2.14-2.16). Whilst several commercial ADAMTS-15 antibodies were tested, none of them could reliably detect ADAMTS-15 protein (Appendix 5). Therefore detection of ADAMTS-15 protein was via an anti-FLAG antibody. A limitation of this approach was that endogenous ADAMTS-15 protein could not be detected, however qRT-PCR primers and probes were designed to detect both endogenous and exogenous (over expression) ADAMTS-15 mRNA levels. Whilst mRNA levels may not always correlate with protein level, for several reasons (including protein stability, degradation etc.) the pattern of ADAMTS-15 expression and protein levels did match. In MDA-MB-231 cells overexpression of TS15 and E362A were approximately 8x higher (3 Ct values lower) than endogenous ADAMTS-15 expression in EV cells (Figure 3.8). TS15 and E362A protein levels were also equal (Figure 3.6). In contrast to this the levels of stable overexpression of TS15 (Ct 20) and E362A (Ct 25) in MCF-7 cells were markedly different. This pattern could also be observed at the protein level (Figure 3.6; 3.8). Although MCF-7 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were utilised, the expression levels of TS15 and E362A were more comparable in the MDA-MB-231 cells and were therefore chosen as the focus for the majority of the project.

ADAMTS-15 overexpression was maintained throughout culture, suggesting that overexpression of ADAMTS-15 is not inherently toxic to the cells. Indeed both MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells maintained their correct cell marker profile even when overexpressing ADAMTS-15 constructs (Figure 3.7). There were also few differences in the expression profiles of the hyalectanases and TIMPs examined via qRT-PCR in MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells (Figure 3.8). These expression profiles also remained comparable when comparing empty vector control cells with the appropriate parental cell lines (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.6: Characterisation of ADAMTS-15 expression in human breast cancer cell lines. Western blot analysis of human breast cancer cells engineered to constitutively express pcDNA3.2 empty vector control (EV), *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 (TS15) or a metalloproteinase inactive form of ADAMTS-15 (E362A). Anti-Flag antibodies were utilised to detect ADAMTS-15 from cell lysate samples. These data are representative of multiple experiments.



Figure 3.7: Western blot analysis of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells. Western blot analysis of cell lysates from MDA-MB-231 cells engineered to constitutively express pcDNA3.2 empty vector control (EV), *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 (TS15) or a metalloproteinase inactive form of ADAMTS-15 (E362A). Cell markers that are known to be involved with epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) were chosen; Cytokeratin 18 (45kDa), β -Catenin (92kDa), E-Cadherin (135kDa) and GAPDH loading control (37kDa). Numbers in brackets represent the predicted molecular weights of the respective proteins. Cell lysates from MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and G361 cells were used as controls.

	MD	A-MB-	231					
	EV	TS15	E362A					
ADAMTS1	25	24	24				Ct 15-25	Very high expression
ADAMTS4	21	20	20				Ct 26-30	High expression
ADAMTS5	35	34	34				Ct 31-35	Moderate expression
ADAMTS8	40	40	40		MCF-7		Ct 36-39	Low expression
ADAMTS9	30	31	30	EV	TS15	E362A	Ct <40	Very low / undetectable expression
ADAMTS15	26	23	23	31	20	25		
ADAMTS20	37	36	37					
TIMP3	24	24	23					

Figure 3.8: Expression profile of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells. qRT-PCR analysis of gene expression in MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells. Relative expression levels are shown as a Ct value heat-map. The displayed Ct values are averaged from three independently collected RNA samples. See appendix A7 to see an expanded version of this data set.

3.4 Analysis of cell viability and proliferation

MTT assays and flow cytometry were utilised to evaluate the effects of ADAMTS-15 on breast cancer cell viability, proliferation and apoptosis. Overexpression of ADAMTS-15 did not affect MCF-7 or MDA-MB-231 cell viability (Figure 3.9a-b). MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells did not show any differences in proliferation in either normal tissue culture conditions (10% FCS) or stress conditions (0% FCS) as determined by cell counts over a period of 4 days (Figure 3.9c; Methods 2.5). In corroboration with these results a flow cytometric analysis (Methods 2.26) of the cell cycle profiles of ADAMTS-15 expressing cells did not identify any significant differences either (Figure 3.9d). An examination of the sub-G1 population also highlights that ADAMTS-15 does not appear to induce apoptosis (Figure 3.9d). From these data it can be concluded that ADAMTS-15 does not affect breast cancer cell viability or proliferation. A greater understanding of the context (localisation) in which ADAMTS-15 operates may shed some light into the tumour suppressive function(s) of this metalloproteinase.



Figure 3.9: ADAMTS-15 does not affect breast cancer cell viability or proliferation. MTT cell viability assay of MCF7 (**a**) and MDA-MB-231 (**b**) EV, TS15 or E362A human breast cancer cells. These data are based upon three independent experiments, error bars represent s.e.m. statistical tests revealed no significant differences. (**c**) Cell growth assay of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A expressing cells. Cells were grown with media containing either 0% or 10% FCS. Total cell numbers were counted at the indicated time points post seeding, data were averaged across four wells per cell group, each day, error bars represent s.e.m. statistical tests revealed no significant differences. (**d**) Cell cycle analysis of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells was analysed via flow cytometry as described in materials and methods, data are represented by four independently collected cell samples, error bars represent s.e.m. statistical tests revealed no significant differences.

3.5 ADAMTS-15 localisation

Association with the extracellular matrix is one of the defining characteristics of the ADAMTS family. The association of ADAMTSs with the ECM is largely mediated by the ADAMTS ancillary domains, whose broader functions also include the regulation of ADAMTS proteolytic activity and substrate preferences (Kelwick and Edwards, 2014). Thus ECM association is functionally important and also plays a role in determining the context in which the ADAMTSs operate. Since the localisation of ADAMTS-15 within the context of *in vitro* models of breast cancer is unknown, yet may be functionally important several experiments were designed to examine this.

MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were seeded in serum containing media onto coverslips and allowed to adhere overnight. Immunofluorescence antibody staining (Methods 2.25) confirmed that ADAMTS-15 is an ECM associated metalloproteinase (Figure 3.10a). ADAMTS-15 E362A as expected also associates with the ECM (Figure 3.10a). Generally as can be seen in the images ADAMTS-15 sits in the pericellular space and may potentially interact with cell surface proteins (Figure 3.10a).

To provide additional insight into ADAMTS-15 localisation ADAMTS-15 constructs were transiently transfected. At 72 hours post transfection cell lysate, conditioned media and extracellular matrix samples were taken and the localisation of ADAMTS-15 was examined via western blot (Methods 2.17-2.23). Since the samples were proportionately loaded, absolute measurements of ADAMTS-15 localisation cannot be inferred however a qualitative view can be determined. In MCF-7 cells ADAMTS-15 was associated with the ECM,

however ADAMTS-15 was also detected in the conditioned media (Figure 3.10b). It should also be noted that the association of ADAMTS-15 with the ECM via western blot was generally difficult to detect in both MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells (Figure 3.10b). Though of course only exogenous, FLAG tagged ADAMTS-15 could be detected and so it is possible that a portion of ECM binding sites were already taken up by endogenously expressed ADAMTS-15. Thus an overexpression of ADAMTS-15 may have been unable to bind to a saturated ECM. Interestingly HEK293T cells, readily expressed high levels of ADAMTS-15 constructs though the greatest proportion of ADAMTS-15 remained in the cell lysate (Figure 3.10b). ADAMTS-15 expressed in HEK293T cells did associate with the ECM (Figure 3.10b). However in comparison to the efficiency of the transfection, relatively little ADAMTS-15 associated with the ECM or the conditioned media (Figure 10b). It is possible therefore that ADAMTS-15 may localise differently in different cell types.

Viloria *et al.* 2009 reported that the two C-terminal TSR's in ADAMTS-15 are required for ECM binding, since transient transfection of truncated forms of ADAMTS-15 in HCT-116 (colorectal cancer cell lines) display reduced association with the ECM. In confirmation with reports in the literature these data also indicate that ADAMTS-15 associates with the ECM via its ancillary domain (Figure 3.11). Expression of truncated constructs, ΔA , ΔB or ΔC , which lack regions of the ancillary domain display a reduced level of association with the ECM in comparison to full-length ADAMTS-15 (Figure 3.11). Future studies may find it useful to further optimise and characterise these constructs, particularly within breast tumour cell lines to provide additional insight into ADAMTS-15 localisation.

It should also be noted that whilst ADAMTS-15 protein is shown to be ~103kDa (Figure 3.5, 3.6 and 3.10b) which is the predicted and reported molecular weight of ADAMTS-15 (Viloria *et al.* 2009). In several blots, different band sizes for ADAMTS-15 have been observed, which might correspond to pro and active (furin processed) forms of ADAMTS-15 (Figure 3.10c). However it is also possible that ADAMTS-15 may undergo post translational modification, though no conclusive evidence of this is provided in this thesis.



Figure 3.10: ADAMTS-15 associates with the ECM. (a) The expression and localisation of ADAMTS-15 (red) and active Integrin β 1-12G10 (green) in MDA-MB-231 cells was analysed by immunofluorescence. Cell nuclei are DAPI stained (blue), white scale bars represent 20µm in length data in collaboration with Dr. Christian Roghi. (b) Western blot analysis of ADAMTS-15 localisation. EV, TS15 and E362A were transiently transfected into MCF7 and HEK 293T cells. At 48h post transfection extracellular matrix (ECM), cell lysate and conditioned media samples were taken and proportionally loaded (40% of the respective sample). These data were generated in collaboration with Dr. Laura Wagstaff. (c) ADAMTS-15 and E362A cells and then analysed by western blot. Data provided by Dr. Kazu as part of collaborations with Professor Hideaki Nagase's group.



Figure 3.11: ADAMTS-15 associates with the ECM via it's ancillary domain. (a) Schematic of ADAMTS-15. Ancillary domains to the right of the blue lines are missing in the three truncation constructs ΔA , ΔB and ΔC respectively (b and c) HCT-116 colorectal cancer cells were transiently transfected with either pcDNA 3.2 empty vector control (EV), TS15 or ΔA , ΔB or ΔC truncated constructs. Extracellular matrix (ECM) and conditioned media (CM) samples were taken and proportionally loaded (40% of the respective sample).

3.6 Aggrecanase assay

ADAMTS-15 is reported as an aggrecanase in the literature, primarily due to phylogenetic similarities with the hyalectanases several of which have demonstrable aggrecanolytic activity. Whilst ADAMTS-15 is a proven versicanase, beyond a patent there is no evidence that clearly demonstrates ADAMTS-15 aggrecanolytic activity (Stupka *et al.* 2013; Yamaji *et al.* 2000). Therefore it seemed appropriate to examine ADAMTS-15 aggrecanolytic activity (Methods 2.7).

ADAMTS-15 and E362A were purified using anti-FLAG M2 antibody-conjugated agarose beads from MDA-MB-231 TS15 and E362A conditioned media. Purified pro-forms of ADAMTS-15 and E362A were then activated with furin to ensure that only active ADAMTS-15 was used in each aggrecanase activity assay. Aggrecanolytic activity was detected via western blot using antibodies that can detect an aggrecan neo-epitope (anti-AGEG). Incubation of bovine aggrecan with *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 (TS15) but not the metalloproteinase inactive form (E362A) was able to cleave aggrecan (Figure 3.12). In comparison with ADAMTS-5, ADAMTS-15 displays weak activity. Incubation with N-TIMP3 inhibited ADAMTS-15 aggrecanase activity, indicating that ADAMTS-15 is inhibited by TIMP3 (Figure 3.12). These data also indicate that ADAMTS-15 E362A is catalytically inactive. Therefore in all future assays metalloproteinase independent effects can be discerned.



Figure 3.12: ADAMTS-15 aggrecanase activity is inhibited by N-TIMP-3. Aggrecanase activity of ADAMTS-15, as determined by western blot analysis of Aggrecan AGEG neo-epitope. Unconditioned media was used as a negative control and recombinant ADAMTS-5 (TS5) was used as a positive control. Data in collaboration with Dr. Kazuhiro Yamamoto from Professor Hideaki Nagase group.
3.7 Discussion

The overall aim of this thesis is to investigate the role of ADAMTS-15 in breast cancer, since previous studies have shown that ADAMTS-15 is potentially protective (Porter *et al.* 2004; 2006). Yet the functional consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression in breast cancer are unknown. *In vitro* models, particularly immortalised cell lines are amenable to genetic manipulation and are suitable for long term functional studies. An array of mammary cell lines exist that represent several healthy and breast cancer tumour subtypes (Lacroix and Leclercq, 2004). Thus *in vitro* models can be utilised to gain an initial insight into the functional consequences of ADAMTS-15. Whilst *in vivo* studies are arguably more physiologically relevant, they are better designed if informed by *in vitro* studies. To this end several human mammary cell culture models were proposed as an appropriate starting point from which to explore the functional consequences of ADAMTS-15 in breast cancer.

Within the ductal structures of the breast, the luminal epithelial cells and the myoepithelial cells are two physiologically and structurally important cell types. Of the two cell types the myoepithelial cells were determined to be the most appropriate for functional studies since it is the myoepithelial cells and not the luminal epithelial cells which express ADAMTS-15. Also a subset of aggressive breast cancer tumours express myoepithelial markers such as (α 6 β 4 integrin) and therefore may be of myoepithelial cell-like origin (Gordon *et al.* 2003; Jones *et al.* 2004; Polyak and Hu, 2005; Tan and Ellis 2013). Even in the majority of breast cancers which are thought to originate from luminal epithelial cells, an absence of a myoepithelial cell population is observed during the progression to invasive disease (Gordon *et al.* 2003; Hsiao *et al.* 2011; Porter *et al.* 2004).

Thus the loss of *wildtype* myoepithelial cells and/or the loss of the protective factors expressed by these cells contribute to the transformation of *in situ* tumour cells into invasive disease (Gordon *et al.* 2003; Hsiao *et al.* 2011; Porter *et al.* 2004). Since ADAMTS-15 is potentially one of those myoepithelial protective factors, an investigation of the consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression in myoepithelial cell populations would be informative. We acquired two immortalised cell lines 1089 β 4 and 1089 β 6 respectively. These cell lines were kindly gifted to our lab from Professor Louise Jones, Queen Mary University of London. However in our hands these cell lines were found to be prone to phenotypic drift with changes in marker profiles and cell morphology occurring soon after entering culture. Thus the dynamic phenotype of the myoepithelial cell lines were determined to be inappropriate for long term functional studies.

Luminal epithelial cells were chosen as an appropriate alternative model for several reasons. Luminal epithelial cells are likely to come into contact with ADAMTS-15 expressed by neighbouring myoepithelial cells and the majority of breast cancers are thought to originate from a luminal epithelial-like cell. Several well established *in vitro* models of epithelial-like breast cancers exist, which have been extensively characterised in the literature. From amongst them MCF-7 cells and MDA-MB-231 cells were chosen as the most appropriate *in vitro* models since they retain the molecular characteristics of the tumours from which they were derived. However the majority of this thesis focused on MDA-MB-231 cells, since these cells are representative of poorly differentiated (grade III) tumours. This is biologically important since ADAMTS-15 expression inversely correlates with tumour grade in breast cancer, with expression

significantly reduced in grade III breast tumours compared to grade I or II tumours (Porter *et al.* 2004). ADAMTS-15 expression also inversely correlates with tumour grade in colorectal cancer (Viloria *et al.* 2009).

Several ADAMTS-15 constructs which were originally generated by Dr. Laura Wagstaff were validated as part of this thesis via sequencing and restriction digest. In addition to full length ADAMTS-15, a metalloproteinase inactive form of ADAMTS-15 (E362A) and several truncated ADAMTS-15 constructs (ΔA , ΔB , and ΔC) which lack C-terminal domains were validated for this project. Whilst these ADAMTS-15 constructs were successfully transiently transfected into several cell lines, since ADAMTS-15 is potentially tumour suppressive it is possible that these cell lines might reject and/or mutate the ADAMTS-15 plasmid over time. Therefore systems that facilitate the stable expression of ADAMTS-15 were deemed more appropriate for longer term assays.

MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells, which stably constitutively express ADAMTS-15 constructs, were used in preference to transient transfection experiments, since long term expression could be maintained via antibiotic selection. The generation of these stable cell lines utilised a transfection strategy that involved the random integration of constructs into the genome of these cells. To avoid clonal effects as a result of random integration, polyclonal pools were used in all functional assays. One caveat of the use of polyclonal pools is that the pools represent the average expression of the monoclonal populations. Thus those monoclonal population. Indeed the level of overexpression of ADAMTS-15 constructs in MCF-7 cells was found to be excessive and lacked comparability. In contrast to this the overexpression of TS15 and E362A in the MDA-MB-231

stable polyclonal pools was comparable and only around 8x higher than endogenous ADAMTS-15 expression in EV control cells. Therefore the MDA-MB-231 stable cells were deemed to be more appropriate since the overexpression is arguably more physiologically relevant and fairer comparisons between TS15 and E362A cells can be made.

Despite earlier concerns about the potential for tumour cells to reject ADAMTS-15, stable constitutive expression of ADAMTS-15 in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells did not affect cell viability or proliferation. There were no observable toxicities associated with expression of ADAMTS-15 and expression was maintained throughout culture. Thus it can be concluded that ADAMTS-15 does not affect breast cancer cell growth or viability.

Since ADAMTS-15 does not affect cell proliferation any insight into the localisation and by inference the functional context in which ADAMTS-15 operates may be informative. To this end ADAMTS-15 localisation was examined in several cell lines, though particular attention was paid to localisation in human mammary cancer cell lines. As expected ADAMTS-15 was secreted and localised to the extracellular matrix in both MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 breast cancer cell lines. Unfortunately due to time constraints the localisation of ADAMTS-15 truncation constructs expressed in breast cancer cell lines was not examined. However an examination of ADAMTS-15 localisation in other cell lines provided further insight including the importance of the ancillary domain for determining ADAMTS-15 localisation. The two C-terminal ADAMTS-15 TSR's are required for ECM binding, since transient transfection of truncated forms of ADAMTS-15, Δ A-C, or G849fs respectively in HCT-116 (colorectal cancer cells) display reduced ECM association. This is

functionally important as the loss of ECM association results in the mislocalisation of ADAMTS-15 away from the pericellular space thus preventing interactions with cell surface proteins. Viloria et al. 2009 confirmed that ECM localisation was functionally important as expression of ADAMTS-15 G849fs did not reduce HCT-116 cell invasion to the same extent as wildtype ADAMTS-15. Though no ADAMTS-15 substrates or protein interaction partners were identified that could explain this observation (Viloria et al. 2009). However based on the reported sheddase activity of ADAMTS-1 it is possible to identify Syndecan-4, heparan-binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF) and amphiregulin (AR) as potential interaction candidates since ADAMTS-1 shares a 66% metalloproteinase domain identity with ADAMTS-15 (Liu et al. 2006; Rodríguez-Manzaneque et al. 2009). Also whilst there are no reports of an ADAMTS directly interacting with an integrin, it is possible that an ADAMTS may be able to interact with an integrin via it's TSR domains. Whilst the identification of ADAMTS-15 interaction partners may be relevant, at the start of this project very little evidence about the hyalectanase activity of ADAMTS-15 was known.

It is only recently that reports have clearly shown that ADAMTS-15 is a proteolytically competent hyalectanase. Stupka *et al.* 2013 reports that ADAMTS-15 is an important versicanase within the context of muscle development. Whilst evidence of ADAMTS-15 versicanase activity is clear, with the exception of a Japanese patent there is no clear evidence of ADAMTS-15 aggrecanolytic activity (Yamaji *et al.* 2000). In this thesis, these data demonstrate evidence of ADAMTS-15 aggrecanolytic activity (Figure 3.12). Though it should be noted that since absolute protein concentrations were not

utilised, this assay is qualitative. Therefore, whilst ADAMTS-15 aggrecanase activity appears to be weaker than ADAMTS-5, no absolute comparisons can be made. Several Aggrecan neo-epitopes were analysed, though only AGEG could be detected from ADAMTS-15 aggrecanase activity. Again this suggests that ADAMTS-15 is a relatively weak aggrecanase and therefore Aggrecan may not be the major substrate for ADAMTS-15. Additionally these data indicate that TIMP-3, the broadest inhibitor of the ADAMTSs is able to inhibit ADAMTS-15 aggrecanolytic activity. However, this assay could be improved through the addition of a positive control, such as ADAMTS-5, which is known to be inhibited by TIMP-3. In contrast to *wildtype* ADAMTS-15, the catalytically inactive form of ADAMTS-15 (E362A), did not display aggrecanase activity (Figure 3.12). Therefore the metalloproteinase independent effects of ADAMTS-15 can be discerned in all future functional assays.

3.8 Chapter summary

In summary, whilst the myoepithelial cell lines displayed a dynamic phenotype in culture, several well-established *in vitro* models of breast cancer have been characterised. Transient or stable expression of ADAMTS-15 does not alter the fundamental characteristics of these models and therefore the functional consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression in these systems can be examined. Fundamental aspects about ADAMTS-15 localisation and activity have also been discerned:

- ADAMTS-15 does not affect breast cancer cell growth or viability.
- ADAMTS-15 associates with the ECM via it's ancillary domain.
- ADAMTS-15 has aggrecanase activity that is inhibited by N-TIMP-3.

The following chapter investigates whether ADAMTS-15 modulates the migratory behaviour of human breast cancer cell lines.

Chapter Four: ADAMTS-15 Modulates the Migratory Behaviour of Human Breast Cancer Cell Lines

4.1 Introduction

Functional *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that ADAMTS-15 reduces invasion in colorectal cancer cell lines (Viloria *et al.* 2009). However the functional consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression on breast cancer cell migration are unknown.

4.2 Analysis of migration in 2D assays

4.2.1 Scratch wound assay

The scratch wound assay is typically described as an *in vitro* wound healing model, since inflicted scratch wounds remove the underlying matrix along with a section of the cell layer (Ashby and Zijlstra, 2012; Hsu *et al.* 2012; Krampert *et al.* 2005). Whilst different parameters can be analysed, typically the closure ('healing') of the wound is tracked over time (Methods 2.13). The scratch wound assay is also an informative migration assay, as the directed movement of individual cells into the wound area can also be tracked. A potential limitation of this model is that wound healing can be the result of both cell migration and cell proliferation. Since ADAMTS-15 does not affect breast cancer cell proliferation (Figure 3.9) any observable effects are likely due to a modulation of cell migration.

MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were seeded at high density onto tissue culture plastic in medium containing 10% (vol/vol) serum and allowed to

adhere overnight. The next day 'scratch wounds' were introduced and wound closure was monitored over a period of 24 hours via time-lapse video microscopy. Data are expressed as the percentage of wound closure at 12 and 24 hours post wound. Expression of either *wildtype* (TS15) or catalytically inactive (E362A) ADAMTS-15 in MDA-MB-231 cells were associated with reduced scratch wound recovery in comparison to control (EV) (Figure 4.1). From these data it can be concluded that ADAMTS-15 inhibits breast cancer cell migration in a metalloproteinase independent manner.



Figure 4.1: ADAMTS-15 reduces scratch wound recovery of human breast cancer cells in a metalloproteinase independent manner. Scratch wounds were introduced into monolayers of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells. Wound recovery was determined at the indicated time points, data represent 3-5 individual wells analysed per cell group, error bars represent s.e.m. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

4.2.2 Analysis of random cell migration

To monitor the migration of individual cells a lower seeding density was utilised than that used during the scratch assays. Another notable difference between the scratch wound assay and a 2D cell migration assay is that random cell migration rather than directional migration is tracked (Methods 2.11; Ashby and Zijlstra, 2012).

Individual cells were tracked over a period of 24 hours and Image J plugins ('manual tracking' and 'chemotaxis') were used to quantify migration velocity (µm/min). Expression of either *wildtype* (TS15) or catalytically inactive (E362A) ADAMTS-15 inhibited cell migration in MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells (Figure 4.3). To substantiate that these effects were attributable to ADAMTS-15 cells were transfected either with a smartpool of ADAMTS-15 or control non-targeting siRNAs (Methods 2.11.3). Migrating-siRNA transfected cells were tracked and analysed over a period of 24 hours. Knockdown of *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 (TS15) or E362A restored cell migration to control (EV) levels (Figure 4.3). Western blot analysis of ADAMTS-15 protein in siRNA transfected cells confirmed that ADAMTS-15 knockdown was successful. In concordance with the scratch wound assay these data confirm that ADAMTS-15 reduces breast cancer cell migration in a metalloproteinase independent manner.



Figure 4.2: ADAMTS-15 reduces 2D migration of human breast cancer cells in a metalloproteinase independent manner. 2D migration velocity of MDA-MB-231 (a) or MCF7 (b) human breast cancer cells that constitutively express empty vector control (EV), *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 (TS15) or metalloproteinase inactive ADAMTS-15 (E362A) was determined with time-lapse microscopy over a period of 24 hours, data represent 60 individually tracked cells per group, error bars represent s.e.m. ***p<0.001.



Figure 4.3: Knockdown of ADAMTS-15 abrogates the anti-migratory phenotype. MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells were transfected with either non-targeting siRNA (scrambled) or ADAMTS-15 siRNA. Cell migration was tracked via time-lapse microscopy over a period of 24 hours, data represent 20-28 individually tracked cells per group, error bars represent s.e.m. *p<0.05, ***p<0.001. Accompanying western blot images confirm knockdown of ADAMTS-15. ADAMTS-15 and E362A were detected via anti-FLAG antibody using cell lysate samples of siRNA transfected cells.

4.3 Analysis of matrix specific effects on cell migration

4.3.1 Conditioned matrix migration assay

A conditioned matrix experiment was designed based upon several assays reported in the literature (Methods 2.11.2; Khalkhali-Ellis and Hendrix, 2007; Phillips *et al.* 2008). MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were seeded at high density and cultured for three days in serum conditions until 100% confluency. Cells were removed with EDTA/EGTA to preserve the underlying conditioned matrices. Visual conformation and methylene blue staining was utilised to confirm that EDTA/EGTA treatment successfully removed the cell monolayer (Figure 4.4b). Naïve MDA-MB-231 EV cells were then seeded at low density onto each of the conditioned matrices and 2D migration velocity was tracked.

MDA-MB-231 (EV) cell migration was inhibited when seeded onto ADAMTS-15 conditioned matrices. (Figure 4.4). E362A conditioned matrices also inhibited MDA-MB-231(EV) cell migration, however this was not statistically significant (p=0.06) (Figure 4.5). This may be due to differences in matrix deposition and/or the stability of ADAMTS-15 protein in comparison to E362A protein, however in these assays these parameters were not controlled for. Although matrices from MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A were qualitatively analysed in a Coomassie blue-stained gel and no obvious differences were observed (data not shown). Based upon previous assays it is likely that these conditioned matrices inhibited cell migration due to ECM associated ADAMTS-15 deposited by the conditioning cells. To explore further how ADAMTS-15 might influence

cell-ECM interactions, MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were seeded onto physiologically relevant matrix components.



Figure 4.4: ADAMTS-15 conditioned matrix reduces the migration of human breast cancer cells. MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells that constitutively express EV, TS15 or E362A were cultured for 72h to allow the formation of matrices. Cells were then removed with EDTA/EGTA (5mM) to preserve the underlying matrix. Naive MDA-MB-231 EV cells were then seeded onto the conditioned matrices. (a) 2D migration velocity of MDA-MB-231 (EV) cells was determined with time-lapse microscopy over a period of 24 hours, data represent 60 individually tracked cells per group, error bars represent s.e.m. **p<0.01. E362A was not statistically in comparison to EV, p0.06. (b) Methylene blue staining was utilised to demonstrate that the matrix conditioning cells had been successfully removed prior to the seeding of naïve EV cells.

4.3.2 2D migration on fibronectin, collagen type I and laminin

To understand how ADAMTS-15 might influence the migratory behaviour of breast tumour cells within a mammary matrix context MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were seeded onto surfaces pre-coated with either collagen type I, fibronectin or laminin (Methods 2.11.1). These matrices were selected since they are important within the context of human mammary tissue architecture (Butcher, *et al.* 2009; Gusterson *et al.* 1982; Hancox *et al.* 2009; Mao and Schwarzbauer, 2005).

MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A expressing cells adhered to and migrated on collagen type I at comparable levels (Figure 4.5). However matrix-specific effects were observed on fibronectin and laminin. Expression of TS15 or E362A inhibited the migration of MDA-MB-231 cells on fibronectin and laminin compared to control EV cells (Figure 4.5; Figure 4.6c). The anti-migratory effect is explained in part by the adhesive behaviour of cells which express ADAMTS-15. TS15 and E362A expressing cells displayed a relatively more spread out morphology and in adhesion assays more strongly adhered to laminin and fibronectin in comparison to control cells (Figure 4.5). Migration time lapse images revealed that TS5 and E362A expressing cells adhered strongly enough that cell detachment, particularly from laminin, required extensive cellular force (Figure 4.6a). In some cases adhesion was so strong that cells ruptured their cell membranes in order to de-adhere (Figure 4.6a).

Migration directionality, expressed as a ratio between the Euclidian distance (distance between cell start and finish points) and the accumulated distance (total migrated distance in a given time period) were also quantified in these assays (Figure 4.5). Cells which persistently migrate in a straight line will have a directionality of one, since the distance between the cell start and finish points and the total migrated distance will be equal (Figure 4.6d). Cells with more random migration patterns have a lower level of directionality and could potentially be zero since a cell could migrate back to its original starting point (Figure 4.6d).

Within an *in vivo* context, cells which adhere and migrate along fibronectin fibrils are likely to exhibit more orderly or persistent migration patterns (Bass *et al.* 2007; Mao and Schwarzbauer, 2005; Petrie, Doyle and Yamada, 2009). Since aberrant regulation of cell adhesion processes is likely to result in random migration patterns directionality can provide a qualitative indicator of the ability of cells to modulate behaviours in response to the ECM (Bass *et al.* 2007; Petrie *et al.* 2012; Petrie, Doyle and Yamada, 2009; Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009; Spiering and Hodgson, 2011). Expression of ADAMTS-15 and E362A enhanced directionality on fibronectin and laminin matrices (Figure 4.5). Therefore there may be differences in the level or activity of cell adhesion receptors in cells, which express ADAMTS-15. To this end the integrin profiles of these cells were examined.



Figure 4.5: ADAMTS-15 reduces 2D migration on Fibronectin and Laminin. (a) MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells were seeded onto 24 well plates that were pre-coated with either Collagen type I, Laminin or Fibronectin. Cell migration was tracked via time-lapse microscopy over a period of 24 hours, data represent 20-39 individually tracked cells per group, error bars represent s.e.m.; ***p<0.001. (b) The migration directionality (Euclidian distance / accumulated distance) of each individually tracked cell was also determined. Data represent 20-39 individually tracked cells per group, error bars represent s.e.m. *p<0.05, **p<0.01. (c) MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells were seeded onto 24 well plates that were pre-coated with either Collagen type I, Laminin or Fibronectin. At 4hours post seeding the cell spread area (pixel area) of individual cells was determined using ImageJ, data represent 57 individually analysed cells per group, error bars represent s.e.m.; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 (d) Adhesion assay. MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells were seeded onto 96 well plates that were pre-coated with either Collagen type I, Laminin or Fibronectin. Adhered cells were fixed and stained with Methanol/Methylene Blue. Absorbance (630nm) was measured and TS15, E362A values were normalised to the average EV absorbance value, six wells per cell group were analysed, error bars represent s.e.m.; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.



Figure 4.6: MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells on laminin and fibronectin. (a) Images of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells that have adhered to a laminin-coated surface. The white arrows highlight the adhesive behaviour of representative cells. TS15 and E362A cells adhered strongly to laminin in comparison to EV cells, to the extent that detachment from the matrix often resulted in a tearing of the cell membrane. (b) Images of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells that have adhered to a fibronectin-coated surface. (c) Cell migration pathways of cells adhered to a fibronectin-coated surface as analysed by Image J plugins manual tracking and chemotaxis. All images are representative of the matrix migration assays in figure 4.5 (d) Schematic explanation of directionality.

4.3.3 ADAMTS-15 expression is associated with an altered integrin profile

Adhesion to fibronectin and laminin was enhanced in TS15 and E362A expressing cells. Therefore there may be differences in the level of expression or activity of cell adhesion receptors in cells which express ADAMTS-15. To this end the integrin profiles of these cells were examined.

Integrin α 5 partners with integrin β 1 to bind to fibronectin (Humphries *et al.* 2006). Expression of integrin α 5, as determined my qRT-PCR, was approximately 2-fold higher in TS15 and E362A expressing cells, which potentially explains why these cells adhered more strongly to fibronectin (Figure 4.5; Figure 4.8). However due to time constraints integrin α 5 was not examined at the protein level.

Laminin is the ligand for several integrin heterodimers including, $\alpha 6\beta 1$ and $\alpha 6\beta 4$ (Humphries *et al.* 2006). Expression of integrin $\beta 1$, as determined my qRT-PCR, was approximately 2-fold higher in TS15 and E362A expressing cells, which potentially explains why these cells adhered more strongly to laminin (Figure 4.5; Figure 4.6; Figure 4.8). However at the protein-level there were no overt differences in either integrin $\beta 1$ or $\alpha 6$ (Figure 4.7a). Flow cytometric analysis did not detect any differences in the surface levels of integrin $\beta 1$ either (Figure 4.7b). To examine whether integrin $\beta 1$ was differentially activated, cells were stained with $\beta 1$ -12G10 antibody, which preferentially binds to active integrin $\beta 1$ (Methods 2.25; Humphries *et al.* 2005). However no differences were observed in the level of active integrin $\beta 1$ in these cells (Figure 3.10a). However differences in the laminin binding integrin $\beta 4$ were detected. MDA-MB-

231 TS15 and E362A expressing cells were associated with an increased level of total integrin β 4 in comparison to control EV cells (Figure 4.7a). Whilst EV and indeed parental MDA-MB-231 cells do express integrin β 4, the levels of total β 4 were consistently higher in TS15 and E362A expressing cells in multiple independent western blots. As noted before the ligand for integrin α 6 β 4 is laminin, thus increased levels of β 4 may explain the adhesion and migration phenotype observed in TS15 and E362A cells. However, a caveat to this analysis is that based upon these flow Cytometry data there are no differences in the surface level of integrin β 4 in either control (EV), TS15 or E362A expressing cells (Figure 4.7b; Methods 2.26).

It should also be noted that not all laminin and fibronectin binding integrin heterodimers were examined in this study. An in depth examination of integrin signalling, localisation and trafficking may be required in future studies to fully characterise the matrix specific effects observed in TS15 and E362A expressing cells.



Figure 4.7: ADAMTS-15 expression is associated with an altered integrin profile. (a) Western blot analysis of the integrin profiles of MDA-MB-231 cells that constitutively express EV, ADAMTS-15 or E362A. Data are representative of three independently collected samples (b) Flow Cytometry analysis of the surface levels of Integrin β 4 and Integrin β 1 on MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells. Data are representative of three independently collected cell samples.



Figure 4.8: Expression profile of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells. qRT-PCR analysis of gene expression in MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells. Relative expression levels are shown as a Ct value heat-map. The displayed Ct values are averaged from three independently collected RNA samples. These data are an extended set from that shown in figure 3.8. See appendix A7 to see an expanded version of this data set.

4.4 Investigation of potential involvement of syndecan-4 in ADAMTS-15 effect on cell migration

As discussed in the introduction chapter there seems to be an intimate connection between the syndecans and the ADAMTSs, which co-ordinate with other metalloproteinases to regulate cell-ECM interactions. This is particularly apparent since ADAMTS-1 shedding of syndecan-4 from the cell surface results in a functional loss of cell adhesion and promotes a pro-migratory phenotype with a concomitant loss of migration directionality (Bass *et al.* 2007; Choi *et al.* 2011; Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009).

In light of these studies and since both ADAMTS-15 and syndecan-4 are antimigratory there may be a functional link. Interestingly, expression of TS15 and E362A in MDA-MB-231 cells were associated with increased surface levels of syndecan-4 in comparison to control EV cells (Figure 4.9). Yet expression of the syndecan-4 sheddases ADAMTS-1 and -4 were approximately 2-fold higher in TS15 and E362A expressing cells (Figure 4.8). Thus it could be inferred that ADAMTS-15 may be protecting syndecan-4 from sheddase activity.

In agreement with this hypothesis knockdown of syndecan-4 in MDA-MB-231 TS15 and E362A expressing cells abrogated the anti-migratory phenotype (Figure 4.10). Directionality was also lost upon knockdown of syndecan-4 in TS15 and E362A expressing cells (Figure 4.10), whilst syndecan-4 knockdown in control cells elicited no effect (Figure 4.10). Based on these data it is possible that syndecan-4 and ADAMTS-15 are functionally linked within the context of regulating breast tumour cell migration. ADAMTS-15 may protect syndecan-4 from sheddase action, thus promoting the anti-migratory effects of syndecan-4.

To explore this link further, the effects of modulation of PKC α signalling, which lies downstream of syndecan-4, were examined.



Figure 4.9: ADAMTS-15 expression is associated with increased levels of syndecan-4 on the cell surface. Flow Cytometry analysis of the surface levels of Syndecan-4 (Black) on MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells. Graphs are representative and median fluorescence intensity values were averaged from three independently collected cell samples. IgG isotype control (White) antibody was utilised as a negative control.



Figure 4.10: Knockdown of Syndecan-4 abrogates ADAMTS-15 antimigratory phenotype. (a) MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells were transfected with either non-targeting siRNA (control) or Syndecan-4 siRNA and cell migration tracked via time-lapse microscopy over a period of 24 hours, data represent 50 individually tracked cells per group, error bars represent s.e.m.; ***p<0.001. (b) The migration directionality (Euclidian distance / accumulated distance) of each individually tracked cell was also determined, data represent 50 individually tracked cells, error bars represent s.e.m.; *p=0.05, ***p<0.001. (c) Flow cytometry analysis of surface levels of Syndecan-4 on MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells that were transfected with either non-targeting control siRNA (White) or syndecan-4 siRNA (Black). Isotype secondary antibody, IgG (Grey), was utilised as a staining control. Reduction in surface Syndecan-4 was determined as a percentage reduction of median fluorescence from cells transfected with syndecan-4 siRNA vs. control siRNA. Graphs are representative and median fluorescence intensity values were averaged from three independently collected cell samples.

4.5 Analysis of the involvement of signalling pathways that might be involved in mediating the ADAMTS-15 anti-migratory phenotype

4.5.1 PKC signalling

PKC α signalling is intimately connected to syndecan-4 since none of the other syndecan family members contain a PKC α binding motif within their cytoplasmic domains (Keum *et al.* 2004; Oh, Woods and Couchman, 1997). Upon engagement with fibronectin, the cytoplasmic domain of syndecan-4 recruits, stabilises and activates PKC α at the plasma membrane (Keum *et al.* 2004; Oh, Woods and Couchman, 1997). PKC α signalling feeds into cell adhesion and migration pathways through the activation of Rac1 and RhoA (Avalos *et al.* 2009; Carr *et al.* 2013). Since PKC α mediates syndecan-4 signalling, pharmacological activation or inhibition of PKC α may provide some insight into the role of syndecan-4 in the ADAMTS-15 anti-migratory phenotype.

MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were treated with 0-100nM of phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA), a known activator of PKC signalling (Methods 2.11; Keum *et al.* 2004; Oh, Woods and Couchman, 1997). Treatment of MDA-MB-231 cells with either 50nM or 100nM PMA stimulated cell migration (Figure 4.11a). Thus PMA-mediated activation of PKCα abrogated the anti-migratory phenotype.

However, PMA is not a specific activator of PKCα, since it is known from previous studies that in addition to PKCα, PMA also stimulates PKCδ (Brodie *et al.* 2004; Murakami *et al.* 2004; Shanmugam *et al.* 1998). PKCδ serves as a

negative regulator of PKC α activity, since overexpression of PKC δ is associated with decreased PKC α activity, at least in endothelial cells (Murakami *et al.* 2004). Whilst PKC α establishes pro-adhesive and regulated migratory structures, PKC δ signalling on the other hand favours impaired cell migration (Brodie *et al.* 2004; Murakami *et al.* 2004). Therefore PMA stimulation of PKC signalling may have imposed an imbalance in these signalling pathways, towards the observed pro-migratory phenotype (Figure 4.11a).

PMA also activates ERK1/2 signalling which is known to enhance tumour cell migration (Brodie *et al.* 2004; von Thun *et al.* 2012). Whilst this may suggest that PMA treatment may have stimulated migration independently of syndecan-4 signalling, PKC δ has been shown to activate ERK1/2 (Brodie *et al.* 2004; Keshamouni, Mattingly and Reddy, 2002).

Another interpretation of these data is that PMA may have accelerated the shedding of syndecan-4 through an induction of the expression of several metalloproteinases, including the syndecan-4 sheddase ADAMTS-1 (Brule *et al.* 2006; Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009; Worley *et al.* 2009). Thus PMA stimulation may have accelerated the shedding of syndecan-4 such that any protective effects elicited by ADAMTS-15 were overcome (Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009).

Conversely treatment with the PKC inhibitor, bisindolylmaleimide I (BIM I) suppressed migration in control cells, yet had no effect on TS15 or E362A expressing cells (Figure 4.11a; Methods 2.11; Avalos *et al.* 2009; Bass *et al.* 2007; Keum *et al.* 2004). Arguably PKC signalling in TS15 and E362A cells is already reduced such that the addition of an inhibitor has no effect. It can be

speculated that these data highlight that PKC signalling may be tightly regulated in ADAMTS-15 expressing cells such that PKC signalling is localised to syndecan-4 focal adhesion complexes. However until syndecan-4/PKC activity and localisation is examined in greater detail these data are supportive, but not conclusive of a functional link between ADAMTS-15 and syndecan-4. To this end several other signalling pathways were also examined.



Figure 4.11: Modulation of signalling pathways down-stream of Syndecan-4 abrogates ADAMTS-15 anti-migratory phenotype. (a) MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells were treated with 0-100nM phorbol 12-myristate 13acetate (PMA) and cell migration tracked via time-lapse microscopy over a period of 24 hours. Data represent the mean of at least 15 individually tracked cells per group, error bars represent s.e.m.; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001. (b) MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells were treated with 0 μ M or 1 μ M BIM I and cell migration tracked via time-lapse microscopy over a period of 24 hours, Data represent 30 individually tracked cells per group, error bars represent s.e.m. *p<0.05, ***p<0.001.

4.5.2 EGF signalling

Following EGF stimulation MDA-MB-231 cells expressing either TS15 or E362A displayed reduced 2D migration at EGF concentrations up to 50ng/ml (Figure 4.12; Methods 2.11). However, at 100ng/ml EGF, the migration levels of cells expressing TS15 or E362A were restored to control (EV) levels. The effect of ADAMTS-15 expression on pERK activation was investigated in greater detail via a pERK activation time course assay. MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were treated with EGF (50ng/ml) for the indicated times and then analysed via western blot (Figure 4.12). Whilst these western blots are not definitive it appears that EV cells show an increase in activation of pERK at 30 minutes post EGF stimulation, whereas TS15 and E362A expressing cells display a delayed activation of pERK at 60 minutes post EGF stimulation. This pattern was generally consistent across the two independent experiments shown; however there was some inter-experimental variability.

Together these data indicate that independent of its catalytic activity, ADAMTS-15 reduces the sensitivity of cells to the migration stimulatory effects of EGF. This is consistent with reports that ADAMTS-15 expression inhibits ERK activation in colorectal cancer cells (Viloria *et al.* 2009).



Figure 4.12: ADAMTS-15 reduces the sensitivity of breast cancer cells to the migration stimulatory effects of EGF. (Top) MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells were treated with 0-100ng/ml EGF and cell migration tracked via time-lapse microscopy over a period of 24 hours, n=30-40, error bars represent s.e.m.; ** $p \le 0.01$, *** $p \le 0.001$. (Bottom) WB analysis of pERK activation post EGF stimulation (50ng/ml final concentration). Two independent experiments are shown. Protein sizes: ADAMTS-15 ~103kDa, ERK/pERK 42/44 kDa).

4.5.3 ROCK signalling

MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were treated with an established and specific inhibitor of the Rho-associated kinases (ROCK) (Brew et al. 2009; Narumiya, Ishizaki and Uehata, 2000). Treatment with Y-27632 inhibited the migration of MDA-MB-231 control cells (EV), yet had no statistical effect on the migration of ADAMTS-15 expressing cells (Figure 4.13). Whilst not statistically significant, Y-27632 may have slightly enhanced the migration of E362Aexpressing cells (Figure 4.13). It is well established that inhibition of ROCK signalling has an anti-migratory effect, since ROCK-inhibited cells fail to form stable focal adhesion complexes from which cells can generate the forces needed to migrate (Brew et al. 2009; Narumiya, Ishizaki and Uehata, 2000). Therefore it is not surprising that Y-27632 inhibited the migration of MDA-MB-231 control cells (EV). It is however interesting that inhibition of ROCK signalling did not completely abolish the migratory capacity of ADAMTS-15 expressing cells. These data suggest that ROCK signalling is to some extent already inhibited in ADAMTS-15 expressing cells. Since RhoA (and Rac1) is frequently overexpressed in invasive breast tumours, lower levels of ROCK activation in ADAMTS-15 expressing cells may be a putative anti-migratory mechanism (Brew et al. 2009).



Figure 4.13: ROCK inhibitor Y27632 does not affect the ADAMTS-15 antimigratory phenotype. MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells were treated with 0-10 μ M Y27632 and cell migration tracked via time-lapse microscopy over a period of 24 hours, data represent 27-37 individually tracked cells per group, error bars represent s.e.m. **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

4.5.4 Global effects on kinase phosphorylation

To examine global effects on cell signalling pathways that are associated with expression of ADAMTS-15 an R&D phosphokinase array was utilised (Methods 2.24). Cell lysates from MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were incubated with membranes that were pre-printed with anti-phospho-kinase antibodies for 43 different kinases. The membranes were imaged using HRP and phosphokinase levels determined through an analysis of the pixel density of antibody detection spots. Pixel density is dependent upon the level of phosphokinases in cell lysate samples that bind to the anti-phospho-kinase antibodies. Raw data were plotted and analysed according to the observed patterns (Figure 4.14; Appendix 6).

Kinases with increased (activity-independent activation) or decreased (activityindependent inhibition) phosphorylation levels in both TS15 and E362A cells compared to EV, may indicate functional consequences that are independent of ADAMTS-15 metalloproteinase proteolytic activity. The phosphorylation levels of several kinases including Fyn, Lyn, Lck and Yes were all reduced in TS15 and E362A cells compared to control. These kinases lie downstream of integrin β 4 and are involved in regulating cell migration pathways (Figure 4.14b).

Kinases with increased (TS15-dependent activation) or decreased (TS15dependent inhibition) phosphorylation levels specifically in TS15 cells may indicate functional consequences of ADAMTS-15 proteolytic activity. Interestingly ERK 1/2 phosphorylation levels were higher specifically in TS15 overexpressing cells (TS15 dependent-activation). Yet ADAMTS-15 has been reported to reduce basal levels of pERK in ADAMTS-15 transfected HCT-116 cells (Viloria *et al.* 2009). Perhaps these differences indicate differences in breast and colorectal cancer cell lines or that ADAMTS-15 functions differently depending upon context. Conversely ERK signalling is involved in regulating cell proliferation, yet over expression of ADAMTS-15 does not affect breast cancer cell proliferation (Figure 3.4). Several pERK antibodies are reported to be sensitive enough to detect as little as 50pg of phosphorylated MAP kinase protein, therefore it is possible that these signal differences may only represent small differences in detectable protein levels. In addition to this only one cell lysate sample was used for each cell line and therefore this result may be an outlier.

Several kinases showed no difference (c-Jun, MSK1/2 and JNK pan) or were ambiguous (p53-S392, Pyk2, Chk-2 and eNOS) in that the observed changes did not show a consistent pattern, and may simply be background 'noise'. Kinases with increased (E362A-dependent activation) or decreased (E362Adependent inhibition) phosphorylation levels specifically in E362A cells were equally puzzling yet 21% of the kinases examined displayed an E362Adependent pattern. It is unclear how the metalloproteinase inactive form of ADAMTS-15 (E362A) could have a 'gain-of-function', though it is possible that E362A could act as a dominant-negative against endogenous ADAMTS-15. However no E362A specific effects have been observed in any functional assay and therefore it is possible that these patterns are also random 'noise'.



Figure 4.14: Global effects on kinase phosphorylation in ADAMTS-15 expressing cells. Cell lysates from MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A were incubated with membranes that were pre-treated with anti-phosphokinase antibodies as part of the R&D Human phosphokinase array kit. (a) An analysis of HRP signal pixel density was utilised to determine the levels of kinase activation compared to control spots on the membrane. (b) Genomatix cloud based software was utilised to highlight kinases (yellow) that were less active in TS15 and E362A cells compared to control EV cells. Genes shown in grey are there to demonstrate several cell migration/integrin signalling pathways that the highlighted kinases are a part of. Data represent one cell lysate sample per cell group.

4.6 Analysis of migration in 3D matrices

The ADAMTS-15 anti-migratory phenotype has largely been characterised within a 2D context, yet cells exist within a 3D environment *in vivo*. Whilst 2D assays are informative cells may exhibit behaviours that are more physiologically relevant when seeded within 3D matrices. For instance cells exhibit different modes of migration when seeded into a 3D context in comparison to 2D tissue culture environments (Ashby *et al.* 2012; Blobel *et al.* 2010; Even-Ram and Yamada, 2005; Friedl *et al.* 2012; Petrie *et al.* 2012). To address this, ADAMTS-15 expressing breast tumour cells were seeded within either collagen type I gels or matrigel (Methods 2.12). Because cells could migrate up or down through these 3D gels, multiple planes on the Z-axis were captured. This was an appropriate precaution since cells did migrate into and out of the ideal focal plane. However cells could still be tracked and analysed in a similar manner to the method established for 2D assays.

Another notable difference between 2D and 3D assays is that cells may need to proteolytically degrade the 3D matrix in order to clear a migration pathway. Therefore the surface levels of the collagenase MT1-MMP were analysed since this membrane bound metalloproteinase has been shown to enhance the invasive potential of tumour cells, in part through the degradation and clearing of collagen (Eisenach *et al.* 2012; Ota *et al.* 2009; Sabeh *et al.* 2004). Surface levels of MT1-MMP were equivalent in MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A expressing cells and in agreement with 2D migration data ADAMTS-15 expression does not affect cell migration either on or through collagen type I (Figure 4.5; 4.15b-c).

Interestingly expression of TS15 or E362A did reduce 3D migration of MDA-MB-231 cells, through matrigel in comparison to empty vector (EV control) cells (Figure 4.15). Since Matrigel is a mix of several basement membrane matrix components including laminin these data are in agreement with the matrix specific effects of ADAMTS-15 observed in 2D migration assays (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.15: ADAMTS-15 reduces 3D migration through matrigel but not collagen type I in a metalloproteinase independent manner. MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were seeded into Matrigel (**a**) or Collagen type I gels (**b**). 3D cell migration tracked via time-lapse microscopy over a period of 24 hours, data represent 43 individually tracked cells per group, error bars represent s.e.m. *p<0.05, ***p<0.001 (**c**) Flow cytometry analysis of surface levels of MT1-MMP on MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells. Data are representative of three independently collected cell samples per group.

4.7 Discussion

4.7.1 ADAMTS-15 inhibits cell migration in a metalloproteinase independent manner

ADAMTS-15 is emerging as an anti-migratory metalloproteinase, which so far has been shown to reduce the invasive potential of colorectal cancer cell lines *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Viloria *et al.* 2009). Thus an inhibition of the invasive potential of tumour cells may be the putative protective mechanism that underpins the increased survival prospects for breast and colorectal cancer patients that express ADAMTS-15 (Porter *et al.* 2006; Viloria *et al.* 2009). In light of these studies the aim of this chapter was to investigate the functional consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression on human breast cancer cell migration. To this end several migration assays were utilised, including the scratch wound assay.

The scratch wound assay is typically described as an *in vitro* wound healing model, since inflicted scratch wounds remove the underlying matrix along with a section of the cell layer (Ashby and Zijlstra, 2012; Hsu *et al.* 2012; Krampert *et al.* 2005). Wounding is typically a manual process, which adds a level of variability to these assays since scratches may not always be perfectly uniform and cells along the wound edges may be inadvertently damaged. To ensure consistency, cell density and wounding strategies were optimised prior to the experiments and non-uniform scratches were excluded from the analysis.

These data show for the first time, that expression of ADAMTS-15 reduces the scratch wound recovery of human breast cancer cells (Figure 4.1). Wound closure can also be a consequence of cell proliferation, though based upon data
presented earlier, ADAMTS-15 does not affect breast cancer cell proliferation (Figure 3.9), and thus it is likely that ADAMTS-15 inhibited scratch wound closure through an inhibition of cell migration (Figure 4.1). In addition to this the expression of the metalloproteinase-inactive form of ADAMTS-15 (E362A) also reduced scratch wound recovery (Figure 4.1). Therefore, ADAMTS-15 inhibition of cell migration is independent of its catalytic activity.

The scratch wound assay can be adapted to examine individual or collective migration. For collective migration assays, the cell monolayers at either side of the scratch have the potential to collectively migrate into the wound (Bindschadler and McGrath, 2007; Riahi *et al.* 2012). However, close examination of the time-lapse images reveals that in these assays, the cells tended to migrate individually into the scratch wound (Figure 4.1). In light of this, these data are not sufficient to examine any influence ADAMTS-15 might have on collective cell migration. Nevertheless, future studies should examine this, since collective migration during embryonic development and tumour cell invasion may be mediated by several metalloproteinases (Ismat, Cheshire and Andrew, 2013). It is therefore possible that ADAMTS-15 might have a role in the regulation of collective cell migration. To investigate this Matrigel spheroid assays could be utilised as previously described (Dang, Prechtl, and Pearson, 2011; Serres *et al.*, 2013).

Whilst collective cell migration could not be examined, cell density is still an important factor to consider since cell-cell interactions are known to influence cell behaviour. However, in this case, expression of ADAMTS-15 inhibited breast cancer cell migration even when cells were seeded at a low density (Figure 4.2). These 2D migration assays were also adapted such that siRNA

knockdown of TS15 or E362A restored migration to control, EV levels (Figure 4.3). In combination these data demonstrate a robust and reproducible association between ADAMTS-15 expression and a metalloproteinase independent inhibition of breast cancer cell migration.

4.7.2 ADAMTS-15 modulates cell-ECM interactions

Previously, ECM associated ADAMTS-15 has been shown to reduce the invasive potential of colorectal cancer cell lines (Viloria *et al.* 2009). Whilst the mechanism was not identified, these data suggest that ADAMTS-15 might modulate cell-ECM interactions and influence cell migration. To determine whether ECM associated ADAMTS-15 is functionally capable of modulating breast cancer cell migration, several matrix assays were established, including an adapted conditioned matrix assay (Khalkhali-Ellis and Hendrix, 2007; Phillips *et al.* 2008). To summarise these conditioned matrix data, ADAMTS-15 and to a lesser extent, E362A conditioned matrices inhibited the migration of naïve EV control cells (Figure 4.4). Therefore these data provide additional evidence that ECM-deposited ADAMTS-15 inhibits breast cancer cell migration and by extension ADAMTS-15 modulates cell-ECM interactions.

A potential limitation of the conditioned matrix assay is that the absolute amount of deposited matrix was not quantified. Instead conditioned matrix samples were visualised in Coomassie blue-stained gels (data not shown). Whilst there were no qualitative differences in matrix deposition, a quantitative analysis of matrix deposition may be required for future studies. Thus matrix variability could potentially explain why E362A conditioned matrices did not inhibit cell migration to the same extent as TS15 conditioned matrices. Differences in protein stability between *wildtype* and E362A forms of ADAMTS-15 may have also contributed to these disparities. Nevertheless, as previously discussed, attempts were made to control for these factors. For instance conditioned cells were seeded at a density that was informed through the optimisation of the scratch wound assay and as discussed in chapter 3, the mRNA and protein levels of TS15 and E362A were comparable between the appropriate cell lines (Figure 3.6; Figure 3.8). In summary, reasonable controls were enacted to ensure that MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells would lay down comparable levels of matrices.

In addition to the conditioned matrix assays, MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were seeded onto surfaces pre-coated with either collagen type I, fibronectin or laminin. These matrices were selected since they are ECM components that are found within human mammary tissue architecture (Butcher, *et al.* 2009; Gusterson *et al.* 1982; Hancox *et al.* 2009; Mao and Schwarzbauer, 2005). As expected ADAMTS-15 inhibited cell migration in a metalloproteinase-independent manner, however in these assays the effects were matrix specific. Expression of TS15 or E362A inhibited cell migration on fibronectin and laminin but not collagen type I (Figure 4.5). In all other assays (e.g. scratch wound) cells were seeded with serum-supplemented media. Since serum contains fibronectin, essentially ADAMTS-15 was inhibiting cell migration on a fibronectin-enriched matrix.

These matrix specific effects can be explained in part by the adhesive behaviour of ADAMTS-15 expressing cells. TS15 and E362A expressing cells display a relatively more spread out morphology and in adhesion assays more strongly adhered to laminin and fibronectin in comparison to EV control cells (Figure 4.5). There were no differences in cell adhesion on collagen type I (Figure 4.5). Migration time-lapse images also revealed that TS15 and E362A expressing cells adhered to the extent that cell detachment, particularly from laminin, required extensive cellular force (Figure 4.6a). In some cases cell adhesion was so strong that cells ruptured their cell membranes in order to de-adhere (Figure 4.6a).

These matrix specific effects were also recapitulated within 3D migration models that are more representative of the 3D *in vivo* tissue environment (Ashby *et al.* 2012; Blobel *et al.* 2010; Even-Ram and Yamada, 2005; Friedl *et al.* 2012; Petrie *et al.* 2012). MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were seeded within either collagen type I gels or Matrigel, a basement membrane matrix solution, that includes laminins, collagen type IV and fibronectin. In agreement with the 2D migration assays, the inhibition of 3D cell migration was also matrix specific: ADAMTS-15 inhibited breast cancer cell migration in a metalloproteinase-independent manner through Matrigel but not collagen type I gels (Figure 4.15). Thus ADAMTS-15 modulates interactions between breast tumour cells and specific components of the surrounding extracellular matrix. As an extension of this, it can be argued that these matrix specific effects provide insight into the broader significance of ADAMTS-15 during breast tumourigenesis.

4.7.3 Importance of ADAMTS-15 during breast tumourigenesis

Within the ductal structures of the breast, it is the ADAMTS-15 expressing myoepithelial cells that maintain breast tissue architecture (Adriance et al. 2005; Butcher et al. 2009; Gordon et al. 2003). Since ADAMTS-15 enhances cell adhesion to basement membrane proteins, it is possible that expression of ADAMTS-15 is one of the mechanisms through which myoepithethial cells maintain breast tissue integrity (Figure 4.5; Figure 4.15; Adriance et al. 2005; Butcher et al. 2009; Gordon et al. 2003). In other words, during breast tumourigenesis ADAMTS-15 may be protective since it may function to restrain tumour cells within the basement membrane. Tumour cells might tolerate the presence of myoepithelial derived ADAMTS-15 during the earlier stages of tumourigenesis, due to ADAMTS-15 having no observable influence on breast tumour cell proliferation (Figure 3.9). Indeed there are no differences in ADAMTS-15 expression between cancer and normal tissues (Porter et al. 2004; 2006). During the transition to invasive disease however, breast architecture becomes increasingly aberrant (poorly differentiated), the myoepithelialbasement membrane interface is lost and tumour cells are more freely able to invade into the surrounding tissue (Adriance et al. 2005; Butcher et al. 2009; Gordon et al. 2003; Hsiao et al. 2011; Porter et al. 2004; 2006; Jones, 2006; Polyak and Hu, 2005). Within this context, ADAMTS-15 expression is lost and as a consequence the invasive potential of luminal epithelial cells is enhanced (Porter et al. 2004; Porter et al. 2006; Viloria et al. 2009).

As well as the loss of the basement membrane, additional changes in the ECM also occur during breast tumourigenesis. The extracellular matrix 'stiffens' due

to the increased deposition of collagen type I and other matrix components. These changes enhance the invasive and metastatic potential of tumour cells (Gusterson et al. 1982; Hojilla et al. 2008; Kakkad et al. 2012; Mueller and Fusenig, 2004; Spivey et al. 2012; Svetlanaet al. 2007). As a side note, the MDA-MB-231 cells used in this study were also chosen since they are intrinsically capable of proliferating, adhering and migrating within stiff matrix environments (Tilghman et al. 2010). Therefore, the poorly differentiated MDA-MB-231 cells, within the 3D collagen type I gels are an appropriate model of the 'stiff-matrix' environment that occurs post-DCIS. Within this 'stiff-matrix' environment ADAMTS-15 expression did not alter the intrinsic capabilities of MDA-MB-231 cells to adhere and migrate on or through collagen type I (Figure 4.5; Figure 4.15). However, like other ADAMTSs, ADAMTS-15 may have additional tumour suppressor functions, beyond the ability to restrain tumour cells within the breast ductal structure, which will be covered in the subsequent chapter. Before moving onto these additional tumour suppressor functions. these matrix specific effects were examined further. To provide a greater mechanistic insight, the integrin profiles of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were examined, since differences in the expression of fibronectin and laminin binding integrins could explain why ADAMTS-15 expressing cells adhered more strongly to these matrices.

Several integrins were profiled that are known to bind to either fibronectin and/or laminin. Integrin β 1 was examined since it is capable of forming into 6 laminin and 3 fibronectin adhesion complexes, depending upon which α subunit forms the heterodimer pair (Table 1.5). Expression of integrin β 1, as determined by qRT-PCR, was approximately 2x higher in MDA-MB-231 TS15 and E362A cells in comparison to control EV cells (Figure 4.8). These data are suggestive that ADAMTS-15 expressing cells may express higher levels of integrin β 1 containing adhesion complexes. Yet at the protein level there were no differences in either total or active integrin β 1 (Figure 3.10a; Figure 4.7). The surface levels of integrin β 1 were also unaffected by expression of ADAMTS-15 (Figure 4.7). Expression of integrin α 5, as determined by qRT-PCR, was also approximately 2x higher in TS15 and E362A expressing cells (Figure 4.8). Since α 5 β 1 binds fibronectin these data may provide mechanistic insight into the ADAMTS-15 associated matrix specific effects (Table 1.5).

Integrin α 6 can partner with either integrin β 1 or β 4, to form a laminin binding adhesion complex (Bass, Morgan and Humphries, 2007; Wang *et al.* 2010). Whilst there were no differences in α 6 or β 1 total protein, interestingly total integrin β 4 protein is increased in MDA-MB-231 TS15 and E362A cells (Figure 4.7). Earlier discussions have presented the context through which ADAMTS-15 may function to maintain breast tissue integrity. This has clear synergies with what is already known about integrin β 4 and its role in regulating cell adhesion and migration, however at this point a functional link between ADAMTS-15 and β 4 is largely circumstantial. Nevertheless this will be of interest to future studies and therefore warrants some discussion.

An increase in total integrin β 4 may have a biological significance in breast tissues, since integrin α 6 β 4 signalling regulates epithelial cell polarity (Litjens, de Pereda and Sonnenberg, 2006; Gilcrease *et al.* 2007; Natali *et al.* 1992). Integrin α 6 β 4 is an essential component of the hemidesmosome adhesion complex, which functions to anchor cells, such as epithelial cells to laminin-5 (332) in the basement membrane (Litjens, de Pereda and Sonnenberg, 2006; van der Neut *et al.* 1996; Wang *et al.* 2010). In combination these integrin α 6 β 4mediated processes act to establish and maintain the integrity of breast tissue architecture. The regulation of hemidesmosomes, particularly in a cancer context, is complex and involves extensive signalling crosstalk between α 6 β 4, EGFR, syndecans and other cell surface receptors (Mariotti *et al.*, 2001; Wang *et al.* 2010). Interactions between α 6 β 4 and plectin are known to initiate the formation of type II hemidesosomes (Litjens, de Pereda and Sonnenberg, 2006). The tetraspanin CD151 may also join during the early stages of hemidesomosme formation, followed by BP180 and BP230 (Litjens, de Pereda and Sonnenberg, 2006). Typically, integrin α 3 β 1, syndecans and EGFR are recruited once the hemidesomosme reaches a mature state (Litjens, de Pereda and Sonnenberg, 2006).

During the transition to invasive breast cancer, hemidesmosomes are disassembled and integrin α 6 β 4 is re-distributed along the leading edge of the migrating cell (Mariotti *et al.* 2001; van der Neut *et al.* 1996; Wang *et al.* 2010). A re-distribution of α 201 to the lamellipodia is associated with increased invasive potential and a poor clinical outcome for breast cancer patients (Gabarra *et al.* 2010; Gordon *et al.* 2003; Natali *et al.* 1992). Hemidesmosome disassembly is mediated either by activated EGFRs which can phosphorylate several tyrosine residues (Tyr- 1257, 1440, 1494 and 1526) and/or PKC-mediated phosphorylation of several serine residues (Ser-1356, 1360, and 1364) within the β 4 signalling domain (Mariotti *et al.*, 2001; Rabinovitz, Tsomo, and Mercurio, 2004; Wang *et al.* 2010). These signalling events alter the conformation of the β 4 cytoplasmic domain, perturb β 4-plectin interactions and

ultimately lead to the physical disassembly of the hemidesmosome complex (Mariotti *et al.*, 2001; Wang *et al.* 2010).

Interestingly, ADAMTS-15 and E362A expressing breast tumour cells are relatively insensitive to both EGF and PMA (PKC activator) (Figure 4.11, 4.12). Thus it is possible that ADAMTS-15 may inhibit signalling pathways which lead to the disassembly of hemidesmosomes. This hypothesis is also consistent with the phosphokinase array data. Several kinases, which lie downstream of integrin β4, such as Fyn, show reduced activation in TS15 and E362A expressing cells (Figure 4.14). It is already known that an inhibition of Fyn increases the stability of hemidesmosomes and that stable hemidesmosome complexes suppress cancer cell migration and invasion (Kashyap et al. 2011; Mariotti et al., 2001; Rabinovitz, Tsomo, and Mercurio, 2004). Therefore it is possible that ADAMTS-15 and α 6 β 4 might act synergistically to anchor epithelial cells to the laminin-enriched basement membrane. In doing so, ADAMTS-15 may restrain epithelial cell migration and act to maintain breast tissue integrity. There is a distinct possibility that ADAMTS-15 might directly interact with hemidesmosomal integrin β 4 or β 1 via its disintegrin domain and thus act to stabilise hemidesmosomes directly. Although as of yet, there is no evidence of direct ADAMTS:integrin interactions. As an additional factor to consider, ADAMTS-15 expression did not alter the surface levels of integrin β 4, as analysed by flow cytometry (Figure 4.7). Therefore the functional distribution and recycling of β 4, rather than simply its total protein level may be more informative in terms of understanding how ADAMTS-15 inhibits cell migration on laminin. Future studies could utilise more sophisticated co-culture assays, such as the organoid models utilised by Holliday et al. 2009. These systems are better equipped to examine any co-incidental link between hemidesmosome and basement membrane disassembly, the redistribution of α 6 β 4 into lamellipodia and the loss of ADAMTS-15, which may all temporally coincide during the transition to invasive breast cancer.

4.7.3 ADAMTS-15 and syndecan-4

ADAMTS-15 may influence other cell adhesion receptors, such as syndecans and this thesis contains data in support of this. As previously discussed the syndecans are a family of four heparan sulfate proteoglycans that sit within the cell membrane as type I transmembrane receptors (Choi et al. 2011). Syndecans are functionally diverse though they may primarily function to recruit and activate integrins or growth factor receptors at matrix adhesion sites (Couchman and Woods, 1999; Choi et al. 2011; Morgan et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2010). Thus, the syndecans participate in the regulation of cell adhesion and migration signalling (Choi et al. 2011; Morgan et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2010). More specifically syndecan-1, which is broadly expressed in epithelial cells (also see Figure 4.8) has been shown to directly activate $\alpha\nu\beta3$ and $\alpha\nu\beta5$ integrins during breast tumour cell invasion (Beauvais, Burbach and Rapraeger, 2004; Wang et al., 2010). Syndecan-4, on the other hand acts as a co-receptor for fibronectin in conjunction with integrin $\alpha 5\beta 1$ (Bass, Morgan and Humphries, 2007; Wang et al. 2010). In some contexts syndecan-4 competes with syndecan-1 for binding to the laminin receptor $\alpha 6\beta 4$ (Bass, Morgan and Humphries, 2007; Wang et al. 2010). As a generalisation, when syndecan-1 is bound to $\alpha 6\beta 4$ they become a part of a complex involving Src family kinases and ErbB2 (Wang et al. 2010). Syndecan-1 is not required for the formation of the complex, however the binding of syndecan-1 to the distal region of the α 6 β 4 cytoplasmic domain, enables Fyn to more efficiently phosphorylate and thus activate β 4 (Wang *et al.* 2010). In concert the activated ErbB2, α 6 β 4 and Fyn complexes promote a pro-migratory phenotype (Wang *et al.* 2010). In contrast to this, whilst syndecan-4 may also mediate a similar process, there is growing evidence that syndecan-4, is anti-migratory (Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.*, 2009). Some reports describe syndecan-4 as being able to sequester and recycle integrin α 6 β 4 within intracellular vesicles (Wang *et al.* 2010). Thus syndecan-1 and -4 may compete with one another to regulate the localisation and activity of integrins towards sites of active matrix engagement (Wang *et al.* 2010). As a result the levels of syndecans and integrins are a complex and highly regulated balance, with a net effect that is either pro or anti-migratory.

Interestingly, ADAMTS-15 and E362A expression are associated with increased surface levels of syndecan-4 (Figure 4.9). Thus it is possible, that in this study, the MDA-MB-231 TS15 and E362A cells are compensating for increased syndecan-4 mediated recycling of integrin β 4, through an up regulation of total β 4 protein (Figure 4.7). Thus a balance would be established where surface β 4 would be largely maintained (Figure 4.7). Yet the up regulation of β 4 protein in ADAMTS-15 expressing cells is not offsetting the pro-adhesive and antimigratory activity of syndecan-4 (Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.*, 2009). So it is unclear why the tumour cells would compensate in this way and not through a more robust up regulation of the syndecan-4 sheddases ADAMTS-1 and -4 (Figure 4.8). A profiling of all laminin and fibronectin integrins in future studies will be revealing. It could be that as suggested here, the increase in total β 4 is a side effect of the main mechanism(s) through which ADAMTS-15 mediates the

anti-migratory phenotype, namely that ADAMTS-15 protects syndecan-4 from being shed from the cell surface (Figure 4.9; Figure 4.16).



Figure 4.16: ADAMTS-15 may protect syndecan-4 from being shed from the cell surface. (left) Known ADAMTS-1 shedding activity is depicted (right) ADAMTS-15 directly or in-directly prevents ADAMTS-1 shedding of syndecan-4.

Expression of TS15 and E362A in MDA-MB-231 cells were associated with increased surface levels of syndecan-4 in comparison to control EV cells (Figure 4.9). Yet expression of the syndecan-4 sheddases ADAMTS-1 and -4 were approximately 2x higher in TS15 and E362A expressing cells (Figure 4.8). Thus it could be inferred that ADAMTS-15 may be protecting syndecan-4 from sheddase activity. In agreement with this hypothesis knockdown of syndecan-4 in MDA-MB-231 TS15 and E362A expressing cells abrogated the anti-migratory phenotype (Figure 4.10). Directionality was also lost upon knockdown of

syndecan-4 in TS15 and E362A expressing cells, whilst syndecan-4 knockdown in control cells elicited no effect (Figure 4.10).

Based on these data it is possible that syndecan-4 and ADAMTS-15 are functionally linked within the context of regulating breast tumour cell migration, such that ADAMTS-15 may protect syndecan-4 from sheddases, thus promoting the syndecan-4-associated anti-migratory phenotype. Whilst this thesis does not present any evidence of a direct association between ADAMTS-15 and syndecan-4, experimental modulation of syndecan-4 or downstream PKC signalling indicates that there is a functional link.

Stimulation with the PKC activator phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA), increased the migration rate of EV cells, and it also overcame the inhibitory effects of TS15 and E362A, resulting in the cells displaying the same level of migration as control EV cells (Figure 4.11). The interpretation of these data is potentially complex (thesis section 4.5.2), however based upon what is known in the literature, it is possible that PMA stimulated an increase in the expression of the syndecan-4 sheddases. Thus PMA stimulation may have accelerated the shedding of syndecan-4 such that any protective effects elicited by ADAMTS-15 were overcome (Rodríguez-Manzanegue et al. 2009). Alternatively, ADAMTS-15 may influence the ability of syndecan-4 to activate downstream PKC signalling. In this case, PMA stimulation bypassed the ADAMTS-15 mediated inhibition of PKC activation and ultimately restored cell migration to that of control levels. In agreement with this perspective, treatment with the PKC inhibitor, bisindolylmaleimide (bis I) reduced the migration of EV control cells to the same level as that of TS15 and E362A expressing cells (Figure 4.11). Therefore as previously suggested it could be argued that PKC signalling in TS15 and E362A cells is already reduced such that the addition of an inhibitor has no effect. However, until syndecan-4/PKC activity and localisation is examined in greater detail these data are supportive, but not conclusive of a functional link between ADAMTS-15 and syndecan-4.

4.8 Chapter summary

- ADAMTS-15 reduces 2D and 3D migration of human breast cancer cell lines in a metalloproteinase independent manner.
 - Expression of ADAMTS-15 or E362A inhibits 2D migration of human breast cancer cell lines on fibronectin and laminin but not collagen type I.
 - Expression of ADAMTS-15 or E362A inhibits 3D migration of human breast cancer cell lines through matrigel but not collagen type I.
 - Expression of ADAMTS-15 or E362A is associated with an altered integrin profile, including an increase in total integrin β4 protein.
- ADAMTS-15 anti-migratory function is likely due to syndecan-4
 - ADAMTS-15 and E362A expression is associated with increased levels of syndecan-4 on the cell surface.
 - Knockdown of syndecan-4 or modulation of syndecan-4 signalling abrogates the ADAMTS-15 mediated anti-migratory phenotype.

Chapter Five: The Effects of ADAMTS-15 on Angiogenesis and Metastasis

5.1 Introduction

The aim of this chapter is to investigate the anti-angiogenic potential of ADAMTS-15 and to discern whether ADAMTS-15 influences the ability of human breast cancer cells to metastasise.

5.2 Angiogenesis assays

Whilst several hyalectanases including ADAMTS-1, -4, -5, -8 and -9 have been reported to have anti-angiogenic effects, the role of ADAMTS-15 in angiogenesis is unknown (Hsu *et al.* 2012; Koo *et al.* 2010; Kumar *et al.* 2012; Luque *et al.* 2003; Vázquez *et al.* 1999). The hyalectanases are not the only ADAMTSs shown to modulate angiogenesis, since ADAMTS-2 and ADAMTS-12 have demonstrable anti-angiogenic effects (Dubail *et al.* 2010; El Hour *et al.* 2010; Llamazares *et al.* 2007). Indeed the central TSR found in all ADAMTSs may confer an implicit anti-angiogenic potential since peptides derived from the central TSR domains of ADAMTS-4, -16, and -18, termed adamtsostatins, are being developed as anti-angiogenic therapeutic agents (Karagiannis and Popel, 2007).

ADAMTS-1, -4 and -5 require their central TSR to bind VEGF, resulting in diminished downstream pro-angiogenic signalling (Freitas *et al.* 2013; Hsu *et al.* 2012; Kumar *et al.* 2012; Luque *et al.* 2003). However the anti-angiogenic activities of several ADAMTSs require proteolytic activity. ADAMTS-1 cleavage of thrombospondin (TSP)-1 and -2 releases anti-angiogenic fragments (Lee *et al.* 2012).

al. 2006). ADAMTS-1 is also capable of autolytic cleavage, which releases Cand N- terminal ADAMTS-1 fragments that are anti-angiogenic (Liu *et al.* 2006). And in the case of ADAMTS-9, only the active metalloproteinase was able to reduce HUVEC tube formation in an *in vitro* model of angiogenesis (Koo *et al.* 2010).

5.2.1 HUVEC tube formation

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) form tube-like structures when cultured in 3D matrix environments (Cooley *et al.* 2010). Tube formation is enhanced when HUVECs are stimulated with pro-angiogenic growth factors and conversely anti-angiogenic factors reduce tube formation (Cooley *et al.* 2010). Thus HUVEC tube formation assay is an established and informative model of angiogenesis. In the context of the ADAMTS family, tube formation assays have previously been utilised to determine the anti-angiogenic properties of ADAMTS-2, -9 and -12 (Dubail *et al.* 2010; Koo *et al.* 2010; Llamazares *et al.* 2007).

In this assay HUVECs were suspended into Collagen type I gels and treated with conditioned media from MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells (Methods 2.27). At 24 hours post-seeding, cells were fixed with 4% PFA, stained (Phalloidin and DAPI) and tube formation was quantified as described in materials and methods. ADAMTS-15 but not E362A (metalloproteinase inactive ADAMTS-15) reduced HUVEC tube formation in comparison to control (EV) (Figure 5.1). This data demonstrates for the first time that ADAMTS-15 is anti-angiogenic and that it's proteolytic activity is required. To further confirm these results an aortic ring assay was utilised.



Figure 5.1: ADAMTS-15 reduces HUVEC tube formation in a metalloproteinase dependent manner. HUVECs seeded into Collagen type I gels were treated with conditioned media from MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells and cultured for 24 hours to allow tube-like structures to form. Cells were stained, images taken and analysed as described in materials and methods, data represent 4 wells per group, error bars represent s.e.m.; *p<0.05, ***p<0.001. Data in collaboration with Dr. Lin Cooley.

5.2.2 Aortic ring assay

The murine aortic ring assay is an *ex vivo* model of angiogenesis. Since this model utilises multiple cell types, including endothelial cells, pericytes and fibroblasts the assay is physiologically analogous to *in vivo* angiogenesis (Baker *et al.* 2012). The assay has precedent within the context of the metalloproteinase field. The aortic ring assay was utilised by El Hour *et al.* 2010 to demonstrate that addition of exogenous ADAMTS-12 reduced sprouting back to *wildtype* levels in aortic rings excised from Adamts12 -/- mice.

In these experiments aortic rings were excised from mice and embedded in collagen type I (Methods 2.27; Baker *et al.* 2012). Aortic rings were treated with MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A conditioned media and VEGF (30 ng/ml). Six days later, rings were fixed and the number of sprouting micro vessels was quantified under phase contrast. ADAMTS-15 but not E362A (metalloproteinase inactive ADAMTS-15) reduced sprouting in comparison to control (EV) (Figure 5.2). The data complements the HUVEC tube formation assay in confirming that *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 is anti-angiogenic. Interestingly *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 was able to reduce sprout formation even though aortic rings were also treated with pro-angiogenic VEGF (Figure 5.2). Thus the anti-angiogenic effect of ADAMTS-15 is robust. Whilst like other ADAMTSs, ADAMTS-15 may be able to bind VEGF, E362A had no effect on sprouting. Therefore determining ADAMTS-15 proteolytic substrates will be more productive in determining the anti-angiogenic mechanism.



Figure 5.2: ADAMTS-15 reduces aortic ring sprouting in а metalloproteinase dependent manner. Thoracic aortae were isolated from 6to 8-week-old mice and prepared for embedding in collagen matrix as described in Baker et al. 2012. Aortic rings were treated with EV, TS15 or E362A conditioned media as described (Thesis chapter 2.27.1) and VEGF (30 ng/ml). Six days later, rings were fixed and the number of micro-vessels were quantified under phase contrast. Data represent 24 wells per cell group, error bars represent s.e.m. **p<0.01. Data in collaboration with Dr. Stephen Robinson.

5.3 Experimental metastasis (tail vein assay)

MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were injected intravenously into the tail veins of immune-compromised CD1 nu/nu mice. Prior to injection cells were tagged by retroviral transduction with a β -galactosidase marker to enable the detection of disseminated tumour cells. At 35 days post injection mice were culled and several organs were removed for staining and analysis of micro-metastasis as previously described (Methods 2.28; Elkin and Vlodavsky, 2001; Krüger *et al.* 1994).

The overall number of micro-metastasis observed in the Liver was much lower than that of the lungs (**Figure 5.3**; **5.5**). With only 25-50% of mice positive for micro-metastasis in the Liver, yet 80-100% of mice were positive micro-metastasis in the Lungs (**Figure 5.3**; **5.5**). In patients basal-like tumours preferentially metastasise to the lungs, brain and bone, yet comparatively speaking exhibit a lower rate of liver metastasis (Kennecke *et al.* 2010) These global patterns may therefore be indicative of the general metastatic potential of MDA-MB-231 cells, which are a basal-like human breast cancer cell line (Table 3.1).

ADAMTS-15 reduced metastatic spread to Liver in a metalloproteinase independent manner (Figure 5.3), yet ADAMTS-15 enhanced metastatic spread to the lungs in a metalloproteinase dependent manner (Figure 5.5). ADAMTS-15 did not affect metastatic spread to the bone marrow (Figure 5.4).

These data reveal that ADAMTS-15 has organ specific effects on the ability of mammary cancer cells to colonize and grow that can be either dependent or independent of its catalytic activity.



Figure 5.3: ADAMTS-15 reduces metastatic spread to Liver in a metalloproteinase independent manner. ADAMTS-15 reduces metastatic spread to Liver *in vivo*. LacZ tagged MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15, and E362A cells were intravenously injected into the tail veins of CD1 nu/nu mice. At 35 days post injection mice were culled. (a) Livers were excised and stained to enable visualisation of micro-metastatic foci. (b) The percentage of mice with visible metastatic foci present in the Liver. Data represent 10-11 mice per group, error bars represent s.e.m. *p<0.05. *In vivo* experiments were designed according to three R principles.



Figure 5.4: ADAMTS-15 does not affect metastatic spread to the bone marrow. LacZ tagged MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15, and E362A cells were intravenously injected into the tail veins of CD1 nu/nu mice. At 35 days post injection mice were culled. qRT-PCR analysis of LacZ was used to determine if MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells had metastasised to bone marrow. Data represent 3-6 tissue samples per group, error bars represent s.e.m, *p<0.05.



Figure 5.5: ADAMTS-15 enhances metastatic spread to the Lungs in a metalloproteinase dependent manner. LacZ tagged MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15, and E362A cells were intravenously injected into the tail veins of CD1 nu/nu mice. At 35 days post injection mice were culled. (a) Lungs were excised and stained to enable visualisation of micro-metastatic foci. Data represent 10-11 mice per group, error bars represent s.e.m. **p<0.01(b) qRT-PCR analysis of LacZ was used to determine if MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A cells had metastasised to the lungs, Data represent 3-6 tissue samples per group, error bars represent s.e.m. *p<0.05. (c) The percentage of mice with visible metastatic foci present in the Lung. Data represent 10-11 mice per group (d) Images show representative lungs. *In vivo* experiments were designed according to three R principles.

5.4 Discussion

5.4.1 Angiogenesis

The initial interest in understanding the angiogenic potential of the ADAMTSs began in 1999 when ADAMTS-1 and -8 were found to have a high level of antiangiogenic activity in in vivo angiogenesis models (Vázquez et al. 1999). Subsequent studies have identified several ADAMTSs with anti-angiogenic potential including ADAMTS-1, -2, -4, -5, -8, -9 and -12 (Dubail et al. 2010; Hsu et al. 2012; Koo et al. 2010; Kumar et al. 2012; Llamazares et al. 2007; Luque et al. 2003; Vázquez et al. 1999). The hyalectans feature predominantly in the list of known anti-angiogenic ADAMTSs, although it should be noted that the ADAMTSs may have an intrinsic anti-angiogenic potential that is mediated by the central TSR, a structural feature present in all family members. ADAMTS-1, -4 and -5 are all capable of binding the pro-angiogenic signalling molecule VEGF via their central TSR, thus diminishing downstream pro-angiogenic signalling (Freitas et al. 2013; Hsu et al. 2012; Kumar et al. 2012). This intrinsic potential is being commercially exploited. Peptides derived from the central TSR domains of ADAMTS-4, -16, and -18, termed adamtsostatins, are being developed as anti-angiogenic therapeutic agents (Karagiannis and Popel, 2007).

However not all ADAMTSs, including ADAMTS-9 are able to bind VEGF (Koo *et al.* 2010). Instead ADAMTS-9 requires its proteolytic activity to mediate its antiangiogenic effect (Koo *et al.* 2010). ADAMTS-1 is also capable of modulating angiogenesis through several mechanisms that require its proteolytic activity and is perhaps the most insightful comparator to assess the angiogenic potential of ADAMTS-15 since ADAMTS-1 is the most well studied family member.

ADAMTS-1 is involved in array of mechanisms that can have both pro and antitumorigenic consequences in cancer (Esselens *et al.* 2010; Liu *et al.* 2006; Vázquez *et al.* 1999). The catalytic activities of ADAMTS-1 seem to lie at the heart of these seemingly conflicting reports. Full length ADAMTS-1 is able to cleave and/or act as a sheddase for an array of substrates that ultimately have pro-tumorigenic and pro-angiogenic consequences. Liu *et al.* 2006 reported that full length ADAMTS-1 was involved in the shedding of the transmembrane precursors of heparan-binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF) and amphiregulin (AR). ADAMTS-1 was also found to be associated with the activation of ErbB-2 and EGF receptors (Liu *et al.* 2006) In combination these proteolytically mediated activities contribute to an inhibition of apoptosis and enhanced tumour angiogenesis (Liu *et al.* 2006).

Conversely the autolytic cleavage of ADAMTS-1 leads to the generation of two fragments, an N-terminal fragment and a C-terminal fragment both of which are capable of inhibiting metastasis and tumour angiogenesis (Liu *et al.* 2006). ADAMTS-1 can also cleave thrombospondin (TSP)-1 and -2 the result of which is the release of anti-angiogenic fragments (Lee *et al.* 2006). Thus ADAMTS-1 requires its proteolytic activity to be both pro and anti-angiogenic, depending on whether itself or another substrate is targeted for proteolytic activity.

To explore the angiogenic potential of ADAMTS-15 an *in vitro* model of angiogenesis was adapted from the one described by Cooley *et al.* 2010. HUVECs embedded in collagen type I gels were treated with conditioned media from MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells. Primary HUVECs were utilised which can be highly sensitive and difficult to culture in comparison to immortalised cell lines. So to ensure optimal assay conditions, conditioned media was generated with HUVEC media and 2% fetal calf serum, rather than the DMEM media that MDA-MB-231 cells were routinely cultured in. This precaution was taken since the HUVECs did not tolerate being cultured in DMEM conditioned media, whereas MDA-MB-231 cells were fine in HUVEC media throughout the 48h media-conditioning period.

The anti-angiogenic activity of ADAMTS-15 was assayed again in the murine aortic ring assay. The aortic ring assay is an ex vivo model of angiogenesis and since this model utilises multiple cell types, including endothelial cells, pericytes and fibroblasts the assay is physiologically analogous to *in vivo* angiogenesis (Baker et al. 2012). As in the case of the tubulogenesis assays aortic rings were treated with MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 or E362A conditioned media. Based on experiences of generating conditioned media for the tubulogenesis assays HUVEC media was also used to generate the conditioned media. However, assay conditions could be further optimised, since sprouting was three fold higher in the no treatment control, in which neat media was used (data not shown). In future assays recombinant ADAMTS-15 could be utilised to overcome any general MDA-MB-231 conditioned media effects. Another advantage to using recombinant proteins over conditioned media is that the absolute levels of ADAMTS-15 or E362A protein were not known. The levels of pro- and anti-angiogenic factors in the conditioned media, such as VEGF were also not examined.

However in defence of these assays the MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells used to generate conditioned media were extensively characterised to ensure that the levels of expression of ADAMTS-15 and E362A were comparable. The anti-angiogenic activities of the other hyalectanases can also be excluded since all the stables cell lines expressed comparable levels of ADAMTS-1, -4, -5, -8, -9 and -20.

Both *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 and E362A contain the same central TSR and spacer domains both of which are required for VEGF binding (Freitas *et al.* 2013; Hsu *et al.* 2012; Kumar *et al.* 2012). Since E362A did not have any observable anti-angiogenic effect it is unlikely that ADAMTS-15 sequestered VEGF signalling in these assays. Therefore from these data it can be concluded that the anti-angiogenic activity of ADAMTS-15 requires its proteolytic activity.

Also unlike ADAMTS-1, -2, -4, and -5, no evidence has been found to suggest that ADAMTS-15 undergoes autolytic cleavage at least not in the cell lines examined in this project (Colige *et al.* 2005; Flannery *et al.* 2002; Kashiwagi *et al.* 2004; Liu *et al.* 2006; Zeng *et al.* 2006). Therefore ADAMTS-15 does not seem to be producing autolytic fragments with anti-angiogenic potential.

It could be speculated that like ADAMTS-1, ADAMTS-15 might release antiangiogenic fragments through the cleavage of thrombospondin (TSP)-1 or -2 (Lee *et al.* 2006). Though this may not be a reliable assumption since ADAMTS-9 mediates its anti-angiogenic effects via proteolytic activity, yet ADAMTS-9 does not cleave either TSP-1 or TSP-2 (Koo *et al.* 2010). Indeed the relevant anti-angiogenic substrates for both ADAMTS-9 and -15 are currently unknown and will be of interest for future studies.

5.4.2 Metastasis

In vivo data from FVB-PyMT mice, a transgenic model of highly metastatic mammary carcinoma has provided some insight into the protective nature of ADAMTS-15 in breast cancer. In a time course experiment ADAMTS-15 expression levels were reduced in FVB-PyMT mice compared to age-matched *wildtype* FVB mice (Porter *et al.* 2006). In particular ADAMTS-15 expression was significantly reduced in FVB-PyMT mice beyond week 7. Essentially ADAMTS-15 expression was lost as the tumours in these mice became poorly differentiated and more metastatic (Porter *et al.* 2006). The loss of ADAMTS-15 expression *in vivo* matches histological data from breast cancer patients in which ADAMTS-15 expression inversely correlate with tumour grade (Porter *et al.* 2004; Porter *et al.* 2006).

A similar pattern has also been observed in colorectal cancer, knockdown of ADAMTS-15 in SW-620 colorectal cancer cells resulted in an invasive phenotype *in vitro* and the invasive phenotype acquired by these cells enhanced their tumourigenic potential *in vivo* (Viloria *et al.* 2009). Subcutaneous injection of SW-620 cells into severe combined immunodeficient mice (SCID) resulted in the formation of tumours (Viloria *et al.* 2009). Knockdown of ADAMTS-15 in these cells enhanced the number and size (volume) of the tumours which formed (Viloria *et al.* 2009). In agreement with histological analysis of human samples, SW-620 tumours with low ADAMTS-15 expression were poorly differentiated (Porter 2006; Viloria *et al.* 2009).

These *in vivo* studies have demonstrated concordance between the protective mechanisms of ADAMTS-15 *in vitro* and histological analysis of patient

samples. However the role of ADAMTS-15 catalytic activity in determining metastatic potential is unknown. To this end an experimental metastasis assay was conducted in which MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells were injected into the tail veins of CD1nu/nu mice (Elkin and Vlodavsky; 2001; Krüger *et al.* 1994). Since injected cells were able to freely circulate to the lungs, liver and other organs, differences in the metastatic potential of these human mammary cancer cell lines could be observed.

ADAMTS-15 reduced the metastatic spread of MDA-MB-231 cells to the Liver in a metalloproteinase independent manner. In combination with the anti-migratory effects of ADAMTS-15 these data suggest that ADAMTS-15 might elicit its protective effects through an inhibition of the metastatic potential of breast tumour cells. However, the protective effects of ADAMTS-15 *in vivo* may be complex since these data indicate that expression of ADAMTS-15 influences the metastatic potential of human breast cancer cells differently depending upon the tissue context (Figures 5.3-5.5) and interestingly, some of these effects require its proteolytic activity. For instance, in contrast to the Liver, ADAMTS-15 enhanced the metastatic spread of MDA-MB-231 cells to the lungs in a metalloproteinase dependent manner. Additionally, the anti-angiogenic activity of ADAMTS-15 also requires its proteolytic activity.

Therefore these data indicate that ADAMTS-15 modulates the metastatic ability of breast cancer cells via metalloproteinase dependent and independent processes. Through these processes ADAMTS-15 influences the ability of breast tumour cells to metastasise and colonise different tissues.

5.5 Chapter summary

- The anti-angiogenic activity of ADAMTS-15 requires its proteolytic activity.
 - ADAMTS-15 reduced HUVEC tube formation in a metalloproteinase dependent manner.
 - ADAMTS-15 reduced aortic ring sprouting in a metalloproteinase dependent manner.
- ADAMTS-15 has organ specific effects on the ability of mammary cancer cells to metastasise that can be either dependent or independent of its catalytic activity.
 - ADAMTS-15 reduces metastatic spread to Liver in a metalloproteinase independent manner.
 - ADAMTS-15 enhances metastatic spread to the Lungs in a metalloproteinase dependent manner.

Chapter Six: Final discussion and Future Perspectives

The ADAMTSs human (a disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs) are a family of 19 secreted, matrix-associated zinc metallo-endopeptidases that have diverse roles in the regulation of tissue morphogenesis, cell migration, inflammation, and angiogenesis (Esselens et al. 2010; Kelwick and Edwards, 2014; Porter et al. 2005; Rodríguez-Manzaneque et al. 2009; Wagstaff et al. 2011). Whilst the loss of individual ADAMTSs may in some cases be phenotypically mild, broad changes in ADAMTS expression, function or localisation are associated with an array of arthritis and cancer patho-physiological processes (Kelwick and Edwards, 2014; Kevorkian et al. 2004; Lin and Liu, 2010; Porter et al. 2004; Wagstaff et al. 2011). In the case of ADAMTS-15, expression of this metalloproteinase inversely correlates with tumour grade in both breast and colorectal cancer, such that ADAMTS-15 expression is significantly reduced in grade III tumours compared to grade I or II (Porter et al. 2004; Viloria et al., 2009). In colorectal cancer, ADAMTS-15 is genetically inactivated through the emergence of somatic mutations, which impair the ability of the protein to suppress the invasive potential of colorectal cancer cell lines (Viloria et al. 2009). ADAMTS-15 is also protective in breast cancer, where ADAMTS-15 expression is associated with increased overall survival (Porter et al. 2006). However, in breast cancer the functional basis of ADAMTS-15 tumour suppression is unknown and therefore merits further investigation. To this end, this thesis set out to explore the effects of ADAMTS-15 on human mammary cell behaviour.

MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells were engineered for stable, constitutive expression of either *wildtype* (TS15) or metalloproteinase inactive (E362A) ADAMTS-15. These expression systems were initially characterised to explore ADAMTS-15 localisation and proteolytic activity before moving onto functional assays. To summarise these data, ADAMTS-15 associated with the ECM via its ancillary domain, however the proportion of ECM bound ADAMTS-15 varied between different cell lines. In terms of proteolytic activity, ADAMTS-15 is a reported versicanase (Stupka *et al.* 2013) and in this study, these data confirm ADAMTS-15 as an active, though weak, aggrecanase. However, more detailed kinetic analyses are required in order to quantifiably compare ADAMTS-15 aggrecanase activity against other aggrecanase, such as ADAMTS-5. Addition of N-TIMP-3 was sufficient to inhibit aggrecanolytic activity and as expected E362A was incapable of aggrecan cleavage. Thus ADAMTS-15 is now sufficiently characterised amongst the hyalectanases.

In functional assays, expression of ADAMTS-15 did not affect breast cancer cell viability or growth, as determined via MTT, growth curves and a cell cycle analysis. Instead the major functional consequences of ADAMTS-15 expression centre upon breast tumour cell migration, angiogenesis and metastasis (Figure 6.1). Breast tumour cells expressing either *wildtype* (TS15) or metalloproteinase inactive (E362A) ADAMTS-15 displayed reduced cell migration and upon knockdown of ADAMTS-15, cell migration was restored to the level of control cells. Therefore it can be concluded that ADAMTS-15 inhibits breast cancer cell migration in a metalloproteinase independent manner. More specifically, in 2D migration assays, ADAMTS-15 inhibited cell migration on fibronectin and laminin but not collagen type I. Interestingly, these matrix specific effects were

also consistent across 3D migration assays, where ADAMTS-15 inhibited cell migration through matrigel but not collagen type I gels. The mechanistic basis for this inhibition of cell migration can be explained, in part, through the observation that ADAMTS-15 expressing cells adhere more strongly to fibronectin and laminin. Thus on these matrices, cell adhesion was strong enough to inhibit cell migration. Additionally, the integrin profiles of ADAMTS-15 expressing cells differ in comparison to control cells. Integrin $\alpha 5$ and $\beta 1$ subunits, which form a major fibronectin-binding integrin, were found to be upregulated two fold in ADAMTS-15 expressing cells. However ADAMTS-15 expression did not alter the activity or surface level of integrin β1. From amongst the laminin binding integrins, $\alpha 6$ and $\beta 4$ were examined. Unexpectedly, ADAMTS-15 expression was associated with an increase in total β4 protein. However this association is complex, since ADAMTS-15 expression did not alter the level of integrin β 4 on the cell surface. Also, there were no differences in total α 6 protein. Nevertheless, an examination of integrin β 4 will be of interest in future studies, particularly in terms of the role integrin β4 plays in regulating hemidesmosome adhesion complexes, which function to anchor epithelial cells to laminin-5 (332) in the basement membrane (Litjens, de Pereda and Sonnenberg, 2006; van der Neut et al. 1996; Wang et al. 2010). A potential function of myoepithelial derived ADAMTS-15 may be to induce integrin β4 expression, which in turn will act to restrain epithelial cells within the ductal structures of the breast. In this case, the functional distribution of $\beta 4$, within hemidesmosomal structures rather than simply its total protein level will be more informative. Therefore in future studies, more sophisticated co-culture assays could be utilised, such as the organoid model described in Holliday et *al.*, (2009). These systems are better equipped to examine any co-incidental link between hemidesmosome and basement membrane disassembly, the redistribution of pro-migratory α 6 β 4 into lamellipodia and the loss of ADAMTS-15, which may all temporally coincide during the transition to invasive breast cancer.

In order to reconcile the ADAMTS-15 anti-migratory phenotype, syndecans-1 and -4 were examined. These proteoglycans are broadly expressed in epithelial cells, are known to regulate the activity of several fibronectin and lamininbinding integrins and have functional consequences on cell adhesion and migration (Bass, Morgan and Humphries, 2007; Beauvais, Burbach and Rapraeger, 2004; Couchman and Woods, 1999; Rodríguez-Manzaneque et al. 2009; Wang et al. 2010). Within the context of breast cancer, ADAMTS-1 or -4 shedding of syndecan-4 results in a functional loss of cell adhesion and promotes a pro-migratory phenotype with a concomitant loss of directionality (Bass et al. 2007; Choi et al. 2011; Rodríguez-Manzanegue et al. 2009). In this study these data reveal that expression of *wildtype* or inactive E362A mutant ADAMTS-15 by breast cancer cells is associated with an increase in the surface level of syndecan-4. It is possible therefore that ADAMTS-15 may be protecting syndecan-4 from sheddases, thus promoting its accumulation on the cell surface. Since *wildtype* ADAMTS-15 elicits the same protective capacity as the inactive E362A form, it is conceivable that ADAMTS-15 may be an inefficient syndecan-4 sheddase (in contrast to ADAMTS-1 and -4) and therefore protection could be a result of ADAMTS-15 blocking access of the more efficient hyalectanases to their substrate. An examination of syndecan-4 shedding in the presence or absence of ADAMTS-15 and other hyalectanses will provide the experimental evidence required to ratify this hypothesis. An inducible ADAMTS-15 expression system where ADAMTS-15 expression is induced upon the removal of doxorubicin (TET-OFF) has been established and could be utilised to test this hypothesis.

Whilst this thesis does not present any evidence of a direct association between ADAMTS-15 and syndecan-4, experimental modulation of syndecan-4 or downstream signalling indicates that there is a functional link. In particular, knockdown of syndecan-4 restored the migration of ADAMTS-15 expressing cells to control levels. PMA stimulation of PKC signalling also abrogated the anti-migratory phenotype; this likely involves changes in actin dynamics but also may lead to increased expression of potent syndecan-4 sheddases such as ADAMTS-1, and -4 (Rodríguez-Manzanegue et al. 2009). Conversely treatment with the PKC inhibitor, bisindolylmaleimide I suppressed migration in control cells, yet had no effect on ADAMTS-15 expressing cells. In combination these data suggest that ADAMTS-15 influences cell migration in a metalloproteinaseindependent manner by altering cell surface syndecan-4 function or turnover via a mechanism that is upstream of Protein Kinase-C (PKC)-regulated events. Nevertheless in future studies it will still be worthwhile to fully characterize the ADAMTS-15 anti-migratory phenotype, including those signaling events that lie downstream of PKC. The activity of the core migration signaling machinery (RhoA/Rac1/Cdc42) could be examined through several commercially available activity assays, which primarily utilize antibodies to recognize their active forms. Additionally actin dynamics, which are altered in syndecan-4 shed cells, could be examined in real time through live cell imaging, in which ADAMTS-15 expressing cells could be transfected with a GFP tagged actin expression system.

Several hyalectanases including ADAMTS-1, -4, -5, -8 and -9 have been reported to have anti-angiogenic effects, yet the anti-angiogenic potential of ADAMTS-15 is unknown (Hsu et al. 2012; Koo et al. 2010; Kumar et al. 2012; Luque et al. 2003; Vázquez et al. 1999). To assess the angiogenic potential of ADAMTS-15, growth media were conditioned by MDA-MB-231 ADAMTS-15 expressing cells and then incorporated into HUVEC tube formation assays. Wildtype but not the metalloproteinase-inactive (E362A) ADAMTS-15 conditioned media reduced HUVEC tubulogenesis compared to control. These conditioned media were also utilised in an ex vivo angiogenesis model, the murine aortic ring assay. In these assays *wildtype* ADAMTS-15, but not E362A conditioned media inhibited angiogenic sprouting. Taken together these data demonstrate that ADAMTS-15, like several other ADAMTSs, displays antiangiogenic activity, but in contrast to its effects on cell migration, its effects on endothelial sprouting and tube formation require its metalloproteinase activity. Based upon what is known from other ADAMTSs, likely anti-angiogenic substrates include thrombospondin (TSP)-1 and -2, which upon cleavage release anti-angiogenic fragments (Lee et al. 2006). However this may not be a reliable assumption since ADAMTS-9 mediates its anti-angiogenic effects via proteolytic activity, yet ADAMTS-9 does not cleave either TSP-1 or TSP-2 (Koo et al. 2010). Instead the relevant anti-angiogenic substrates for both ADAMTS-9 and -15 are currently unknown and will be of interest for future studies. Additionally, proteomics based approaches are identifying novel ADAMTS substrates that lie beyond the current ADAMTS sub-group descriptors, and by inference allude to novel biological functions (Esselens *et al.* 2010; Lopez-Otin and Overall, 2002; Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009).

The identification of novel ADAMTS-15 substrates will ultimately help to unravel the complex influence this metalloproteinase has on the metastatic potential of breast tumour cells. In experimental metastasis assays, ADAMTS-15 expression in MDA-MB-231 cells inhibited metastatic spread to the liver in a metalloproteinase-independent manner. Yet in contrast to this, *wildtype* but not metalloproteinase inactive (E362A) ADAMTS-15 enhanced metastatic spread to the lungs. The availability of hyalectanase substrates within the tissue microenvironment will likely influence the metastatic propensity of ADAMTS-15 expressing cells. Additionally, since ADAMTS-15 has matrix specific effects on cell adhesion and migration it is possible that some tissue environments may be more favourable to the establishment and development of a metastatic niche (Freitas *et al.* 2013; Kaplan *et al.* 2005; Kopitz *et al.* 2007; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011; Liu *et al.* 2006)

These seemingly contradictory outcomes are not uncommon in the ADAMTS family. For example, expression of catalytically active ADAMTS-1 enhances the metastatic propensity of TA3 mammary carcinoma and Lewis Lung Carcinoma cells *in vivo* (Liu *et al.* 2006). In other contexts, including breast cancer, ADAMTS-1 shedding of syndecan 4 or semaphorin 3C enhances the migratory behaviour of cancer cell lines (Esselens *et al.* 2010; Rodríguez-Manzaneque *et al.* 2009). Conversely ADAMTS-1 proteolytic activity can also be anti-metastatic. ADAMTS-1 proteolytic cleavage of thrombospondins -1 and -2 releases anti-angiogenic fragments (Lee *et al.* 2006). ADAMTS-1 also displays auto-catalytic
behaviour, at a cleavage site within its own spacer region (Liu *et al.* 2006). This autocatalytic event releases N- terminal and C-terminal anti-metastatic fragments that act both as anti-angiogenic and metastasis-inhibitory factors (Liu et al. 2006). ADAMTS-1 can also elicit anti-tumorigenic effects in a metalloproteinase independent manner, through the binding of VEGF. The binding of VEGF sequesters both pro-angiogenic and pro-migratory signalling (Freitas et al. 2013; Luque et al. 2003). An Adamts15-knockout mouse has been established (UC Davis knock out project mouse https://www.komp.org/geneinfo.php?project=VG10097), which may provide additional insight. One approach would be to intercross such animals with the mouse mammary cancer model MMTV-PyMT mice, to determine the effect on disease progression. Using these models an examination of spontaneous mammary tumour formation, progression and tumour angiogenesis could be carried out that may shed additional light into the protective role of ADAMTS-15 in breast cancer.

In conclusion this work has contributed to our understanding of the fundamental characteristics of ADAMTS-15; namely its association with the ECM and aggrecanase activity. This work has also provided mechanistic insight into the anti-tumourigenic roles of ADAMTS-15 in modulating breast tumour cell migration, metastasis and angiogenesis. However in continuation of this study, more research is needed to unravel the complexities of the metalloproteinase dependent and independent functions of ADAMTS-15 in breast cancer.



Figure 6.1: Summary of ADAMTS-15 protective effects in breast cancer that have been experimentally verified in this thesis.

Abbaszade, I., Liu, R. Q., Yang, F., Rosenfeld, S. A., Ross, O. H., Link, J. R., et al. (1999). Cloning and characterization of ADAMTS11, an aggrecanase from the ADAMTS family. *J Biol Chem*, *2*74(33), 23443-23450.

Acuff, H. B., Sinnamon, M., Fingleton, B., Boone, B., Levy, S. E., Chen, X., Matrisian, L. M. (2006). Analysis of host- and tumor-derived proteinases using a custom dual species microarray reveals a protective role for stromal matrix metalloproteinase-12 in non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Res, 66*(16), 7968-7975. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-4279

Adams, J. C., & Lawler, J. (2004). The thrombospondins. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 36(6), 961-968. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2004.01.004

Adams, J. C., & Lawler, J. (2011). The thrombospondins. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 3*(10), a009712. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a009712

Adriance, M. C., Inman, J. L., Petersen, O. W., & Bissell, M. J. (2005). Myoepithelial cells: good fences make good neighbors. *Breast Cancer Res*, 7(5), 190-197. doi: 10.1186/bcr1286

Akiyama, M., Takeda, S., Kokame, K., Takagi, J., & Miyata, T. (2009). Crystal structures of the noncatalytic domains of ADAMTS13 reveal multiple discontinuous exosites for von Willebrand factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106*(46), 19274-19279. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0909755106

Allen, M., & Louise Jones, J. (2011). Jekyll and Hyde: the role of the microenvironment on the progression of cancer. *J Pathol, 223*(2), 162-176. doi: 10.1002/path.2803

Allred, D. C., Mohsin, S. K., & Fuqua, S. A. (2001). Histological and biological evolution of human premalignant breast disease. *Endocr Relat Cancer*, 8(1), 47-61.

Allred, D. C., Wu, Y., Mao, S., Nagtegaal, I. D., Lee, S., Perou, C. M., Medina, D. (2008). Ductal carcinoma in situ and the emergence of diversity during breast cancer evolution. *Clin Cancer Res, 14*(2), 370-378. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1127

Angerer, L., Hussain, S., Wei, Z., & Livingston, B. T. (2006). Sea urchin metalloproteases: a genomic survey of the BMP-1/tolloid-like, MMP and ADAM families. *Dev Biol, 300*(1), 267-281. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.07.046

Apte, S. S. (2004). A disintegrin-like and metalloprotease (reprolysin type) with thrombospondin type 1 motifs: the ADAMTS family. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 36(6), 981-985. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2004.01.014

Apte, S. S. (2009). A disintegrin-like and metalloprotease (reprolysin-type) with thrombospondin type 1 motif (ADAMTS) superfamily: functions and mechanisms. *J Biol Chem, 284*(46), 31493-31497. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R109.052340

Arlt, M., Kopitz, C., Pennington, C., Watson, K. L., Krell, H. W., Bode, W., Kruger, A. (2002). Increase in gelatinase-specificity of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors correlates with antimetastatic efficacy in a T-cell lymphoma model. *Cancer Res, 62*(19), 5543-5550.

Arner, E. C., Pratta, M. A., Trzaskos, J. M., Decicco, C. P., & Tortorella, M. D. (1999). Generation and characterization of aggrecanase. A soluble, cartilage-derived aggrecandegrading activity. *J Biol Chem*, 274(10), 6594-6601.

Ashby, W. J., & Zijlstra, A. (2012). Established and novel methods of interrogating twodimensional cell migration. *Integr Biol (Camb), 4*(11), 1338-1350. doi: 10.1039/c2ib20154b

Atkinson, J. M., Pennington, C. J., Martin, S. W., Anikin, V. A., Mearns, A. J., Loadman, P. M., Gill, J. H. (2007). Membrane type matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) show differential

expression in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) compared to normal lung: correlation of MMP-14 mRNA expression and proteolytic activity. *Eur J Cancer, 43*(11), 1764-1771. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2007.05.009

auf dem Keller, U., Prudova, A., Eckhard, U., Fingleton, B., & Overall, C. M. (2013). Systemslevel analysis of proteolytic events in increased vascular permeability and complement activation in skin inflammation. *Sci Signal*, *6*(258), rs2. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2003512

Autier, P., Boniol, M., La Vecchia, C., Vatten, L., Gavin, A., Hery, C., & Heanue, M. (2010). Disparities in breast cancer mortality trends between 30 European countries: retrospective trend analysis of WHO mortality database. *BMJ*, *341*, c3620. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c3620

Baba, F., Swartz, K., van Buren, R., Eickhoff, J., Zhang, Y., Wolberg, W., & Friedl, A. (2006). Syndecan-1 and syndecan-4 are overexpressed in an estrogen receptor-negative, highly proliferative breast carcinoma subtype. *Breast Cancer Res Treat, 98*(1), 91-98. doi: 10.1007/s10549-005-9135-2

Bain, J., Plater, L., Elliott, M., Shpiro, N., Hastie, C. J., McLauchlan, H., Cohen, P. (2007). The selectivity of protein kinase inhibitors: a further update. *Biochem J, 408*(3), 297-315. doi: 10.1042/BJ20070797

Baker, A. H., Edwards, D. R., & Murphy, G. (2002). Metalloproteinase inhibitors: biological actions and therapeutic opportunities. *J Cell Sci, 115*(Pt 19), 3719-3727. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00063

Baker, M., Robinson, S. D., Lechertier, T., Barber, P. R., Tavora, B., D'Amico, G., Hodivala-Dilke, K. (2012). Use of the mouse aortic ring assay to study angiogenesis. *Nat Protoc*, 7(1), 89-104. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2011.435

Balbin, M., Fueyo, A., Tester, A. M., Pendas, A. M., Pitiot, A. S., Astudillo, A., Lopez-Otin, C. (2003). Loss of collagenase-2 confers increased skin tumor susceptibility to male mice. *Nat Genet*, *35*(3), 252-257. doi: 10.1038/ng1249

Balkwill, F. (2009). Tumour necrosis factor and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 9(5), 361-371. doi: 10.1038/nrc2628

Balleine, R. L., Webster, L. R., Davis, S., Salisbury, E. L., Palazzo, J. P., Schwartz, G. F., Meltzer, P. S. (2008). Molecular grading of ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast. *Clin Cancer Res, 14*(24), 8244-8252. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0939

Banke, I. J., Arlt, M. J., Pennington, C., Kopitz, C., Steinmetzer, T., Schweinitz, A., Kruger, A. (2003). Increase of anti-metastatic efficacy by selectivity- but not affinity-optimization of synthetic serine protease inhibitors. *Biol Chem, 384*(10-11), 1515-1525. doi: 10.1515/BC.2003.168

Banno, F., Kokame, K., Okuda, T., Honda, S., Miyata, S., Kato, H., Miyata, T. (2006). Complete deficiency in ADAMTS13 is prothrombotic, but it alone is not sufficient to cause thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Blood, 107*(8), 3161-3166. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-07-2765

Bar-Or, A., Nuttall, R. K., Duddy, M., Alter, A., Kim, H. J., Ifergan, I., Yong, V. W. (2003). Analyses of all matrix metalloproteinase members in leukocytes emphasize monocytes as major inflammatory mediators in multiple sclerosis. *Brain, 126*(Pt 12), 2738-2749. doi: 10.1093/brain/awg285

Barcellos-Hoff, M. H., Aggeler, J., Ram, T. G., & Bissell, M. J. (1989). Functional differentiation and alveolar morphogenesis of primary mammary cultures on reconstituted basement membrane. *Development*, *105*(2), 223-235.

Barczyk, M., Carracedo, S., & Gullberg, D. (2010). Integrins. *Cell Tissue Res,* 339(1), 269-280. doi: 10.1007/s00441-009-0834-6

Bari, R., Zhang, Y. H., Zhang, F., Wang, N. X., Stipp, C. S., Zheng, J. J., & Zhang, X. A. (2009). Transmembrane interactions are needed for KAI1/CD82-mediated suppression of cancer invasion and metastasis. *Am J Pathol*, *174*(2), 647-660. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2009.080685

Barone, I., Brusco, L., & Fuqua, S. A. (2010). Estrogen receptor mutations and changes in downstream gene expression and signaling. *Clin Cancer Res, 16*(10), 2702-2708. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1753

Bass, M. D., Morgan, M. R., & Humphries, M. J. (2007). Integrins and syndecan-4 make distinct, but critical, contributions to adhesion contact formation. *Soft matter, 3*(3), 372-376. doi: 10.1039/b614610d

Bass, M. D., Roach, K. A., Morgan, M. R., Mostafavi-Pour, Z., Schoen, T., Muramatsu, T., Humphries, M. J. (2007). Syndecan-4-dependent Rac1 regulation determines directional migration in response to the extracellular matrix. *J Cell Biol*, 177(3), 527-538. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200610076

Bass, R., Wagstaff, L., Ravenhill, L., & Ellis, V. (2009). Binding of extracellular maspin to beta1 integrins inhibits vascular smooth muscle cell migration. *J Biol Chem, 284*(40), 27712-27720. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.038919

Beauvais, D. M., Burbach, B. J., & Rapraeger, A. C. (2004). The syndecan-1 ectodomain regulates alphavbeta3 integrin activity in human mammary carcinoma cells. *J Cell Biol*, *167*(1), 171-181. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200404171

Beauvais, D. M., & Rapraeger, A. C. (2004). Syndecans in tumor cell adhesion and signaling. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol, 2*, 3. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-2-3

Beningo, K. A., Dembo, M., Kaverina, I., Small, J. V., & Wang, Y. L. (2001). Nascent focal adhesions are responsible for the generation of strong propulsive forces in migrating fibroblasts. *J Cell Biol*, *153*(4), 881-888.

Berditchevski, F., & Odintsova, E. (1999). Characterization of integrin-tetraspanin adhesion complexes: role of tetraspanins in integrin signaling. *J Cell Biol*, *146*(2), 477-492.

Berzat, A., & Hall, A. (2010). Cellular responses to extracellular guidance cues. *EMBO J*, 29(16), 2734-2745. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.170

Bhadriraju, K., Yang, M., Alom Ruiz, S., Pirone, D., Tan, J., & Chen, C. S. (2007). Activation of ROCK by RhoA is regulated by cell adhesion, shape, and cytoskeletal tension. *Exp Cell Res, 313*(16), 3616-3623. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2007.07.002

Bindschadler, M., & McGrath, J. L. (2007). Sheet migration by wounded monolayers as an emergent property of single-cell dynamics. *J Cell Sci, 120*(Pt 5), 876-884. doi: 10.1242/jcs.03395

Biology, Cancer Cell, Michel, Jean, & Eddine, Nor. (2011). The proteolytic activity of MT4-MMP is required for its pro-angiogenic and pro metastatic effects (under peer review). *International journal of cancer*.

Blackburn, J. S., Liu, I., Coon, C. I., & Brinckerhoff, C. E. (2009). A matrix metalloproteinase-1/protease activated receptor-1 signaling axis promotes melanoma invasion and metastasis. *Oncogene, 28*(48), 4237-4248. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.272

Blelloch, R., Anna-Arriola, S. S., Gao, D., Li, Y., Hodgkin, J., & Kimble, J. (1999). The gon-1 gene is required for gonadal morphogenesis in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Dev Biol, 216*(1), 382-393. doi: 10.1006/dbio.1999.9491

Blobel, C. P. (2010). 3D trumps 2D when studying endothelial cells. *Blood, 115*(25), 5128-5130. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-03-275271

Boerboom, D., Lafond, J. F., Zheng, X., Lapointe, E., Mittaz, L., Boyer, A., Richards, J. S. (2011). Partially redundant functions of Adamts1 and Adamts4 in the perinatal development of the renal medulla. *Dev Dyn, 240*(7), 1806-1814. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.22662

Boersema, P. J., Geiger, T., Wisniewski, J. R., & Mann, M. (2013). Quantification of the Nglycosylated secretome by super-SILAC during breast cancer progression and in human blood samples. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, *12*(1), 158-171. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M112.023614

Bohm, M., Gerlach, R., Beecken, W. D., Scheuer, T., Stier-Bruck, I., & Scharrer, I. (2003). ADAMTS-13 activity in patients with brain and prostate tumors is mildly reduced, but not correlated to stage of malignancy and metastasis. *Thromb Res, 111*(1-2), 33-37.

Bolt, M. W., & Mahoney, P. A. (1997). High-efficiency blotting of proteins of diverse sizes following sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. *Anal Biochem*, 247(2), 185-192. doi: 10.1006/abio.1997.2061

Bombonati, A., & Sgroi, D. C. (2011). The molecular pathology of breast cancer progression. *J Pathol, 223*(2), 307-317. doi: 10.1002/path.2808

Botter, S. M., Glasson, S. S., Hopkins, B., Clockaerts, S., Weinans, H., van Leeuwen, J. P., & van Osch, G. J. (2009). ADAMTS5-/- mice have less subchondral bone changes after induction of osteoarthritis through surgical instability: implications for a link between cartilage and subchondral bone changes. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*, *17*(5), 636-645. doi: 10.1016/j.joca.2008.09.018

Bourd-Boittin, K., Bonnier, D., Leyme, A., Mari, B., Tuffery, P., Samson, M., Theret, N. (2011). Protease profiling of liver fibrosis reveals the ADAM metallopeptidase with thrombospondin type 1 motif, 1 as a central activator of transforming growth factor beta. *Hepatology, 54*(6), 2173-2184. doi: 10.1002/hep.24598

Boutet, Philippe, Agu, Sonia, Atkinson, Susan, Pennington, Caroline J, Edwards, Dylan R, Murphy, Gillian, Vale, Mar. (2008). of the MHC Class I-Related Chain B Protein 1. *The Journal of Immunology*, 8-12.

Brinckerhoff, C. E., & Matrisian, L. M. (2002). Matrix metalloproteinases: a tail of a frog that became a prince. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 3*(3), 207-214. doi: 10.1038/nrm763

Brocker, C. N., Vasiliou, V., & Nebert, D. W. (2009). Evolutionary divergence and functions of the ADAM and ADAMTS gene families. *Hum Genomics*, *4*(1), 43-55.

Brodie, C., Steinhart, R., Kazimirsky, G., Rubinfeld, H., Hyman, T., Ayres, J. N., Blumberg, P. M. (2004). PKCdelta associates with and is involved in the phosphorylation of RasGRP3 in response to phorbol esters. *Mol Pharmacol, 66*(1), 76-84. doi: 10.1124/mol.66.1.76

Brown, H. M., Dunning, K. R., Robker, R. L., Boerboom, D., Pritchard, M., Lane, M., & Russell, D. L. (2010). ADAMTS1 cleavage of versican mediates essential structural remodeling of the ovarian follicle and cumulus-oocyte matrix during ovulation in mice. *Biol Reprod, 83*(4), 549-557. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.110.084434

Brown, H. M., Dunning, K. R., Robker, R. L., Pritchard, M., & Russell, D. L. (2006). Requirement for ADAMTS-1 in extracellular matrix remodeling during ovarian folliculogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. *Dev Biol, 300*(2), 699-709. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.10.012

Brown, Peter. (1998). Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, *52*, 125-136.

Brule, S., Charnaux, N., Sutton, A., Ledoux, D., Chaigneau, T., Saffar, L., & Gattegno, L. (2006). The shedding of syndecan-4 and syndecan-1 from HeLa cells and human primary macrophages is accelerated by SDF-1/CXCL12 and mediated by the matrix metalloproteinase-9. *Glycobiology*, *16*(6), 488-501. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwj098

Buechli, M. E., Lamarre, J., & Koch, T. G. (2013). MicroRNA-140 expression during chondrogenic differentiation of equine cord blood-derived mesenchymal stromal cells. *Stem Cells Dev*, *22*(8), 1288-1296. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0411

Bugge, Thomas H., & Antalis, Toni M. (2009). Proteases and Cancer. *Methods*, 539. doi: 10.1007/978-1-60327-003-8

Buijs, J. T., & van der Pluijm, G. (2009). Osteotropic cancers: from primary tumor to bone. *Cancer Lett,* 273(2), 177-193. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2008.05.044

Butcher, D. T., Alliston, T., & Weaver, V. M. (2009). A tense situation: forcing tumour progression. *Nat Rev Cancer,* 9(2), 108-122. doi: 10.1038/nrc2544

Butler, G. S., Dean, R. A., Tam, E. M., & Overall, C. M. (2008). Pharmacoproteomics of a metalloproteinase hydroxamate inhibitor in breast cancer cells: dynamics of membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase-mediated membrane protein shedding. *Mol Cell Biol, 28*(15), 4896-4914. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01775-07

Byron, A., Morgan, M. R., & Humphries, M. J. (2010). Adhesion signalling complexes. *Curr Biol, 20*(24), R1063-1067. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2010.10.059

Cabral, W. A., Makareeva, E., Colige, A., Letocha, A. D., Ty, J. M., Yeowell, H. N., Marini, J. C. (2005). Mutations near amino end of alpha1(I) collagen cause combined osteogenesis imperfecta/Ehlers-Danlos syndrome by interference with N-propeptide processing. *J Biol Chem*, *280*(19), 19259-19269. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M414698200

Cal, S., Arguelles, J. M., Fernandez, P. L., & Lopez-Otin, C. (2001). Identification, characterization, and intracellular processing of ADAM-TS12, a novel human disintegrin with a complex structural organization involving multiple thrombospondin-1 repeats. *J Biol Chem*, 276(21), 17932-17940. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M100534200

Cal, S., Obaya, A. J., Llamazares, M., Garabaya, C., Quesada, V., & Lopez-Otin, C. (2002). Cloning, expression analysis, and structural characterization of seven novel human ADAMTSs, a family of metalloproteinases with disintegrin and thrombospondin-1 domains. *Gene, 283*(1-2), 49-62.

Canals, F., Colome, N., Ferrer, C., Plaza-Calonge Mdel, C., & Rodriguez-Manzaneque, J. C. (2006). Identification of substrates of the extracellular protease ADAMTS1 by DIGE proteomic analysis. *Proteomics, 6 Suppl 1*, S28-35. doi: 10.1002/pmic.200500446

Carey, SP, Charest, JM, & Reinhart-King, CA. (2011). Forces during cell adhesion and spreading: implications for cellular homeostasis. *Cellular and Biomolecular ...*, 29-69. doi: 10.1007/8415

Carlsson, A. E. (2010). Actin dynamics: from nanoscale to microscale. *Annu Rev Biophys,* 39, 91-110. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biophys.093008.131207

Carr, H. S., Morris, C. A., Menon, S., Song, E. H., & Frost, J. A. (2013). Rac1 controls the subcellular localization of the Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor Net1A to regulate focal adhesion formation and cell spreading. *Mol Cell Biol*, *33*(3), 622-634. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00980-12

Caswell, P. T., Vadrevu, S., & Norman, J. C. (2009). Integrins: masters and slaves of endocytic transport. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 10*(12), 843-853. doi: 10.1038/nrm2799

Cauwe, B., & Opdenakker, G. (2010). Intracellular substrate cleavage: a novel dimension in the biochemistry, biology and pathology of matrix metalloproteinases. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol, 45*(5), 351-423. doi: 10.3109/10409238.2010.501783

Chabottaux, V., Sounni, N. E., Pennington, C. J., English, W. R., van den Brule, F., Blacher, S., Noel, A. (2006). Membrane-type 4 matrix metalloproteinase promotes breast cancer growth and metastases. *Cancer Res, 66*(10), 5165-5172. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3012

Chandran, P. L., & Horkay, F. (2012). Aggrecan, an unusual polyelectrolyte: review of solution behavior and physiological implications. *Acta Biomater, 8*(1), 3-12. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2011.08.011

Chen, G., Lv, Y., Guo, P., Lin, C., Zhang, X., Yang, L., & Xu, Z. (2013). Matrix mechanics and fluid shear stress control stem cells fate in three dimensional microenvironment. *Curr Stem Cell Res Ther*, *8*(4), 313-323.

Chen, L. L., Gabarra, V., Cho, S., Browning, B., Cao, X., Huet, H., McLachlan, K. (2008). Functional characterization of integrin alpha6beta4 adhesion interactions using soluble integrin constructs reveals the involvement of different functional domains in the beta4 subunit. *Cell Commun Adhes*, *15*(4), 317-331. doi: 10.1080/15419060802428356

Chockalingam, P. S., Sun, W., Rivera-Bermudez, M. A., Zeng, W., Dufield, D. R., Larsson, S., Morris, E. A. (2011). Elevated aggrecanase activity in a rat model of joint injury is attenuated by an aggrecanase specific inhibitor. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage, 19*(3), 315-323. doi: 10.1016/j.joca.2010.12.004

Choi, U. J., Jee, B. K., Lim, Y., & Lee, K. H. (2009). KAI1/CD82 decreases Rac1 expression and cell proliferation through PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway in H1299 lung carcinoma cells. *Cell Biochem Funct*, *27*(1), 40-47. doi: 10.1002/cbf.1532

Choi, Y., Chung, H., Jung, H., Couchman, J. R., & Oh, E. S. (2011). Syndecans as cell surface receptors: Unique structure equates with functional diversity. *Matrix Biol, 30*(2), 93-99. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2010.10.006

Chua, B. T., Gallego-Ortega, D., Ramirez de Molina, A., Ullrich, A., Lacal, J. C., & Downward, J. (2009). Regulation of Akt(ser473) phosphorylation by choline kinase in breast carcinoma cells. *Mol Cancer, 8*, 131. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-8-131

Cichon, Magdalena a, Degnim, Amy C, Visscher, Daniel W, & Radisky, Derek C. (2010). Microenvironmental influences that drive progression from benign breast disease to invasive breast cancer. *Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia*, *15*, 389-397. doi: 10.1007/s10911-010-9195-8

Clark, I. M., Swingler, T. E., Sampieri, C. L., & Edwards, D. R. (2008). The regulation of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 40*(6-7), 1362-1378. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2007.12.006

Clark, I M, Young, D a, & Edwards, D R. (2003). TIMP-1 enhancer sequence--real or bacterial? *British journal of cancer, 89*, 1812; author reply 1812-1813. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6601353

Cleveland, D. W., Fischer, S. G., Kirschner, M. W., & Laemmli, U. K. (1977). Peptide mapping by limited proteolysis in sodium dodecyl sulfate and analysis by gel electrophoresis. *J Biol Chem*, *252*(3), 1102-1106.

Colige, Alain, Nuytinck, Lieve, Hausser, Ingrid, van Essen, Anthonie J, Thiry, Marc, Herens, Christian, Nusgens, Betty V. (2004). Novel types of mutation responsible for the dermatosparactic type of Ehlers-Danlos syndrome (Type VIIC) and common polymorphisms in the ADAMTS2 gene. *J Invest Dermatol, 123*, 656-663. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-202X.2004.23406.x

Colige, A., Ruggiero, F., Vandenberghe, I., Dubail, J., Kesteloot, F., Van Beeumen, J., Nusgens, B. (2005). Domains and maturation processes that regulate the activity of ADAMTS-2, a metalloproteinase cleaving the aminopropeptide of fibrillar procollagens types I-III and V. *J Biol Chem*, *280*(41), 34397-34408. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M506458200

Colige, A., Vandenberghe, I., Thiry, M., Lambert, C. A., Van Beeumen, J., Li, S. W., Nusgens, B. V. (2002). Cloning and characterization of ADAMTS-14, a novel ADAMTS displaying high homology with ADAMTS-2 and ADAMTS-3. *J Biol Chem*, 277(8), 5756-5766. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M105601200

Collins-Racie, L. A., Flannery, C. R., Zeng, W., Corcoran, C., Annis-Freeman, B., Agostino, M. J., LaVallie, E. R. (2004). ADAMTS-8 exhibits aggrecanase activity and is expressed in human articular cartilage. *Matrix Biol*, *23*(4), 219-230. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2004.05.004

Cooley, L. S., Handsley, M. M., Zhou, Z., Lafleur, M. A., Pennington, C. J., Thompson, E. W., Edwards, D. R. (2010). Reversible transdifferentiation of blood vascular endothelial cells to a lymphatic-like phenotype in vitro. *J Cell Sci, 123*(Pt 21), 3808-3816. doi: 10.1242/jcs.064279

Couchman, J R, & Woods, A. (1999). Syndecan-4 and integrins: combinatorial signaling in cell adhesion. *Journal of cell science, 112 (Pt 2,* 3415-3420.

Coussens, L. M., Fingleton, B., & Matrisian, L. M. (2002). Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors and cancer: trials and tribulations. *Science*, *295*(5564), 2387-2392. doi: 10.1126/science.1067100

Coussens, Lisa M, & Werb, Zena. (2002). Inflammation and cancer. *Nature, 420*, 860-867. doi: 10.1038/nature01322

Croft, D. R., & Olson, M. F. (2008). Regulating the conversion between rounded and elongated modes of cancer cell movement. *Cancer Cell, 14*(5), 349-351. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2008.10.009

Cross, N. A., Chandrasekharan, S., Jokonya, N., Fowles, A., Hamdy, F. C., Buttle, D. J., & Eaton, C. L. (2005). The expression and regulation of ADAMTS-1, -4, -5, -9, and -15, and TIMP-3 by TGFbeta1 in prostate cells: relevance to the accumulation of versican. *Prostate*, *63*(3), 269-275. doi: 10.1002/pros.20182

Cudic, M., Burstein, G. D., Fields, G. B., & Lauer-Fields, J. (2009). Analysis of flavonoid-based pharmacophores that inhibit aggrecanases (ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5) and matrix metalloproteinases through the use of topologically constrained peptide substrates. *Chem Biol Drug Des*, *74*(5), 473-482. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-0285.2009.00885.x

Curtis, Christina, Shah, Sohrab P, Chin, Suet-Feung, Turashvili, Gulisa, Rueda, Oscar M, Dunning, Mark J, Aparicio, Samuel. (2012). The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2,000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups. *Nature, 486*, 346-352. doi: 10.1038/nature10983

Dagoneau, N., Benoist-Lasselin, C., Huber, C., Faivre, L., Megarbane, A., Alswaid, A., Cormier-Daire, V. (2004). ADAMTS10 mutations in autosomal recessive Weill-Marchesani syndrome. *Am J Hum Genet*, *75*(5), 801-806. doi: 10.1086/425231

Dalmay, T, & Edwards, D R. (2006). MicroRNAs and the hallmarks of cancer. *Oncogene, 25*, 6170-6175. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209911

de Pereda, J. M., Lillo, M. P., & Sonnenberg, A. (2009). Structural basis of the interaction between integrin alpha6beta4 and plectin at the hemidesmosomes. *EMBO J, 28*(8), 1180-1190. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.48

Dean-Colomb, W., & Esteva, F. J. (2008). Her2-positive breast cancer: herceptin and beyond. *Eur J Cancer, 44*(18), 2806-2812. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2008.09.013

Decock, J, Paridaens, R, & Ye, S. (2008). Genetic polymorphisms of matrix metalloproteinases in lung, breast and colorectal cancer. *Clinical genetics*, 73, 197-211. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0004.2007.00946.x

Decock, J., Thirkettle, S., Wagstaff, L., & Edwards, D. R. (2011). Matrix metalloproteinases: protective roles in cancer. *J Cell Mol Med*, *15*(6), 1254-1265. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2011.01302.x

Demichelis, F., Greulich, H., Macoska, J. A., Beroukhim, R., Sellers, W. R., Garraway, L., & Rubin, M. A. (2008). SNP panel identification assay (SPIA): a genetic-based assay for the identification of cell lines. *Nucleic Acids Res, 36*(7), 2446-2456. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn089

Demircan, K., Gunduz, E., Gunduz, M., Beder, L. B., Hirohata, S., Nagatsuka, H., Ninomiya, Y. (2009). Increased mRNA expression of ADAMTS metalloproteinases in metastatic foci of head and neck cancer. *Head Neck*, *31*(6), 793-801. doi: 10.1002/hed.21045

DeNardo, D. G., & Coussens, L. M. (2007). Inflammation and breast cancer. Balancing immune response: crosstalk between adaptive and innate immune cells during breast cancer progression. *Breast Cancer Res, 9*(4), 212. doi: 10.1186/bcr1746

Desgrosellier, J. S., & Cheresh, D. A. (2010). Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *10*(1), 9-22. doi: 10.1038/nrc2748

Devy, L., Huang, L., Naa, L., Yanamandra, N., Pieters, H., Frans, N., Dransfield, D. T. (2009). Selective inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase-14 blocks tumor growth, invasion, and angiogenesis. *Cancer Res, 69*(4), 1517-1526. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3255

Dey, J. H., Bianchi, F., Voshol, J., Bonenfant, D., Oakeley, E. J., & Hynes, N. E. (2010). Targeting fibroblast growth factor receptors blocks PI3K/AKT signaling, induces apoptosis, and impairs mammary tumor outgrowth and metastasis. *Cancer Res, 70*(10), 4151-4162. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4479

Diamond, SL, & Greenbaum, D. (2008). Proteases' prime targets revealed. *Nature biotechnology*.

Dickinson, S. C., Vankemmelbeke, M. N., Buttle, D. J., Rosenberg, K., Heinegard, D., & Hollander, A. P. (2003). Cleavage of cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (thrombospondin-5) by matrix metalloproteinases and a disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs. *Matrix Biol*, *22*(3), 267-278.

Didangelos, A., Mayr, U., Monaco, C., & Mayr, M. (2012). Novel role of ADAMTS-5 protein in proteoglycan turnover and lipoprotein retention in atherosclerosis. *J Biol Chem*, 287(23), 19341-19345. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C112.350785

Doherty, G. J., & McMahon, H. T. (2008). Mediation, modulation, and consequences of membrane-cytoskeleton interactions. *Annu Rev Biophys*, *37*, 65-95. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biophys.37.032807.125912

Dong, Jing-fei, Moake, Joel L, Nolasco, Leticia, Bernardo, Aubrey, Arceneaux, Wendy, Shrimpton, Corie N, López, José A. (2002). ADAMTS-13 rapidly cleaves newly secreted ultralarge von Willebrand factor multimers on the endothelial surface under flowing conditions. *Blood, 100*, 4033-4039. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-05-1401

Du, W, Wang, S, Zhou, Q, Li, X, Chu, J, Chang, Z, Yu, J. (2012). ADAMTS9 is a functional tumor suppressor through inhibiting AKT/mTOR pathway and associated with poor survival in gastric cancer. *Oncogene*, 1-10. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.359

Du, Y., Gao, C., Liu, Z., Wang, L., Liu, B., He, F., Kong, W. (2012). Upregulation of a disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs-7 by miR-29 repression mediates vascular smooth muscle calcification. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 32*(11), 2580-2588. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.300206

Dubail, J., Kesteloot, F., Deroanne, C., Motte, P., Lambert, V., Rakic, J. M., Colige, A. (2010). ADAMTS-2 functions as anti-angiogenic and anti-tumoral molecule independently of its catalytic activity. *Cell Mol Life Sci, 67*(24), 4213-4232. doi: 10.1007/s00018-010-0431-6

Dunn, J R, Panutsopulos, D, Shaw, M W, Heighway, J, Dormer, R, Salmo, E N, Liloglou, T. (2004). METH-2 silencing and promoter hypermethylation in NSCLC. *British journal of cancer*, *91*, 1149-1154. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602107

Dunn, J R, Reed, J E, du Plessis, D G, Shaw, E J, Reeves, P, Gee, A L, Walker, C. (2006). Expression of ADAMTS-8, a secreted protease with antiangiogenic properties, is downregulated in brain tumours. *British journal of cancer, 94*, 1186-1193. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603006

Dupuis, L. E., McCulloch, D. R., McGarity, J. D., Bahan, A., Wessels, A., Weber, D., Kern, C. B. (2011). Altered versican cleavage in ADAMTS5 deficient mice; a novel etiology of myxomatous valve disease. *Dev Biol*, *357*(1), 152-164. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2011.06.041

Durigova, M., Nagase, H., Mort, J. S., & Roughley, P. J. (2011). MMPs are less efficient than ADAMTS5 in cleaving aggrecan core protein. *Matrix Biol, 30*(2), 145-153. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2010.10.007

Echtermeyer, F., Bertrand, J., Dreier, R., Meinecke, I., Neugebauer, K., Fuerst, M., Pap, T. (2009). Syndecan-4 regulates ADAMTS-5 activation and cartilage breakdown in osteoarthritis. *Nat Med*, *15*(9), 1072-1076. doi: 10.1038/nm.1998

Echtermeyer, F., Streit, M., Wilcox-Adelman, S., Saoncella, S., Denhez, F., Detmar, M., & Goetinck, P. (2001). Delayed wound repair and impaired angiogenesis in mice lacking syndecan-4. *J Clin Invest, 107*(2), R9-R14. doi: 10.1172/JCI10559

Edwards, D., Hoyer-Hansen, G., Blasi, F., & Sloane, B.F. (2009). *The Cancer Degradome - Proteases and Cancer Biology*: Springer.

Edwards, D. R. (2004). TIMP-3 and endocrine therapy of breast cancer: an apoptosis connection emerges. *J Pathol, 202*(4), 391-394. doi: 10.1002/path.1548

Edwards, D. R., Handsley, M. M., & Pennington, C. J. (2008). The ADAM metalloproteinases. *Mol Aspects Med*, 29(5), 258-289. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2008.08.001

Egeblad, M., & Werb, Z. (2002). New functions for the matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression. *Nat Rev Cancer, 2*(3), 161-174. doi: 10.1038/nrc745

Eisenach, P. A., de Sampaio, P. C., Murphy, G., & Roghi, C. (2012). Membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) ubiquitination at Lys581 increases cellular invasion through type I collagen. *J Biol Chem*, 287(14), 11533-11545. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.306340

Eisenach, P. A., Roghi, C., Fogarasi, M., Murphy, G., & English, W. R. (2010). MT1-MMP regulates VEGF-A expression through a complex with VEGFR-2 and Src. *J Cell Sci, 123*(Pt 23), 4182-4193. doi: 10.1242/jcs.062711

El Hour, M., Moncada-Pazos, A., Blacher, S., Masset, A., Cal, S., Berndt, S., Lopez-Otin, C. (2010). Higher sensitivity of Adamts12-deficient mice to tumor growth and angiogenesis. *Oncogene, 29*(20), 3025-3032. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.49

Elkin, M., & Vlodavsky, I. (2001). Tail vein assay of cancer metastasis. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol, Chapter 19*, Unit 19 12. doi: 10.1002/0471143030.cb1902s12

Emery, L. A., Tripathi, A., King, C., Kavanah, M., Mendez, J., Stone, M. D., Rosenberg, C. L. (2009). Early dysregulation of cell adhesion and extracellular matrix pathways in breast cancer progression. *Am J Pathol, 175*(3), 1292-1302. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2009.090115

Engler, A. J., Sen, S., Sweeney, H. L., & Discher, D. E. (2006). Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification. *Cell*, *126*(4), 677-689. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.06.044

Enomoto, H., Nelson, C. M., Somerville, R. P., Mielke, K., Dixon, L. J., Powell, K., & Apte, S. S. (2010). Cooperation of two ADAMTS metalloproteases in closure of the mouse palate identifies a requirement for versican proteolysis in regulating palatal mesenchyme proliferation. *Development*, *137*(23), 4029-4038. doi: 10.1242/dev.050591

Ernster, V. L., Barclay, J., Kerlikowske, K., Wilkie, H., & Ballard-Barbash, R. (2000). Mortality among women with ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast in the population-based surveillance, epidemiology and end results program. *Arch Intern Med*, *160*(7), 953-958.

Espina, V., & Liotta, L. A. (2011). What is the malignant nature of human ductal carcinoma in situ? *Nat Rev Cancer, 11*(1), 68-75. doi: 10.1038/nrc2950

Esselens, C., Malapeira, J., Colome, N., Casal, C., Rodriguez-Manzaneque, J. C., Canals, F., & Arribas, J. (2010). The cleavage of semaphorin 3C induced by ADAMTS1 promotes cell migration. *J Biol Chem*, *285*(4), 2463-2473. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.055129

Even-Ram, S., & Yamada, K. M. (2005). Cell migration in 3D matrix. *Curr Opin Cell Biol,* 17(5), 524-532. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2005.08.015

Fang, C., Wen, G., Zhang, L., Lin, L., Moore, A., Wu, S., Xiao, Q. (2013). An important role of matrix metalloproteinase-8 in angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. *Cardiovasc Res, 99*(1), 146-155. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvt060

Fanjul-Fernandez, M., Folgueras, A. R., Cabrera, S., & Lopez-Otin, C. (2010). Matrix metalloproteinases: evolution, gene regulation and functional analysis in mouse models. *Biochim Biophys Acta, 1803*(1), 3-19. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2009.07.004

Fernandes, R. J., Hirohata, S., Engle, J. M., Colige, A., Cohn, D. H., Eyre, D. R., & Apte, S. S. (2001). Procollagen II amino propeptide processing by ADAMTS-3. Insights on dermatosparaxis. *J Biol Chem*, *276*(34), 31502-31509. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M103466200

Fitzgerald, M. L., Wang, Z., Park, P. W., Murphy, G., & Bernfield, M. (2000). Shedding of syndecan-1 and -4 ectodomains is regulated by multiple signaling pathways and mediated by a TIMP-3-sensitive metalloproteinase. *J Cell Biol, 148*(4), 811-824.

Flannery, C. R., Zeng, W., Corcoran, C., Collins-Racie, L. A., Chockalingam, P. S., Hebert, T., Morris, E. A. (2002). Autocatalytic cleavage of ADAMTS-4 (Aggrecanase-1) reveals multiple glycosaminoglycan-binding sites. *J Biol Chem*, 277(45), 42775-42780. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M205309200

Folgueras, A. R., Fueyo, A., Garcia-Suarez, O., Cox, J., Astudillo, A., Tortorella, P., Lopez-Otin, C. (2008). Collagenase-2 deficiency or inhibition impairs experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *J Biol Chem*, 283(14), 9465-9474. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M709522200

Fonseca, A. V., & Corbeil, D. (2011). The hematopoietic stem cell polarization and migration: A dynamic link between RhoA signaling pathway, microtubule network and ganglioside-based membrane microdomains. *Commun Integr Biol, 4*(2), 201-204. doi: 10.4161/cib.4.2.14419

Fonseca, A. V., Freund, D., Bornhauser, M., & Corbeil, D. (2010). Polarization and migration of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells rely on the RhoA/ROCK I pathway and an active reorganization of the microtubule network. *J Biol Chem*, *285*(41), 31661-31671. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.145037

Fosang, A. J., & Little, C. B. (2008). Drug insight: aggrecanases as therapeutic targets for osteoarthritis. *Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol*, *4*(8), 420-427. doi: 10.1038/ncprheum0841

Foulds, L. (1958). The natural history of cancer. J Chronic Dis, 8(1), 2-37.

Freitas, V. M., do Amaral, J. B., Silva, T. A., Santos, E. S., Mangone, F. R., Pinheiro Jde, J., Machado-Santelli, G. M. (2013). Decreased expression of ADAMTS-1 in human breast tumors stimulates migration and invasion. *Mol Cancer, 12*, 2. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-12-2

Fridman, J. S., Caulder, E., Hansbury, M., Liu, X., Yang, G., Wang, Q., Vaddi, K. (2007). Selective inhibition of ADAM metalloproteases as a novel approach for modulating ErbB pathways in cancer. *Clin Cancer Res, 13*(6), 1892-1902. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2116

Friedl, P., & Alexander, S. (2011). Cancer invasion and the microenvironment: plasticity and reciprocity. *Cell*, *147*(5), 992-1009. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.11.016

Friedl, P., Sahai, E., Weiss, S., & Yamada, K. M. (2012). New dimensions in cell migration. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 13*(11), 743-747. doi: 10.1038/nrm3459

Fu, Y., Nagy, J. A., Brown, L. F., Shih, S. C., Johnson, P. Y., Chan, C. K., Wight, T. N. (2011). Proteolytic cleavage of versican and involvement of ADAMTS-1 in VEGF-A/VPF-induced

pathological angiogenesis. *J Histochem Cytochem*, 59(5), 463-473. doi: 10.1369/0022155411401748

Fujikawa, K. (2001). Purification of human von Willebrand factor-cleaving protease and its identification as a new member of the metalloproteinase family. *Blood*, *98*(6), 1662-1666. doi: 10.1182/blood.V98.6.1662

Fushimi, K., Troeberg, L., Nakamura, H., Lim, N. H., & Nagase, H. (2008). Functional differences of the catalytic and non-catalytic domains in human ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5 in aggrecanolytic activity. *J Biol Chem*, 283(11), 6706-6716. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M708647200

Gabarra, V., Cho, S., Ramirez, M., Ren, Y., Chen, L. L., Cheung, A., McLachlan, K. (2010). Antibodies directed to alpha6beta4 highlight the adhesive and signaling functions of the integrin in breast cancer cell lines. *Cancer Biol Ther*, *9*(6), 437-445.

Gao, G., Plaas, A., Thompson, V. P., Jin, S., Zuo, F., & Sandy, J. D. (2004). ADAMTS4 (aggrecanase-1) activation on the cell surface involves C-terminal cleavage by glycosylphosphatidyl inositol-anchored membrane type 4-matrix metalloproteinase and binding of the activated proteinase to chondroitin sulfate and heparan sulfate on syndecan-1. *J Biol Chem*, *279*(11), 10042-10051. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M312100200

Gao, G., Westling, J., Thompson, V. P., Howell, T. D., Gottschall, P. E., & Sandy, J. D. (2002). Activation of the proteolytic activity of ADAMTS4 (aggrecanase-1) by C-terminal truncation. *J Biol Chem*, 277(13), 11034-11041. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M107443200

Gao, W., Zhu, J., Westfield, L. A., Tuley, E. A., Anderson, P. J., & Sadler, J. E. (2012). Rearranging exosites in noncatalytic domains can redirect the substrate specificity of ADAMTS proteases. *J Biol Chem*, *287*(32), 26944-26952. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.380535

Garcia-Alvarez, J., Ramirez, R., Checa, M., Nuttall, R. K., Sampieri, C. L., Edwards, D. R., Pardo, A. (2006). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 is up-regulated by transforming growth factor-beta1 in vitro and expressed in fibroblastic foci in vivo in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Exp Lung Res*, *32*(5), 201-214. doi: 10.1080/01902140600817481

Gauthier, M. L., Torretto, C., Ly, J., Francescutti, V., & O'Day, D. H. (2003). Protein kinase Calpha negatively regulates cell spreading and motility in MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells downstream of epidermal growth factor receptor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 307*(4), 839-846. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(03)01273-7

Gendron, C., Kashiwagi, M., Lim, N. H., Enghild, J. J., Thogersen, I. B., Hughes, C., Nagase, H. (2007). Proteolytic activities of human ADAMTS-5: comparative studies with ADAMTS-4. *J Biol Chem*, *282*(25), 18294-18306. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M701523200

Gerhardt, S., Hassall, G., Hawtin, P., McCall, E., Flavell, L., Minshull, C., Abbott, W. M. (2007). Crystal structures of human ADAMTS-1 reveal a conserved catalytic domain and a disintegrinlike domain with a fold homologous to cysteine-rich domains. *J Mol Biol,* 373(4), 891-902. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2007.07.047

Gilcrease, M. Z. (2007). Integrin signaling in epithelial cells. *Cancer Lett, 247*(1), 1-25. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2006.03.031

Gilcrease, M. Z., Zhou, X., Lu, X., Woodward, W. A., Hall, B. E., & Morrissey, P. J. (2009). Alpha6beta4 integrin crosslinking induces EGFR clustering and promotes EGF-mediated Rho activation in breast cancer. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res, 28*, 67. doi: 10.1186/1756-9966-28-67

Glasson, S. S., Askew, R., Sheppard, B., Carito, B., Blanchet, T., Ma, H. L., Morris, E. A. (2005). Deletion of active ADAMTS5 prevents cartilage degradation in a murine model of osteoarthritis. *Nature*, *434*(7033), 644-648. doi: 10.1038/nature03369

Gomis-Ruth, F. X. (2003). Structural aspects of the metzincin clan of metalloendopeptidases. *Mol Biotechnol, 24*(2), 157-202. doi: 10.1385/MB:24:2:157

Gomis-Ruth, F. X. (2009). Catalytic domain architecture of metzincin metalloproteases. *J Biol Chem, 284*(23), 15353-15357. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R800069200

Gonzalez de Peredo, A. (2001). C-Mannosylation and O-Fucosylation of Thrombospondin Type 1 Repeats. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics, 1*(1), 11-18. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M100011-MCP200

Gopal, S., Bober, A., Whiteford, J. R., Multhaupt, H. A., Yoneda, A., & Couchman, J. R. (2010). Heparan sulfate chain valency controls syndecan-4 function in cell adhesion. *J Biol Chem, 285*(19), 14247-14258. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.056945

Gordon, L. A., Mulligan, K. T., Maxwell-Jones, H., Adams, M., Walker, R. A., & Jones, J. L. (2003). Breast cell invasive potential relates to the myoepithelial phenotype. *Int J Cancer, 106*(1), 8-16. doi: 10.1002/ijc.11172

Greenwald, R. A. (1999). Thirty-six years in the clinic without an MMP inhibitor. What hath collagenase wrought? *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 878*, 413-419.

Griffith, O. L., & Gray, J. W. (2011). 'Omic approaches to preventing or managing metastatic breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res, 13*(6), 230. doi: 10.1186/bcr2923

Grimm, I., Ullsperger, S. N., & Zimmermann, H. (2010). Nucleotides and epidermal growth factor induce parallel cytoskeletal rearrangements and migration in cultured adult murine neural stem cells. *Acta Physiol (Oxf), 199*(2), 181-189. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.2010.02092.x

Groft, L. L., Muzik, H., Rewcastle, N. B., Johnston, R. N., Knauper, V., Lafleur, M. A., Edwards, D. R. (2001). Differential expression and localization of TIMP-1 and TIMP-4 in human gliomas. *Br J Cancer, 85*(1), 55-63. doi: 10.1054/bjoc.2001.1854

Groma, G., Grskovic, I., Schael, S., Ehlen, H. W., Wagener, R., Fosang, A., Zaucke, F. (2011). Matrilin-4 is processed by ADAMTS-5 in late Golgi vesicles present in growth plate chondrocytes of defined differentiation state. *Matrix Biol, 30*(4), 275-280. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2011.04.002

Gusterson, B. A., Warburton, M. J., Mitchell, D., Ellison, M., Neville, A. M., & Rudland, P. S. (1982). Distribution of myoepithelial cells and basement membrane proteins in the normal breast and in benign and malignant breast diseases. *Cancer Res, 42*(11), 4763-4770.

Gutierrez-Fernandez, A., Fueyo, A., Folgueras, A. R., Garabaya, C., Pennington, C. J., Pilgrim, S., Lopez-Otin, C. (2008). Matrix metalloproteinase-8 functions as a metastasis suppressor through modulation of tumor cell adhesion and invasion. *Cancer Res, 68*(8), 2755-2763. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5154

Gutierrez-Fernandez, A., Inada, M., Balbin, M., Fueyo, A., Pitiot, A. S., Astudillo, A., Puente, X. S. (2007). Increased inflammation delays wound healing in mice deficient in collagenase-2 (MMP-8). *FASEB J, 21*(10), 2580-2591. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-7860com

Hall, M. C., Young, D. A., Waters, J. G., Rowan, A. D., Chantry, A., Edwards, D. R., & Clark, I. M. (2003). The comparative role of activator protein 1 and Smad factors in the regulation of Timp-1 and MMP-1 gene expression by transforming growth factor-beta 1. *J Biol Chem*, *278*(12), 10304-10313. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M212334200

Hall, N. G., Klenotic, P., Anand-Apte, B., & Apte, S. S. (2003). ADAMTSL-3/punctin-2, a novel glycoprotein in extracellular matrix related to the ADAMTS family of metalloproteases. *Matrix Biol,* 22(6), 501-510. doi: 10.1016/S0945-053X(03)00075-1

Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell, 144*(5), 646-674. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

Hanahan, Douglas, Weinberg, Robert A, & Francisco, San. (2000). The Hallmarks of Cancer Review University of California at San Francisco. *Hormone Research, 100*, 57-70.

Hancox, R. A., Allen, M. D., Holliday, D. L., Edwards, D. R., Pennington, C. J., Guttery, D. S., Jones, J. L. (2009). Tumour-associated tenascin-C isoforms promote breast cancer cell invasion and growth by matrix metalloproteinase-dependent and independent mechanisms. *Breast Cancer Res, 11*(2), R24. doi: 10.1186/bcr2251

Handsley, M. M., & Edwards, D. R. (2005). Metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in tumor angiogenesis. *Int J Cancer, 115*(6), 849-860. doi: 10.1002/ijc.20945

Harris, J. E., Nuttall, R. K., Elkington, P. T., Green, J. A., Horncastle, D. E., Graeber, M. B., Friedland, J. S. (2007). Monocyte-astrocyte networks regulate matrix metalloproteinase gene expression and secretion in central nervous system tuberculosis in vitro and in vivo. *J Immunol*, *178*(2), 1199-1207.

Harris, R. J., & Spellman, M. W. (1993). O-linked fucose and other post-translational modifications unique to EGF modules. *Glycobiology*, *3*(3), 219-224.

Hashimoto, G., Aoki, T., Nakamura, H., Tanzawa, K., & Okada, Y. (2001). Inhibition of ADAMTS4 (aggrecanase-1) by tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMP-1, 2, 3 and 4). *FEBS Lett,* 494(3), 192-195. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(01)02323-7

Hashimoto, G., Shimoda, M., & Okada, Y. (2004). ADAMTS4 (aggrecanase-1) interaction with the C-terminal domain of fibronectin inhibits proteolysis of aggrecan. *J Biol Chem*, 279(31), 32483-32491. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M314216200

Hattori, N., Carrino, D. A., Lauer, M. E., Vasanji, A., Wylie, J. D., Nelson, C. M., & Apte, S. S. (2011). Pericellular versican regulates the fibroblast-myofibroblast transition: a role for ADAMTS5 protease-mediated proteolysis. *J Biol Chem*, 286(39), 34298-34310. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.254938

He, B., Liu, L., Cook, G. A., Grgurevich, S., Jennings, L. K., & Zhang, X. A. (2005). Tetraspanin CD82 attenuates cellular morphogenesis through down-regulating integrin alpha6-mediated cell adhesion. *J Biol Chem*, 280(5), 3346-3354. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M406680200

He, Q., Huang, B., Zhao, J., Zhang, Y., Zhang, S., & Miao, J. (2008). Knockdown of integrin beta4-induced autophagic cell death associated with P53 in A549 lung adenocarcinoma cells. *FEBS J*, *275*(22), 5725-5732. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2008.06699.x

Hehnly, H., Xu, W., Chen, J. L., & Stamnes, M. (2010). Cdc42 regulates microtubule-dependent Golgi positioning. *Traffic, 11*(8), 1067-1078. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2010.01082.x

Henderson, B. E., Ross, R., & Bernstein, L. (1988). Estrogens as a cause of human cancer: the Richard and Hinda Rosenthal Foundation award lecture. *Cancer Res, 48*(2), 246-253.

Herschkowitz, J. I., Simin, K., Weigman, V. J., Mikaelian, I., Usary, J., Hu, Z., Perou, C. M. (2007). Identification of conserved gene expression features between murine mammary carcinoma models and human breast tumors. *Genome Biol, 8*(5), R76. doi: 10.1186/gb-2007-8-5-r76

Hielscher, A. C., & Gerecht, S. (2012). Engineering approaches for investigating tumor angiogenesis: exploiting the role of the extracellular matrix. *Cancer Res,* 72(23), 6089-6096. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2773

Hills, R., Mazzarella, R., Fok, K., Liu, M., Nemirovskiy, O., Leone, J., Tortorella, M. D. (2007). Identification of an ADAMTS-4 cleavage motif using phage display leads to the development of fluorogenic peptide substrates and reveals matrilin-3 as a novel substrate. *J Biol Chem, 282*(15), 11101-11109. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M611588200

Hirohata, S., Wang, L. W., Miyagi, M., Yan, L., Seldin, M. F., Keene, D. R., Apte, S. S. (2002). Punctin, a novel ADAMTS-like molecule, ADAMTSL-1, in extracellular matrix. *J Biol Chem*, 277(14), 12182-12189. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109665200

Hofsteenge, J., Huwiler, K. G., Macek, B., Hess, D., Lawler, J., Mosher, D. F., & Peter-Katalinic, J. (2001). C-mannosylation and O-fucosylation of the thrombospondin type 1 module. *J Biol Chem*, *276*(9), 6485-6498. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M008073200

Hojilla, C. V., Kim, I., Kassiri, Z., Fata, J. E., Fang, H., & Khokha, R. (2007). Metalloproteinase axes increase beta-catenin signaling in primary mouse mammary epithelial cells lacking TIMP3. *J Cell Sci, 120*(Pt 6), 1050-1060. doi: 10.1242/jcs.003335

Hojilla, C. V., Wood, G. A., & Khokha, R. (2008). Inflammation and breast cancer: metalloproteinases as common effectors of inflammation and extracellular matrix breakdown in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res, 10*(2), 205. doi: 10.1186/bcr1980

Holliday, D. L., Brouilette, K. T., Markert, A., Gordon, L. A., & Jones, J. L. (2009). Novel multicellular organotypic models of normal and malignant breast: tools for dissecting the role of the microenvironment in breast cancer progression. *Breast Cancer Res, 11*(1), R3. doi: 10.1186/bcr2218

Holmes, W. R., & Edelstein-Keshet, L. (2012). A comparison of computational models for eukaryotic cell shape and motility. *PLoS Comput Biol, 8*(12), e1002793. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002793

Hsiao, Y. H., Tsai, H. D., Chou, M. C., & Man, Y. G. (2011). The myoepithelial cell layer may serve as a potential trigger factor for different outcomes of stage-matched invasive lobular and ductal breast cancers. *Int J Biol Sci*, *7*(2), 147-153.

Hsu, M. Y., Meier, F. E., Nesbit, M., Hsu, J. Y., Van Belle, P., Elder, D. E., & Herlyn, M. (2000). E-cadherin expression in melanoma cells restores keratinocyte-mediated growth control and down-regulates expression of invasion-related adhesion receptors. *Am J Pathol, 156*(5), 1515-1525. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65023-7

Hsu, Y. P., Staton, C. A., Cross, N., & Buttle, D. J. (2012). Anti-angiogenic properties of ADAMTS-4 in vitro. *Int J Exp Pathol,* 93(1), 70-77. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2613.2011.00802.x

Hua, Y., Duan, S., Murmann, A. E., Larsen, N., Kjems, J., Lund, A. H., & Peter, M. E. (2011). miRConnect: identifying effector genes of miRNAs and miRNA families in cancer cells. *PLoS One*, *6*(10), e26521. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026521

Huang, W., Li, W. Q., Dehnade, F., & Zafarullah, M. (2002). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-4 (TIMP-4) gene expression is increased in human osteoarthritic femoral head cartilage. *J Cell Biochem*, *85*(2), 295-303. doi: 10.1002/jcb.10138

Hubmacher, D., & Apte, S. S. (2011). Genetic and functional linkage between ADAMTS superfamily proteins and fibrillin-1: a novel mechanism influencing microfibril assembly and function. *Cell Mol Life Sci, 68*(19), 3137-3148. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0780-9

Humphries, J. D., Byron, A., & Humphries, M. J. (2006). Integrin ligands at a glance. *J Cell Sci*, *119*(Pt 19), 3901-3903. doi: 10.1242/jcs.03098

Humphries, J. D., Schofield, N. R., Mostafavi-Pour, Z., Green, L. J., Garratt, A. N., Mould, A. P., & Humphries, M. J. (2005). Dual functionality of the anti-beta1 integrin antibody, 12G10, exemplifies agonistic signalling from the ligand binding pocket of integrin adhesion receptors. *J Biol Chem*, *280*(11), 10234-10243. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M411102200

Hurskainen, T. L., Hirohata, S., Seldin, M. F., & Apte, S. S. (1999). ADAM-TS5, ADAM-TS6, and ADAM-TS7, novel members of a new family of zinc metalloproteases. General features and genomic distribution of the ADAM-TS family. *J Biol Chem*, *274*(36), 25555-25563.

Huxley-Jones, J., Apte, S. S., Robertson, D. L., & Boot-Handford, R. P. (2005). The characterisation of six ADAMTS proteases in the basal chordate Ciona intestinalis provides new insights into the vertebrate ADAMTS family. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 37*(9), 1838-1845. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2005.03.009

Huxley-Jones, J., Clarke, T. K., Beck, C., Toubaris, G., Robertson, D. L., & Boot-Handford, R. P. (2007). The evolution of the vertebrate metzincins; insights from Ciona intestinalis and Danio rerio. *BMC Evol Biol*, *7*, 63. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-7-63

Huxley-Jones, J., Robertson, D. L., & Boot-Handford, R. P. (2007). On the origins of the extracellular matrix in vertebrates. *Matrix Biol, 26*(1), 2-11. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2006.09.008

Hynes, R. O. (2002). Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. *Cell, 110*(6), 673-687.

lliopoulos, D., Malizos, K. N., Oikonomou, P., & Tsezou, A. (2008). Integrative microRNA and proteomic approaches identify novel osteoarthritis genes and their collaborative metabolic and inflammatory networks. *PLoS One, 3*(11), e3740. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003740

Inoue, Hirofumi, & Sakaue, Tomohisa. (2013). Spatiotemporal visualisation of proHB-EGF ectodomain shedding in living cells. *Journal of*

Iruela-Arispe, M. L., Carpizo, D., & Luque, A. (2003). ADAMTS1: a matrix metalloprotease with angioinhibitory properties. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 995*, 183-190.

Ishiguro, K., Kadomatsu, K., Kojima, T., Muramatsu, H., Tsuzuki, S., Nakamura, E., Muramatsu, T. (2000). Syndecan-4 deficiency impairs focal adhesion formation only under restricted conditions. *J Biol Chem*, *275*(8), 5249-5252.

Ismat, A., Cheshire, A. M., & Andrew, D. J. (2013). The secreted AdamTS-A metalloprotease is required for collective cell migration. *Development, 140*(9), 1981-1993. doi: 10.1242/dev.087908

J. Jones, M. Allen, G. Thomas, M. Dawoud, S. Vallath, S. Payne, D. Edwards, C. Pennington, J. Marshall and I. Hart. (2009). DCIS-Associated Myoepithelial Cells Expressing the v β 6 Integrin Modify Tumour Cell Behaviour: A Predictor of Invasive Progression. *Cancer research*.

Jee, B. K., Park, K. M., Surendran, S., Lee, W. K., Han, C. W., Kim, Y. S., & Lim, Y. (2006). KAI1/CD82 suppresses tumor invasion by MMP9 inactivation via TIMP1 up-regulation in the H1299 human lung carcinoma cell line. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 342*(2), 655-661. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.01.153

Jin, H., Wang, X., Ying, J., Wong, A. H., Li, H., Lee, K. Y., Tao, Q. (2007). Epigenetic identification of ADAMTS18 as a novel 16q23.1 tumor suppressor frequently silenced in esophageal, nasopharyngeal and multiple other carcinomas. *Oncogene, 26*(53), 7490-7498. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210559

Jones, C., Mackay, A., Grigoriadis, A., Cossu, A., Reis-Filho, J. S., Fulford, L., Lakhani, S. R. (2004). Expression profiling of purified normal human luminal and myoepithelial breast cells: identification of novel prognostic markers for breast cancer. *Cancer Res, 64*(9), 3037-3045.

Jones, G. C., Corps, A. N., Pennington, C. J., Clark, I. M., Edwards, D. R., Bradley, M. M., Riley, G. P. (2006). Expression profiling of metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in normal and degenerate human achilles tendon. *Arthritis Rheum*, *54*(3), 832-842. doi: 10.1002/art.21672

Jones, G. C., & Riley, G. P. (2005). ADAMTS proteinases: a multi-domain, multi-functional family with roles in extracellular matrix turnover and arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther*, 7(4), 160-169. doi: 10.1186/ar1783

Jones, J. L. (2006). Overdiagnosis and overtreatment of breast cancer: progression of ductal carcinoma in situ: the pathological perspective. *Breast Cancer Res, 8*(2), 204. doi: 10.1186/bcr1397

Jones, J. L., Shaw, J. A., Pringle, J. H., & Walker, R. A. (2003). Primary breast myoepithelial cells exert an invasion-suppressor effect on breast cancer cells via paracrine down-regulation of MMP expression in fibroblasts and tumour cells. *J Pathol, 201*(4), 562-572. doi: 10.1002/path.1483

Jones, S., Zhang, X., Parsons, D. W., Lin, J. C., Leary, R. J., Angenendt, P., Kinzler, K. W. (2008). Core signaling pathways in human pancreatic cancers revealed by global genomic analyses. *Science*, *321*(5897), 1801-1806. doi: 10.1126/science.1164368

Jonsson-Rylander, A. C., Nilsson, T., Fritsche-Danielson, R., Hammarstrom, A., Behrendt, M., Andersson, J. O., Lee-Sogaard, C. H. (2005). Role of ADAMTS-1 in atherosclerosis: remodeling of carotid artery, immunohistochemistry, and proteolysis of versican. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 25*(1), 180-185. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000150045.27127.37

Kakkad, S. M., Solaiyappan, M., Argani, P., Sukumar, S., Jacobs, L. K., Leibfritz, D., Glunde, K. (2012). Collagen I fiber density increases in lymph node positive breast cancers: pilot study. *J Biomed Opt, 17*(11), 116017. doi: 10.1117/1.JBO.17.11.116017

Kalluri, R. (2003). Basement membranes: structure, assembly and role in tumour angiogenesis. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *3*(6), 422-433. doi: 10.1038/nrc1094

Kaplan, R. N., Riba, R. D., Zacharoulis, S., Bramley, A. H., Vincent, L., Costa, C., Lyden, D. (2005). VEGFR1-positive haematopoietic bone marrow progenitors initiate the pre-metastatic niche. *Nature*, *438*(7069), 820-827. doi: 10.1038/nature04186

Karagiannis, E. D., & Popel, A. S. (2007). Anti-angiogenic peptides identified in thrombospondin type I domains. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 359*(1), 63-69. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.05.041

Kariya, Y., & Gu, J. (2011). N-glycosylation of ss4 integrin controls the adhesion and motility of keratinocytes. *PLoS One, 6*(11), e27084. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027084

Kashiwagi, M., Enghild, J. J., Gendron, C., Hughes, C., Caterson, B., Itoh, Y., & Nagase, H. (2004). Altered proteolytic activities of ADAMTS-4 expressed by C-terminal processing. *J Biol Chem*, *279*(11), 10109-10119. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M312123200

Kashyap, T., Germain, E., Roche, M., Lyle, S., & Rabinovitz, I. (2011). Role of beta4 integrin phosphorylation in human invasive squamous cell carcinoma: regulation of hemidesmosome stability modulates cell migration. *Lab Invest, 91*(10), 1414-1426. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2011.104

Kassiri, Z., Oudit, G. Y., Sanchez, O., Dawood, F., Mohammed, F. F., Nuttall, R. K., Khokha, R. (2005). Combination of tumor necrosis factor-alpha ablation and matrix metalloproteinase inhibition prevents heart failure after pressure overload in tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 knock-out mice. *Circ Res*, *97*(4), 380-390. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000178789.16929.cf

Kaushal, G. P., & Shah, S. V. (2000). The new kids on the block: ADAMTSs, potentially multifunctional metalloproteinases of the ADAM family. *J Clin Invest, 105*(10), 1335-1337. doi: 10.1172/JCI10078

Kelwick, R, & Edwards, D R. (2014 (Submitted)). The ADAMTS (A Disintegrin and Metalloproteinase with Thrombospondin Motifs) family. *Genome Biology*.

Kelwick, R., Wagstaff, L., Decock, J, Roghi, C., Cooley, L. S., Robinson, S D, Edwards, D R. (2014 (Submitted)). Metalloproteinase-dependent and –independent processes contribute to inhibition of breast cancer cell migration, angiogenesis and liver metastasis by ADAMTS-15 *International journal of cancer*.

Kennecke, H., Yerushalmi, R., Woods, R., Cheang, M. C., Voduc, D., Speers, C. H., Gelmon, K. (2010). Metastatic behavior of breast cancer subtypes. *J Clin Oncol, 28*(20), 3271-3277. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.25.9820

Kentzer, E. J., Buko, A., Menon, G., & Sarin, V. K. (1990). Carbohydrate composition and presence of a fucose-protein linkage in recombinant human pro-urokinase. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 171*(1), 401-406.

Kern, C. B., Wessels, A., McGarity, J., Dixon, L. J., Alston, E., Argraves, W. S., Apte, S. S. (2010). Reduced versican cleavage due to Adamts9 haploinsufficiency is associated with cardiac and aortic anomalies. *Matrix Biol, 29*(4), 304-316. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2010.01.005

Keshamouni, V. G., Mattingly, R. R., & Reddy, K. B. (2002). Mechanism of 17-beta-estradiolinduced Erk1/2 activation in breast cancer cells. A role for HER2 AND PKC-delta. *J Biol Chem*, 277(25), 22558-22565. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M202351200

Kessenbrock, K., Plaks, V., & Werb, Z. (2010). Matrix metalloproteinases: regulators of the tumor microenvironment. *Cell, 141*(1), 52-67. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.015

Kesteloot, F., Desmouliere, A., Leclercq, I., Thiry, M., Arrese, J. E., Prockop, D. J., Colige, A. (2007). ADAM metallopeptidase with thrombospondin type 1 motif 2 inactivation reduces the extent and stability of carbon tetrachloride-induced hepatic fibrosis in mice. *Hepatology*, *46*(5), 1620-1631. doi: 10.1002/hep.21868

Keum, E., Kim, Y., Kim, J., Kwon, S., Lim, Y., Han, I., & Oh, E. S. (2004). Syndecan-4 regulates localization, activity and stability of protein kinase C-alpha. *Biochem J,* 378(Pt 3), 1007-1014. doi: 10.1042/BJ20031734

Kevorkian, L., Young, D. A., Darrah, C., Donell, S. T., Shepstone, L., Porter, S., Clark, I. M. (2004). Expression profiling of metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in cartilage. *Arthritis Rheum*, *50*(1), 131-141. doi: 10.1002/art.11433

Kintakas, C., & McCulloch, D. R. (2011). Emerging roles for ADAMTS5 during development and disease. *Matrix Biol, 30*(5-6), 311-317. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2011.05.004

Kleifeld, O., Doucet, A., auf dem Keller, U., Prudova, A., Schilling, O., Kainthan, R. K., Overall, C. M. (2010). Isotopic labeling of terminal amines in complex samples identifies protein N-termini and protease cleavage products. *Nat Biotechnol, 28*(3), 281-288. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1611

Klein, C. A. (2004). Gene expression sigantures, cancer cell evolution and metastatic progression. *Cell Cycle*, *3*(1), 29-31.

Klein, C. A. (2009). Parallel progression of primary tumours and metastases. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *9*(4), 302-312. doi: 10.1038/nrc2627

Klein, G. (1998). Foulds' dangerous idea revisited: the multistep development of tumors 40 years later. *Adv Cancer Res, 72*, 1-23.

Koo, B. H., Coe, D. M., Dixon, L. J., Somerville, R. P., Nelson, C. M., Wang, L. W., Apte, S. S. (2010). ADAMTS9 is a cell-autonomously acting, anti-angiogenic metalloprotease expressed by microvascular endothelial cells. *Am J Pathol, 176*(3), 1494-1504. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.090655

Koo, B. H., Longpre, J. M., Somerville, R. P., Alexander, J. P., Leduc, R., & Apte, S. S. (2006). Cell-surface processing of pro-ADAMTS9 by furin. *J Biol Chem, 281*(18), 12485-12494. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M511083200

Koo, B. H., Longpre, J. M., Somerville, R. P., Alexander, J. P., Leduc, R., & Apte, S. S. (2007). Regulation of ADAMTS9 secretion and enzymatic activity by its propeptide. *J Biol Chem*, *282*(22), 16146-16154. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M610161200

Kopfstein, L., & Christofori, G. (2006). Metastasis: cell-autonomous mechanisms versus contributions by the tumor microenvironment. *Cell Mol Life Sci, 63*(4), 449-468. doi: 10.1007/s00018-005-5296-8

Kopitz, C., Gerg, M., Bandapalli, O. R., Ister, D., Pennington, C. J., Hauser, S., Kruger, A. (2007). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 promotes liver metastasis by induction of hepatocyte growth factor signaling. *Cancer Res,* 67(18), 8615-8623. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0232

Koshy, P. J., Lundy, C. J., Rowan, A. D., Porter, S., Edwards, D. R., Hogan, A., Cawston, T. E. (2002). The modulation of matrix metalloproteinase and ADAM gene expression in human chondrocytes by interleukin-1 and oncostatin M: a time-course study using real-time quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction. *Arthritis Rheum, 46*(4), 961-967. doi: 10.1002/art.10212

Koziol, A., Martin-Alonso, M., Clemente, C., Gonzalo, P., & Arroyo, A. G. (2012). Site-specific cellular functions of MT1-MMP. *Eur J Cell Biol, 91*(11-12), 889-895. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2012.07.003

Kraljevic Pavelic, S., Sedic, M., Bosnjak, H., Spaventi, S., & Pavelic, K. (2011). Metastasis: new perspectives on an old problem. *Mol Cancer, 10,* 22. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-10-22

Krampert, M., Kuenzle, S., Thai, S. N., Lee, N., Iruela-Arispe, M. L., & Werner, S. (2005). ADAMTS1 proteinase is up-regulated in wounded skin and regulates migration of fibroblasts and endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem*, *280*(25), 23844-23852. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M412212200

Krieg, J., Glasner, W., Vicentini, A., Doucey, M. A., Loffler, A., Hess, D., & Hofsteenge, J. (1997). C-Mannosylation of human RNase 2 is an intracellular process performed by a variety of cultured cells. *J Biol Chem*, *272*(42), 26687-26692.

Krstic, D., Rodriguez, M., & Knuesel, I. (2012). Regulated proteolytic processing of Reelin through interplay of tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), ADAMTS-4, ADAMTS-5, and their modulators. *PLoS One*, *7*(10), e47793. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047793

Kruger, A., Kates, R. E., & Edwards, D. R. (2010). Avoiding spam in the proteolytic internet: future strategies for anti-metastatic MMP inhibition. *Biochim Biophys Acta, 1803*(1), 95-102. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2009.09.016

Kruger, A., Schirrmacher, V., & von Hoegen, P. (1994). Scattered micrometastases visualized at the single-cell level: detection and re-isolation of lacZ-labeled metastasized lymphoma cells. *Int J Cancer, 58*(2), 275-284.

Kumar, S., Rao, N., & Ge, R. (2012). Emerging Roles of ADAMTSs in Angiogenesis and Cancer. *Cancers (Basel), 4*(4), 1252-1299. doi: 10.3390/cancers4041252

Kumar, S., Sharghi-Namini, S., Rao, N., & Ge, R. (2012). ADAMTS5 functions as an antiangiogenic and anti-tumorigenic protein independent of its proteoglycanase activity. *Am J Pathol, 181*(3), 1056-1068. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.05.022

Kumar, S., Xu, J., Perkins, C., Guo, F., Snapper, S., Finkelman, F. D., Filippi, M. D. (2012). Cdc42 regulates neutrophil migration via crosstalk between WASp, CD11b, and microtubules. *Blood, 120*(17), 3563-3574. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-04-426981

Kuno, K., Bannai, K., Hakozaki, M., Matsushima, K., & Hirose, K. (2004). The carboxyl-terminal half region of ADAMTS-1 suppresses both tumorigenicity and experimental tumor metastatic potential. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, *319*(4), 1327-1333. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.05.105

Kuno, K., Kanada, N., Nakashima, E., Fujiki, F., Ichimura, F., & Matsushima, K. (1997). Molecular cloning of a gene encoding a new type of metalloproteinase-disintegrin family protein with thrombospondin motifs as an inflammation associated gene. *J Biol Chem*, 272(1), 556-562.

Kuno, K., & Matsushima, K. (1998). ADAMTS-1 protein anchors at the extracellular matrix through the thrombospondin type I motifs and its spacing region. *J Biol Chem*, *273*(22), 13912-13917.

Kuno, K., Okada, Y., Kawashima, H., Nakamura, H., Miyasaka, M., Ohno, H., & Matsushima, K. (2000). ADAMTS-1 cleaves a cartilage proteoglycan, aggrecan. *FEBS Lett, 478*(3), 241-245.

Kuno, K., Terashima, Y., & Matsushima, K. (1999). ADAMTS-1 is an active metalloproteinase associated with the extracellular matrix. *J Biol Chem*, 274(26), 18821-18826.

Kurisu, S., & Takenawa, T. (2009). The WASP and WAVE family proteins. *Genome Biol, 10*(6), 226. doi: 10.1186/gb-2009-10-6-226

Kutz, W. E., Wang, L. W., Bader, H. L., Majors, A. K., Iwata, K., Traboulsi, E. I., Apte, S. S. (2011). ADAMTS10 protein interacts with fibrillin-1 and promotes its deposition in extracellular matrix of cultured fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem, 286*(19), 17156-17167. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.231571

Kutz, W. E., Wang, L. W., Dagoneau, N., Odrcic, K. J., Cormier-Daire, V., Traboulsi, E. I., & Apte, S. S. (2008). Functional analysis of an ADAMTS10 signal peptide mutation in Weill-Marchesani syndrome demonstrates a long-range effect on secretion of the full-length enzyme. *Hum Mutat, 29*(12), 1425-1434. doi: 10.1002/humu.20797

Lacroix, M., & Leclercq, G. (2004). Relevance of breast cancer cell lines as models for breast tumours: an update. *Breast Cancer Res Treat,* 83(3), 249-289. doi: 10.1023/B:BREA.0000014042.54925.cc

Lafleur, M. A., Forsyth, P. A., Atkinson, S. J., Murphy, G., & Edwards, D. R. (2001). Perivascular cells regulate endothelial membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase activity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 282(2), 463-473. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.2001.4596

Lafleur, Marc A., Handsley, Madeleine M., & Edwards, Dylan R. (2004). Metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in angiogenesis. *Expert Rev Mol Med*, *5*(23), 1-39. doi: 10.1017/s1462399403006628

Lafleur, M. A., Handsley, M. M., Knauper, V., Murphy, G., & Edwards, D. R. (2002). Endothelial tubulogenesis within fibrin gels specifically requires the activity of membrane-type-matrix metalloproteinases (MT-MMPs). *J Cell Sci, 115*(Pt 17), 3427-3438.

Lai, J. M., Hsieh, C. L., & Chang, Z. F. (2003). Caspase activation during phorbol ester-induced apoptosis requires ROCK-dependent myosin-mediated contraction. *J Cell Sci, 116*(Pt 17), 3491-3501. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00660

Lambaerts, K., Wilcox-Adelman, S. A., & Zimmermann, P. (2009). The signaling mechanisms of syndecan heparan sulfate proteoglycans. *Curr Opin Cell Biol, 21*(5), 662-669. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2009.05.002

Langley, R. R., & Fidler, I. J. (2011). The seed and soil hypothesis revisited--the role of tumorstroma interactions in metastasis to different organs. *Int J Cancer, 128*(11), 2527-2535. doi: 10.1002/ijc.26031

Le Goff, C., Morice-Picard, F., Dagoneau, N., Wang, L. W., Perrot, C., Crow, Y. J., Cormier-Daire, V. (2008). ADAMTSL2 mutations in geleophysic dysplasia demonstrate a role for ADAMTS-like proteins in TGF-beta bioavailability regulation. *Nat Genet, 40*(9), 1119-1123. doi: 10.1038/ng.199

Le Goff, C., Somerville, R. P., Kesteloot, F., Powell, K., Birk, D. E., Colige, A. C., & Apte, S. S. (2006). Regulation of procollagen amino-propeptide processing during mouse embryogenesis by specialization of homologous ADAMTS proteases: insights on collagen biosynthesis and dermatosparaxis. *Development, 133*(8), 1587-1596. doi: 10.1242/dev.02308

Le Naour, F., Andre, M., Boucheix, C., & Rubinstein, E. (2006). Membrane microdomains and proteomics: lessons from tetraspanin microdomains and comparison with lipid rafts. *Proteomics*, *6*(24), 6447-6454. doi: 10.1002/pmic.200600282

Leary, A., & Dowsett, M. (2006). Combination therapy with aromatase inhibitors: the next era of breast cancer treatment? *Br J Cancer*, *95*(6), 661-666. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603316

Lederle, W., Depner, S., Schnur, S., Obermueller, E., Catone, N., Just, A., Mueller, M. M. (2011). IL-6 promotes malignant growth of skin SCCs by regulating a network of autocrine and paracrine cytokines. *Int J Cancer, 128*(12), 2803-2814. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25621

Lee, M. M., Yoon, B. J., Osiewicz, K., Preston, M., Bundy, B., van Heeckeren, A. M., Soloway, P. D. (2005). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 1 regulates resistance to infection. *Infect Immun*, *73*(1), 661-665. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.1.661-665.2005

Lee, N. V., Rodriguez-Manzaneque, J. C., Thai, S. N., Twal, W. O., Luque, A., Lyons, K. M., Iruela-Arispe, M. L. (2005). Fibulin-1 acts as a cofactor for the matrix metalloprotease ADAMTS-1. *J Biol Chem*, *280*(41), 34796-34804. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M506980200

Lee, N. V., Sato, M., Annis, D. S., Loo, J. A., Wu, L., Mosher, D. F., & Iruela-Arispe, M. L. (2006). ADAMTS1 mediates the release of antiangiogenic polypeptides from TSP1 and 2. *EMBO J*, *25*(22), 5270-5283. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601400

Lee, S., Mohsin, S. K., Mao, S., Hilsenbeck, S. G., Medina, D., & Allred, D. C. (2006). Hormones, receptors, and growth in hyperplastic enlarged lobular units: early potential precursors of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res, 8*(1), R6. doi: 10.1186/bcr1367

Lendorf, M. E., Manon-Jensen, T., Kronqvist, P., Multhaupt, H. A., & Couchman, J. R. (2011). Syndecan-1 and syndecan-4 are independent indicators in breast carcinoma. *J Histochem Cytochem*, *5*9(6), 615-629. doi: 10.1369/0022155411405057

Li, J., Anemaet, W., Diaz, M. A., Buchanan, S., Tortorella, M., Malfait, A. M., Plaas, A. (2011). Knockout of ADAMTS5 does not eliminate cartilage aggrecanase activity but abrogates joint fibrosis and promotes cartilage aggrecan deposition in murine osteoarthritis models. *J Orthop Res, 29*(4), 516-522. doi: 10.1002/jor.21215

Li, L., & Chaikof, E. L. (2002). Mechanical stress regulates syndecan-4 expression and redistribution in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 22*(1), 61-68. doi: 10.1161/hq0102.100314

Li, S. W., Arita, M., Fertala, A., Bao, Y., Kopen, G. C., Langsjo, T. K., Prockop, D. J. (2001). Transgenic mice with inactive alleles for procollagen N-proteinase (ADAMTS-2) develop fragile skin and male sterility. *Biochem J*, 355(Pt 2), 271-278.

Li, Z., Nardi, M. A., Li, Y. S., Zhang, W., Pan, R., Dang, S., Karpatkin, S. (2009). C-terminal ADAMTS-18 fragment induces oxidative platelet fragmentation, dissolves platelet aggregates, and protects against carotid artery occlusion and cerebral stroke. *Blood, 113*(24), 6051-6060. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-07-170571

Lim, N. H., Kashiwagi, M., Visse, R., Jones, J., Enghild, J. J., Brew, K., & Nagase, H. (2010). Reactive-site mutants of N-TIMP-3 that selectively inhibit ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5: biological and structural implications. *Biochem J, 431*(1), 113-122. doi: 10.1042/BJ20100725

Lin, E. A., & Liu, C. J. (2010). The role of ADAMTSs in arthritis. *Protein Cell, 1*(1), 33-47. doi: 10.1007/s13238-010-0002-5

Lin, M., Jackson, P., Tester, A. M., Diaconu, E., Overall, C. M., Blalock, J. E., & Pearlman, E. (2008). Matrix metalloproteinase-8 facilitates neutrophil migration through the corneal stromal matrix by collagen degradation and production of the chemotactic peptide Pro-Gly-Pro. *Am J Pathol, 173*(1), 144-153. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2008.080081

Lind, G. E., Kleivi, K., Meling, G. I., Teixeira, M. R., Thiis-Evensen, E., Rognum, T. O., & Lothe, R. A. (2006). ADAMTS1, CRABP1, and NR3C1 identified as epigenetically deregulated genes in colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cell Oncol, 28*(5-6), 259-272.

Lind, T., Birch, M. A., & McKie, N. (2006). Purification of an insect derived recombinant human ADAMTS-1 reveals novel gelatin (type I collagen) degrading activities. *Mol Cell Biochem, 281*(1-2), 95-102. doi: 10.1007/s11010-006-0637-y

Liotta, L. A., Tryggvason, K., Garbisa, S., Hart, I., Foltz, C. M., & Shafie, S. (1980). Metastatic potential correlates with enzymatic degradation of basement membrane collagen. *Nature*, *284*(5751), 67-68.

Litjens, S. H., de Pereda, J. M., & Sonnenberg, A. (2006). Current insights into the formation and breakdown of hemidesmosomes. *Trends Cell Biol, 16*(7), 376-383. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2006.05.004

Little, C. B., Mittaz, L., Belluoccio, D., Rogerson, F. M., Campbell, I. K., Meeker, C. T., Fosang, A. J. (2005). ADAMTS-1-knockout mice do not exhibit abnormalities in aggrecan turnover in vitro or in vivo. *Arthritis Rheum*, *52*(5), 1461-1472. doi: 10.1002/art.21022

Liu, C. J., Kong, W., Ilalov, K., Yu, S., Xu, K., Prazak, L., Di Cesare, P. E. (2006). ADAMTS-7: a metalloproteinase that directly binds to and degrades cartilage oligomeric matrix protein. *FASEB J*, *20*(7), 988-990. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-3877fje

Liu, C. J., Kong, W., Xu, K., Luan, Y., Ilalov, K., Sehgal, B., Di Cesare, P. E. (2006). ADAMTS-12 associates with and degrades cartilage oligomeric matrix protein. *J Biol Chem*, *281*(23), 15800-15808. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M513433200

Liu, H., Chen, S. E., Jin, B., Carson, J. A., Niu, A., Durham, W., Li, Y. P. (2010). TIMP3: a physiological regulator of adult myogenesis. *J Cell Sci, 123*(Pt 17), 2914-2921. doi: 10.1242/jcs.057620

Liu, W., Xin, H., Eckert, D. T., Brown, J. A., & Gnarra, J. R. (2011). Hypoxia and cell cycle regulation of the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor. *Oncogene, 30*(1), 21-31. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.395

Liu, Y. J., Xu, Y., & Yu, Q. (2006). Full-length ADAMTS-1 and the ADAMTS-1 fragments display pro- and antimetastatic activity, respectively. *Oncogene*, *25*(17), 2452-2467. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209287

Livak, K. J., & Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods*, *25*(4), 402-408. doi: 10.1006/meth.2001.1262

Llamazares, M., Cal, S., Quesada, V., & Lopez-Otin, C. (2003). Identification and characterization of ADAMTS-20 defines a novel subfamily of metalloproteinases-disintegrins with multiple thrombospondin-1 repeats and a unique GON domain. *J Biol Chem, 278*(15), 13382-13389. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M211900200

Llamazares, M., Obaya, A. J., Moncada-Pazos, A., Heljasvaara, R., Espada, J., Lopez-Otin, C., & Cal, S. (2007). The ADAMTS12 metalloproteinase exhibits anti-tumorigenic properties through modulation of the Ras-dependent ERK signalling pathway. *J Cell Sci, 120*(Pt 20), 3544-3552. doi: 10.1242/jcs.005751

Lo, P. H., Leung, A. C., Kwok, C. Y., Cheung, W. S., Ko, J. M., Yang, L. C., Lung, M. L. (2007). Identification of a tumor suppressive critical region mapping to 3p14.2 in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and studies of a candidate tumor suppressor gene, ADAMTS9. *Oncogene, 26*(1), 148-157. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209767

Lohmander, L. S., Saxne, T., & Heinegard, D. K. (1994). Release of cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) into joint fluid after knee injury and in osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis*, *53*(1), 8-13.

Longpre, J. M., McCulloch, D. R., Koo, B. H., Alexander, J. P., Apte, S. S., & Leduc, R. (2009). Characterization of proADAMTS5 processing by proprotein convertases. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 41*(5), 1116-1126. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2008.10.008

Lopez-Otin, C., & Bond, J. S. (2008). Proteases: multifunctional enzymes in life and disease. *J Biol Chem*, 283(45), 30433-30437. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R800035200

Lopez-Otin, C., & Matrisian, L. M. (2007). Emerging roles of proteases in tumour suppression. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 7(10), 800-808. doi: 10.1038/nrc2228

Lopez-Otin, C., & Overall, C. M. (2002). Protease degradomics: a new challenge for proteomics. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 3*(7), 509-519. doi: 10.1038/nrm858

Lopez-Otin, C., Palavalli, L. H., & Samuels, Y. (2009). Protective roles of matrix metalloproteinases: from mouse models to human cancer. *Cell Cycle*, *8*(22), 3657-3662.

Low, J.A., Johnson, M.D., Bone, E.A., Dickson, R.B., Low, A, Bone, A, Dickson, B. (1996). The matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor batimastat (BB-94) retards human breast cancer solid tumor growth but not ascites formation in nude mice. *Clin Cancer Res, 2*, 1207.

Lu, X., Wang, Q., Hu, G., Van Poznak, C., Fleisher, M., Reiss, M., Kang, Y. (2009). ADAMTS1 and MMP1 proteolytically engage EGF-like ligands in an osteolytic signaling cascade for bone metastasis. *Genes Dev, 23*(16), 1882-1894. doi: 10.1101/gad.1824809

Lui, C., Lee, K., & Nelson, C. M. (2012). Matrix compliance and RhoA direct the differentiation of mammary progenitor cells. *Biomech Model Mechanobiol, 11*(8), 1241-1249. doi: 10.1007/s10237-011-0362-7

Lung, H. L., Lo, P. H., Xie, D., Apte, S. S., Cheung, A. K., Cheng, Y., Lung, M. L. (2008). Characterization of a novel epigenetically-silenced, growth-suppressive gene, ADAMTS9, and its association with lymph node metastases in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Int J Cancer, 123*(2), 401-408. doi: 10.1002/ijc.23528

Luque, A., Carpizo, D. R., & Iruela-Arispe, M. L. (2003). ADAMTS1/METH1 inhibits endothelial cell proliferation by direct binding and sequestration of VEGF165. *J Biol Chem*, 278(26), 23656-23665. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M212964200

Luz, Clara, Ram, Sampieri, & Sciences, Biological. (2006). Analysis of cell signalling pathways involved in expression of metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in fibroblasts Clara Luz Sampieri Ramírez University of East Anglia School of Biological Sciences. *Sciences-New York*.

Ma, X. J., Salunga, R., Tuggle, J. T., Gaudet, J., Enright, E., McQuary, P., Sgroi, D. C. (2003). Gene expression profiles of human breast cancer progression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *100*(10), 5974-5979. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0931261100

Maingot, L., Leroux, F., Landry, V., Dumont, J., Nagase, H., Villoutreix, B., Deprez, B. (2010). New non-hydroxamic ADAMTS-5 inhibitors based on the 1,2,4-triazole-3-thiol scaffold. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett, 20*(21), 6213-6216. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2010.08.108

Majerus, E. M., Zheng, X., Tuley, E. A., & Sadler, J. E. (2003). Cleavage of the ADAMTS13 propeptide is not required for protease activity. *J Biol Chem*, 278(47), 46643-46648. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M309872200

Majumdar, Manas K, Askew, Roger, Schelling, Scott, Stedman, Nancy, Blanchet, Tracey, Hopkins, Bei, Glasson, Sonya S. (2007). Double-knockout of ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5 in mice results in physiologically normal animals and prevents the progression of osteoarthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, *56*, 3670-3674. doi: 10.1002/art.23027

Malfait, A. M., Arner, E. C., Song, R. H., Alston, J. T., Markosyan, S., Staten, N., Tortorella, M. D. (2008). Proprotein convertase activation of aggrecanases in cartilage in situ. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, *478*(1), 43-51. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2008.07.012

Malik, F. A., Sanders, A. J., Kayani, M. A., & Jiang, W. G. (2009). Effect of expressional alteration of KAI1 on breast cancer cell growth, adhesion, migration and invasion. *Cancer Genomics Proteomics*, *6*(4), 205-213.

Manon-Jensen, T., Multhaupt, H. A., & Couchman, J. R. (2013). Mapping of matrix metalloproteinase cleavage sites on syndecan-1 and syndecan-4 ectodomains. *FEBS J, 280*(10), 2320-2331. doi: 10.1111/febs.12174

Mao, Y., & Schwarzbauer, J. E. (2005). Fibronectin fibrillogenesis, a cell-mediated matrix assembly process. *Matrix Biol, 24*(6), 389-399. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2005.06.008

Mariotti, A., Kedeshian, P. A., Dans, M., Curatola, A. M., Gagnoux-Palacios, L., & Giancotti, F. G. (2001). EGF-R signaling through Fyn kinase disrupts the function of integrin alpha6beta4 at hemidesmosomes: role in epithelial cell migration and carcinoma invasion. *J Cell Biol, 155*(3), 447-458. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200105017

Martin, M. D., & Matrisian, L. M. (2007). The other side of MMPs: protective roles in tumor progression. *Cancer Metastasis Rev, 26*(3-4), 717-724. doi: 10.1007/s10555-007-9089-4

Matsukawa, Tetsuya, Sakai, Tadahiro, Yonezawa, Tomo, Hiraiwa, Hideki, Hamada, Takashi, Nakashima, Motoshige, Ishiguro, Naoki. (2013). MicroRNA-125b regulates the expression of aggrecanase-1 (ADAMTS-4) in human osteoarthritic chondrocytes. *Arthritis research & therapy*, *15*, R28. doi: 10.1186/ar4164

Mayer, Joanne, Hamel, Michelle G, & Gottschall, Paul E. (2005). Evidence for proteolytic cleavage of brevican by the ADAMTSs in the dentate gyrus after excitotoxic lesion of the mouse entorhinal cortex. *BMC neuroscience*, *6*, 52. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-6-52

McCullagh, K, Wadsworth, H, & Hann, M. (1984). Carboxyalkyl peptide derivatives: European Patent EP126974. 1-111.

McCulloch, D. R., Nelson, C. M., Dixon, L. J., Silver, D. L., Wylie, J. D., Lindner, V., Apte, S. S. (2009). ADAMTS metalloproteases generate active versican fragments that regulate interdigital web regression. *Dev Cell*, *17*(5), 687-698. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2009.09.008

McQuade, Kyle J, Beauvais, DeannaLee M, Burbach, Brandon J, & Rapraeger, Alan C. (2006). Syndecan-1 regulates alphavbeta5 integrin activity in B82L fibroblasts. *Journal of cell science*, *119*, 2445-2456.

Melching, L. I., Fisher, W. D., Lee, E. R., Mort, J. S., & Roughley, P. J. (2006). The cleavage of biglycan by aggrecanases. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*, *14*(11), 1147-1154. doi: 10.1016/j.joca.2006.05.014

Merdek, K. D., Yang, X., Taglienti, C. A., Shaw, L. M., & Mercurio, A. M. (2007). Intrinsic signaling functions of the beta4 integrin intracellular domain. *J Biol Chem*, 282(41), 30322-30330. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M703156200

Michor, F., Liphardt, J., Ferrari, M., & Widom, J. (2011). What does physics have to do with cancer? *Nat Rev Cancer, 11*(9), 657-670. doi: 10.1038/nrc3092

Mierke, C. T., Rosel, D., Fabry, B., & Brabek, J. (2008). Contractile forces in tumor cell migration. *Eur J Cell Biol*, *87*(8-9), 669-676. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2008.01.002

Mitchell, K., Svenson, K. B., Longmate, W. M., Gkirtzimanaki, K., Sadej, R., Wang, X., Dipersio, C. M. (2010). Suppression of integrin alpha3beta1 in breast cancer cells reduces cyclooxygenase-2 gene expression and inhibits tumorigenesis, invasion, and cross-talk to endothelial cells. *Cancer Res, 70*(15), 6359-6367. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4283

Mittaz, L., Ricardo, S., Martinez, G., Kola, I., Kelly, D. J., Little, M. H., Pritchard, M. A. (2005). Neonatal calyceal dilation and renal fibrosis resulting from loss of Adamts-1 in mouse kidney is due to a developmental dysgenesis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant, 20*(2), 419-423. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfh603

Mittaz, L., Russell, D. L., Wilson, T., Brasted, M., Tkalcevic, J., Salamonsen, L. A., Pritchard, M. A. (2004). Adamts-1 is essential for the development and function of the urogenital system. *Biol Reprod*, *70*(4), 1096-1105. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.103.023911

Mohammed, F. F., Pennington, C. J., Kassiri, Z., Rubin, J. S., Soloway, P. D., Ruther, U., Khokha, R. (2005). Metalloproteinase inhibitor TIMP-1 affects hepatocyte cell cycle via HGF activation in murine liver regeneration. *Hepatology*, *41*(4), 857-867. doi: 10.1002/hep.20618

Mohammed, Fazilat F, Smookler, David S, Taylor, Suzanne E M, Fingleton, Barbara, Kassiri, Zamaneh, Sanchez, Otto H, Khokha, Rama. (2004). Abnormal TNF activity in Timp3-/- mice

leads to chronic hepatic inflammation and failure of liver regeneration. *Nature genetics, 36*, 969-977. doi: 10.1038/ng1413

Molokwu, C. N., Adeniji, O. O., Chandrasekharan, S., Hamdy, F. C., & Buttle, D. J. (2010). Androgen regulates ADAMTS15 gene expression in prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Invest, 28*(7), 698-710. doi: 10.3109/07357907.2010.489538

Moncada-Pazos, A., Obaya, A. J., Fraga, M. F., Viloria, C. G., Capella, G., Gausachs, M., Cal, S. (2009). The ADAMTS12 metalloprotease gene is epigenetically silenced in tumor cells and transcriptionally activated in the stroma during progression of colon cancer. *J Cell Sci,* 122(Pt 16), 2906-2913. doi: 10.1242/jcs.050468

Moncada-Pazos, A., Obaya, A. J., Llamazares, M., Heljasvaara, R., Suarez, M. F., Colado, E., Lopez-Otin, C. (2012). ADAMTS-12 metalloprotease is necessary for normal inflammatory response. *J Biol Chem*, 287(47), 39554-39563. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.408625

Moorehead, R. A., Hojilla, C. V., De Belle, I., Wood, G. A., Fata, J. E., Adamson, E. D., Khokha, R. (2003). Insulin-like growth factor-II regulates PTEN expression in the mammary gland. *J Biol Chem*, *278*(50), 50422-50427. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M306894200

Morales, J., Al-Sharif, L., Khalil, D. S., Shinwari, J. M., Bavi, P., Al-Mahrouqi, R. A., Al Tassan, N. (2009). Homozygous mutations in ADAMTS10 and ADAMTS17 cause lenticular myopia, ectopia lentis, glaucoma, spherophakia, and short stature. *Am J Hum Genet, 85*(5), 558-568. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2009.09.011

Morini, M., Mottolese, M., Ferrari, N., Ghiorzo, F., Buglioni, S., Mortarini, R., Albini, A. (2000). The alpha 3 beta 1 integrin is associated with mammary carcinoma cell metastasis, invasion, and gelatinase B (MMP-9) activity. *Int J Cancer*, *87*(3), 336-342.

Mortensen, K., Skouv, J., Hougaard, D. M., & Larsson, L. I. (1999). Endogenous endothelial cell nitric-oxide synthase modulates apoptosis in cultured breast cancer cells and is transcriptionally regulated by p53. *J Biol Chem*, 274(53), 37679-37684.

Mosyak, L., Georgiadis, K., Shane, T., Svenson, K., Hebert, T., McDonagh, T., Somers, W. (2008). Crystal structures of the two major aggrecan degrading enzymes, ADAMTS4 and ADAMTS5. *Protein Sci*, *17*(1), 16-21. doi: 10.1110/ps.073287008

Mueller, M. M., & Fusenig, N. E. (2004). Friends or foes - bipolar effects of the tumour stroma in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer, 4*(11), 839-849. doi: 10.1038/nrc1477

Mullins, R. D., & Hansen, S. D. (2013). In vitro studies of actin filament and network dynamics. *Curr Opin Cell Biol, 25*(1), 6-13. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2012.11.007

Murakami, M., Horowitz, A., Tang, S., Ware, J. A., & Simons, M. (2002). Protein kinase C (PKC) delta regulates PKCalpha activity in a Syndecan-4-dependent manner. *J Biol Chem*, 277(23), 20367-20371. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M202501200

Murphy, G. (2008). The ADAMs: signalling scissors in the tumour microenvironment. *Nat Rev Cancer, 8*(12), 929-941. doi: 10.1038/nrc2459

Murphy, G. (2011). Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases. *Genome Biol, 12*(11), 233. doi: 10.1186/gb-2011-12-11-233

Murphy, Gillian, Edwards, Dylan R, Lafleur, Marc A, Hollenberg, Morley D, Atkinson, Susan J, & Kna, Vera. (2001). Activation of pro-(matrix metalloproteinase-2) (pro-MMP-2) by thrombin is membrane-type-MMP-dependent in human umbilical vein endothelial cells and generates a distinct 63 kDa active species. *Society, 115*, 107-115.

Murphy, G., & Nagase, H. (2011). Localizing matrix metalloproteinase activities in the pericellular environment. *FEBS J*, 278(1), 2-15. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2010.07918.x

Naito, S., Shiomi, T., Okada, A., Kimura, T., Chijiiwa, M., Fujita, Y., Okada, Y. (2007). Expression of ADAMTS4 (aggrecanase-1) in human osteoarthritic cartilage. *Pathol Int, 57*(11), 703-711. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1827.2007.02167.x

Narumiya, S., Ishizaki, T., & Uehata, M. (2000). Use and properties of ROCK-specific inhibitor Y-27632. *Methods Enzymol, 325*, 273-284.

Natali, P. G., Nicotra, M. R., Botti, C., Mottolese, M., Bigotti, A., & Segatto, O. (1992). Changes in expression of alpha 6/beta 4 integrin heterodimer in primary and metastatic breast cancer. *Br J Cancer, 66*(2), 318-322.

Neurath, H., & Walsh, K. A. (1976). Role of proteolytic enzymes in biological regulation (a review). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 73*(11), 3825-3832.

Nguyen, D. X., Bos, P. D., & Massague, J. (2009). Metastasis: from dissemination to organspecific colonization. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *9*(4), 274-284. doi: 10.1038/nrc2622

Nguyen-Ngoc, K. V., Cheung, K. J., Brenot, A., Shamir, E. R., Gray, R. S., Hines, W. C., Ewald, A. J. (2012). ECM microenvironment regulates collective migration and local dissemination in normal and malignant mammary epithelium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 109*(39), E2595-2604. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1212834109

Nicholson, A. C., Malik, S. B., Logsdon, J. M., Jr., & Van Meir, E. G. (2005). Functional evolution of ADAMTS genes: evidence from analyses of phylogeny and gene organization. *BMC Evol Biol*, *5*, 11. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-5-11

Nielsen, B. S., Egeblad, M., Rank, F., Askautrud, H. A., Pennington, C. J., Pedersen, T. X., Lund, L. R. (2008). Matrix metalloproteinase 13 is induced in fibroblasts in polyomavirus middle T antigen-driven mammary carcinoma without influencing tumor progression. *PLoS One, 3*(8), e2959. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002959

Noel, A., Gutierrez-Fernandez, A., Sounni, N. E., Behrendt, N., Maquoi, E., Lund, I. K., Lopez-Otin, C. (2012). New and paradoxical roles of matrix metalloproteinases in the tumor microenvironment. *Front Pharmacol, 3*, 140. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00140

Nuttall, R. K., Pennington, C. J., Taplin, J., Wheal, A., Yong, V. W., Forsyth, P. A., & Edwards, D. R. (2003). Elevated membrane-type matrix metalloproteinases in gliomas revealed by profiling proteases and inhibitors in human cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Res, 1*(5), 333-345.

Nuttall, Robert K, Silva, Claudia, Hader, Walter, Bar-or, Amit, Patel, Kamala D, Edwards, Dylan R, & Yong, V W E E. (2007). Metalloproteinases Are Enriched in Microglia Compared with Leukocytes and They Regulate Cytokine Levels in Activated Microglia. *Time, 526*, 516-526. doi: 10.1002/glia

Obika, M., Ogawa, H., Takahashi, K., Li, J., Hatipoglu, O. F., Cilek, M. Z., Hirohata, S. (2012). Tumor growth inhibitory effect of ADAMTS1 is accompanied by the inhibition of tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Sci, 103*(10), 1889-1897. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2012.02381.x

Odell, I. D., & Cook, D. (2013). Immunofluorescence techniques. *J Invest Dermatol, 133*(1), e4. doi: 10.1038/jid.2012.455

Ogawa, Takashi, Tsubota, Yoshiaki, Hashimoto, Junko, Kariya, Yoshinobu, & Miyazaki, Kaoru. (2007). The Short Arm of Laminin alpha 2 Chain of Laminin-5 (Laminin-332) Binds Syndecan-1 and Regulates Cellular Adhesion and Migration by Suppressing Phosphorylation of Integrin beta 4 Chain. *Mol Biol Cell, 18*, 1621-1633. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E06

Oh, E. S., Woods, A., & Couchman, J. R. (1997). Syndecan-4 proteoglycan regulates the distribution and activity of protein kinase C. *J Biol Chem*, 272(13), 8133-8136. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.13.8133

Oh, J., Takahashi, R., Adachi, E., Kondo, S., Kuratomi, S., Noma, A., Noda, M. (2004). Mutations in two matrix metalloproteinase genes, MMP-2 and MT1-MMP, are synthetic lethal in mice. *Oncogene*, *23*(29), 5041-5048. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1207688

Oldberg, A., Antonsson, P., Lindblom, K., & Heinegard, D. (1992). COMP (cartilage oligomeric matrix protein) is structurally related to the thrombospondins. *J Biol Chem*, *2*67(31), 22346-22350.

Oleksowicz, L., Bhagwati, N., & DeLeon-Fernandez, M. (1999). Deficient activity of von Willebrand's factor-cleaving protease in patients with disseminated malignancies. *Cancer Res*, *59*(9), 2244-2250.

Oliver, M. H., Harrison, N. K., Bishop, J. E., Cole, P. J., & Laurent, G. J. (1989). A rapid and convenient assay for counting cells cultured in microwell plates: application for assessment of growth factors. *J Cell Sci, 92 (Pt 3)*, 513-518.

Ota, I., Li, X. Y., Hu, Y., & Weiss, S. J. (2009). Induction of a MT1-MMP and MT2-MMPdependent basement membrane transmigration program in cancer cells by Snail1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106*(48), 20318-20323. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0910962106

Overall, C. M., & Blobel, C. P. (2007). In search of partners: linking extracellular proteases to substrates. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 8*(3), 245-257. doi: 10.1038/nrm2120

Overall, C.M., & Kleifeld, Oded. (2006). Validating matrix metalloproteinases as drug targets and anti-targets for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *6*, 227-239.

Overall, C. M., & Kleifeld, O. (2006). Towards third generation matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors for cancer therapy. *Br J Cancer*, *94*(7), 941-946. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603043

Overall, C. M., Tam, E. M., Kappelhoff, R., Connor, A., Ewart, T., Morrison, C. J., Seth, A. (2004). Protease degradomics: mass spectrometry discovery of protease substrates and the CLIP-CHIP, a dedicated DNA microarray of all human proteases and inhibitors. *Biol Chem*, *385*(6), 493-504. doi: 10.1515/BC.2004.058

Pagani, O., Senkus, E., Wood, W., Colleoni, M., Cufer, T., Kyriakides, S., Force, Eso-Mbc Task. (2010). International guidelines for management of metastatic breast cancer: can metastatic breast cancer be cured? *J Natl Cancer Inst, 102*(7), 456-463. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djq029

Page-McCaw, A., Ewald, A. J., & Werb, Z. (2007). Matrix metalloproteinases and the regulation of tissue remodelling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 8*(3), 221-233. doi: 10.1038/nrm2125

Pal-Ghosh, S., Blanco, T., Tadvalkar, G., Pajoohesh-Ganji, A., Parthasarathy, A., Zieske, J. D., & Stepp, M. A. (2011). MMP9 cleavage of the beta4 integrin ectodomain leads to recurrent epithelial erosions in mice. *J Cell Sci, 124*(Pt 15), 2666-2675. doi: 10.1242/jcs.085480

Palosaari, H., Pennington, C. J., Larmas, M., Edwards, D. R., Tjaderhane, L., & Salo, T. (2003). Expression profile of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and tissue inhibitors of MMPs in mature human odontoblasts and pulp tissue. *Eur J Oral Sci, 111*(2), 117-127.

Park, Y. W., Kang, Y. M., Butterfield, J., Detmar, M., Goronzy, J. J., & Weyand, C. M. (2004). Thrombospondin 2 functions as an endogenous regulator of angiogenesis and inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis. *Am J Pathol, 165*(6), 2087-2098. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63259-2

Parsons, J. T., Horwitz, A. R., & Schwartz, M. A. (2010). Cell adhesion: integrating cytoskeletal dynamics and cellular tension. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 11*(9), 633-643. doi: 10.1038/nrm2957

Paulissen, G., El Hour, M., Rocks, N., Gueders, M. M., Bureau, F., Foidart, J. M., Cataldo, D. D. (2012). Control of allergen-induced inflammation and hyperresponsiveness by the metalloproteinase ADAMTS-12. *J Immunol, 189*(8), 4135-4143. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103739

Paulissen, G., Rocks, N., Gueders, M. M., Crahay, C., Quesada-Calvo, F., Bekaert, S., Cataldo, D. D. (2009). Role of ADAM and ADAMTS metalloproteinases in airway diseases. *Respir Res, 10*, 127. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-10-127

Pavlaki, M., & Zucker, S. (2003). Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors (MMPIs): the beginning of phase I or the termination of phase III clinical trials. *Cancer Metastasis Rev, 22*(2-3), 177-203.

Peluffo, Marina C, Murphy, Melinda J, Talcott Baughman, Serena, Stouffer, Richard L, & Hennebold, Jon D. (2011). Systematic Analysis of Protease Gene Expression in the Rhesus Macaque Ovulatory Follicle: Metalloproteinase Involvement in Follicle Rupture. *Endocrinology*, *152*, 1-12. doi: 10.1210/en.2011-1172

Peters, Marvin a, Wendholt, Doreen, Strietholt, Simon, Frank, Svetlana, Pundt, Noreen, Korb, Adelheid, Pap, Thomas. (2011). The loss of integrin $\alpha 2\beta 1$ suppresses joint inflammation and cartilage destruction in mouse models of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 1-25. doi: 10.1002/art.33487

Petrie, R. J., Doyle, A. D., & Yamada, K. M. (2009). Random versus directionally persistent cell migration. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 10*(8), 538-549. doi: 10.1038/nrm2729

Petrie, R. J., Gavara, N., Chadwick, R. S., & Yamada, K. M. (2012). Nonpolarized signaling reveals two distinct modes of 3D cell migration. *J Cell Biol*, 197(3), 439-455. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201201124

Phillips, Blaine Wesley, Horne, Rachel, Lay, Tan Suat, Rust, William Lathrop, Teck, Tan Thong, & Crook, Jeremy Micah. (2008). Attachment and growth of human embryonic stem cells on microcarriers. *Journal of biotechnology, 138*, 24-32. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2008.07.1997

Pimanda, John E, Maekawa, Akiko, Wind, Troels, Paxton, Julian, Chesterman, Colin N, & Hogg, Philip J. (2004). Congenital thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura in association with a mutation in the second CUB domain of ADAMTS13. *Blood, 103*, 627-629. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-04-1346

Poghosyan, Z., Robbins, S. M., Houslay, M. D., Webster, A., Murphy, G., & Edwards, D. R. (2002). Phosphorylation-dependent interactions between ADAM15 cytoplasmic domain and Src family protein-tyrosine kinases. *J Biol Chem*, 277(7), 4999-5007. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M107430200

Polyak, Kornelia, & Hu, Min. (2005). Do myoepithelial cells hold the key for breast tumor progression? *Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia, 10*, 231-247. doi: 10.1007/s10911-005-9584-6

Polyak, K., & Weinberg, R. A. (2009). Transitions between epithelial and mesenchymal states: acquisition of malignant and stem cell traits. *Nat Rev Cancer, 9*(4), 265-273. doi: 10.1038/nrc2620

Porter, S., Clark, I. M., Kevorkian, L., & Edwards, D. R. (2005). The ADAMTS metalloproteinases. *Biochem J, 386*(Pt 1), 15-27. doi: 10.1042/BJ20040424

Porter, S., Scott, S. D., Sassoon, E. M., Williams, M. R., Jones, J. L., Girling, A. C., Edwards, D. R. (2004). Dysregulated expression of adamalysin-thrombospondin genes in human breast carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res*, *10*(7), 2429-2440.

Porter, S., Span, P. N., Sweep, F. C., Tjan-Heijnen, V. C., Pennington, C. J., Pedersen, T. X., Edwards, D. R. (2006). ADAMTS8 and ADAMTS15 expression predicts survival in human breast carcinoma. *Int J Cancer, 118*(5), 1241-1247. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21476

Potten, C S, Watson, R J, Williams, G T, Tickle, S, Roberts, S A, Harris, M, & Howell, A. (1988). The effect of age and menstrual cycle upon proliferative activity of the normal human breast. *British journal of cancer, 58*, 163-170.

Prat, A., Parker, J. S., Karginova, O., Fan, C., Livasy, C., Herschkowitz, J. I., Perou, C. M. (2010). Phenotypic and molecular characterization of the claudin-low intrinsic subtype of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res, 12*(5), R68. doi: 10.1186/bcr2635

Prockop, D. J., Sieron, A. L., & Li, S. W. (1998). Procollagen N-proteinase and procollagen C-proteinase. Two unusual metalloproteinases that are essential for procollagen processing probably have important roles in development and cell signaling. *Matrix Biol, 16*(7), 399-408.

Pruessmeyer, J., Martin, C., Hess, F. M., Schwarz, N., Schmidt, S., Kogel, T., Ludwig, A. (2010). A disintegrin and metalloproteinase 17 (ADAM17) mediates inflammation-induced shedding of syndecan-1 and -4 by lung epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem*, 285(1), 555-564. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.059394

Quinn, M J, Cooper, N, Rachet, B, Mitry, E, & Coleman, M P. (2008). Survival from cancer of the breast in women in England and Wales up to 2001. *British journal of cancer, 99 Suppl 1*, S53-55. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604587

Rabinovitz, I., & Mercurio, A. M. (1997). The integrin alpha6beta4 functions in carcinoma cell migration on laminin-1 by mediating the formation and stabilization of actin-containing motility structures. *J Cell Biol, 139*(7), 1873-1884.

Rabinovitz, I., Tsomo, L., & Mercurio, A. M. (2004). Protein kinase C-alpha phosphorylation of specific serines in the connecting segment of the beta 4 integrin regulates the dynamics of type II hemidesmosomes. *Mol Cell Biol,* 24(10), 4351-4360. doi: 10.1128/MCB.24.10.4351–4360.2004

Radomski, A., Jurasz, P., Sanders, E. J., Overall, C. M., Bigg, H. F., Edwards, D. R., & Radomski, M. W. (2002). Identification, regulation and role of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-4 (TIMP-4) in human platelets. *Br J Pharmacol, 137*(8), 1330-1338. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0704936

Raftopoulou, M., & Hall, A. (2004). Cell migration: Rho GTPases lead the way. *Dev Biol, 265*(1), 23-32. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2003.06.003

Rakha, E. A., Reis-Filho, J. S., Baehner, F., Dabbs, D. J., Decker, T., Eusebi, V., Ellis, I. O. (2010). Breast cancer prognostic classification in the molecular era: the role of histological grade. *Breast Cancer Res, 12*(4), 207. doi: 10.1186/bcr2607

Rawlings, N. D., Morton, F. R., Kok, C. Y., Kong, J., & Barrett, A. J. (2008). MEROPS: the peptidase database. *Nucleic Acids Res, 36*(Database issue), D320-325. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkm954

Raymond, K., Kreft, M., Song, J. Y., Janssen, H., & Sonnenberg, A. (2007). Dual Role of alpha6beta4 integrin in epidermal tumor growth: tumor-suppressive versus tumor-promoting function. *Mol Biol Cell, 18*(11), 4210-4221. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E06-08-0720

Redondo-Munoz, J., Ugarte-Berzal, E., Terol, M. J., Van den Steen, P. E., Hernandez del Cerro, M., Roderfeld, M., Garcia-Pardo, A. (2010). Matrix metalloproteinase-9 promotes chronic lymphocytic leukemia b cell survival through its hemopexin domain. *Cancer Cell, 17*(2), 160-172. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.12.044

Reymond, N., Im, J. H., Garg, R., Vega, F. M., Borda d'Agua, B., Riou, P., Ridley, A. J. (2012). Cdc42 promotes transendothelial migration of cancer cells through beta1 integrin. *J Cell Biol*, *199*(4), 653-668. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201205169

Riahi, Reza, Yang, Yongliang, Zhang, Donna D, & Wong, Pak Kin. (2012). Advances in woundhealing assays for probing collective cell migration. *Journal of laboratory automation*, *17*, 59-65. doi: 10.1177/2211068211426550

Ricciardelli, C., Frewin, K. M., Tan Ide, A., Williams, E. D., Opeskin, K., Pritchard, M. A., Russell, D. L. (2011). The ADAMTS1 protease gene is required for mammary tumor growth and metastasis. *Am J Pathol, 179*(6), 3075-3085. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.08.021

Ricketts, L. M., Dlugosz, M., Luther, K. B., Haltiwanger, R. S., & Majerus, E. M. (2007). Ofucosylation is required for ADAMTS13 secretion. *J Biol Chem*, 282(23), 17014-17023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M700317200

Ridley, A J, Paterson, H F, Johnston, C L, Diekmann, D, & Hall, A. (1992). The small GTPbinding protein rac regulates growth factor-induced membrane ruffling. *Cell*, *70*, 401-410.

Ridley, A. J., Schwartz, M. A., Burridge, K., Firtel, R. A., Ginsberg, M. H., Borisy, G., Horwitz, A. R. (2003). Cell migration: integrating signals from front to back. *Science*, *302*(5651), 1704-1709. doi: 10.1126/science.1092053

Risbridger, G. P., Davis, I. D., Birrell, S. N., & Tilley, W. D. (2010). Breast and prostate cancer: more similar than different. *Nat Rev Cancer, 10*(3), 205-212. doi: 10.1038/nrc2795

Roberts, P J, & Der, C J. (2007). Targeting the Raf-MEK-ERK mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade for the treatment of cancer. *Oncogene, 26*, 3291-3310. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210422

Robker, R. L., Russell, D. L., Espey, L. L., Lydon, J. P., O'Malley, B. W., & Richards, J. S. (2000). Progesterone-regulated genes in the ovulation process: ADAMTS-1 and cathepsin L proteases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *97*(9), 4689-4694. doi: 10.1073/pnas.080073497

Rocks, N., Paulissen, G., El Hour, M., Quesada, F., Crahay, C., Gueders, M., Cataldo, D. (2008). Emerging roles of ADAM and ADAMTS metalloproteinases in cancer. *Biochimie*, *90*(2), 369-379. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2007.08.008

Rocks, N., Paulissen, G., Quesada Calvo, F., Polette, M., Gueders, M., Munaut, C., Cataldo, D. (2006). Expression of a disintegrin and metalloprotease (ADAM and ADAMTS) enzymes in human non-small-cell lung carcinomas (NSCLC). *Br J Cancer, 94*(5), 724-730. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602990

Rocks, N., Paulissen, G., Quesada-Calvo, F., Munaut, C., Gonzalez, M. L., Gueders, M., Cataldo, D. D. (2008). ADAMTS-1 metalloproteinase promotes tumor development through the induction of a stromal reaction in vivo. *Cancer Res, 68*(22), 9541-9550. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0548

Rodriguez, D., Morrison, C. J., & Overall, C. M. (2010). Matrix metalloproteinases: what do they not do? New substrates and biological roles identified by murine models and proteomics. *Biochim Biophys Acta, 1803*(1), 39-54. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2009.09.015

Rodriguez-Manzaneque, J. C., Carpizo, D., Plaza-Calonge Mdel, C., Torres-Collado, A. X., Thai, S. N., Simons, M., Iruela-Arispe, M. L. (2009). Cleavage of syndecan-4 by ADAMTS1 provokes defects in adhesion. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 41*(4), 800-810. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2008.08.014

Rodriguez-Manzaneque, J. C., Milchanowski, A. B., Dufour, E. K., Leduc, R., & Iruela-Arispe, M. L. (2000). Characterization of METH-1/ADAMTS1 processing reveals two distinct active forms. *J Biol Chem*, *275*(43), 33471-33479. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M002599200

Rodriguez-Manzaneque, J. C., Westling, J., Thai, S. N., Luque, A., Knauper, V., Murphy, G., Iruela-Arispe, M. L. (2002). ADAMTS1 cleaves aggrecan at multiple sites and is differentially inhibited by metalloproteinase inhibitors. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 293*(1), 501-508. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(02)00254-1

Rohatgi, R., Ho, H. Y., & Kirschner, M. W. (2000). Mechanism of N-WASP activation by CDC42 and phosphatidylinositol 4, 5-bisphosphate. *J Cell Biol*, *150*(6), 1299-1310.

Rohatgi, R., Nollau, P., Ho, H. Y., Kirschner, M. W., & Mayer, B. J. (2001). Nck and phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate synergistically activate actin polymerization through the N-WASP-Arp2/3 pathway. *J Biol Chem*, 276(28), 26448-26452. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M103856200

Rorth, P. (2012). Fellow travellers: emergent properties of collective cell migration. *EMBO Rep*, *13*(11), 984-991. doi: 10.1038/embor.2012.149

Ross, S. H., Spanjaard, E., Post, A., Vliem, M. J., Kristyanto, H., Bos, J. L., & de Rooij, J. (2012). Rap1 can bypass the FAK-Src-Paxillin cascade to induce cell spreading and focal adhesion formation. *PLoS One*, *7*(11), e50072. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050072

Ross, T. D., Coon, B. G., Yun, S., Baeyens, N., Tanaka, K., Ouyang, M., & Schwartz, M. A. (2013). Integrins in mechanotransduction. *Curr Opin Cell Biol, 25*(5), 613-618. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2013.05.006

Rubens, RD. (1998). Bone metastases-the clinical problem. Eur J Cancer, 34, 210.

Russell, D. L., Doyle, K. M., Ochsner, S. A., Sandy, J. D., & Richards, J. S. (2003). Processing and localization of ADAMTS-1 and proteolytic cleavage of versican during cumulus matrix expansion and ovulation. *J Biol Chem*, 278(43), 42330-42339. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M300519200

Sabeh, F., Ota, I., Holmbeck, K., Birkedal-Hansen, H., Soloway, P., Balbin, M., Weiss, S. J. (2004). Tumor cell traffic through the extracellular matrix is controlled by the membraneanchored collagenase MT1-MMP. *J Cell Biol*, *167*(4), 769-781. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200408028

Salter, Rebecca C, Ashlin, Tim G, Kwan, Alvin P L, & Ramji, Dipak P. (2010). ADAMTS proteases: key roles in atherosclerosis? *Journal of molecular medicine (Berlin, Germany), 88*, 1203-1211. doi: 10.1007/s00109-010-0654-x

Sampieri, C. L., Nuttall, R. K., Young, D. A., Goldspink, D., Clark, I. M., & Edwards, D. R. (2008). Activation of p38 and JNK MAPK pathways abrogates requirement for new protein synthesis for phorbol ester mediated induction of select MMP and TIMP genes. *Matrix Biol*, 27(2), 128-138. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2007.09.004

Sanders, Melinda E, Schuyler, Peggy A, Dupont, William D, & Page, David L. (2005). The natural history of low-grade ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast in women treated by biopsy only revealed over 30 years of long-term follow-up. *Cancer, 103,* 2481-2484. doi: 10.1002/cncr.21069

Sandy, J. D., Westling, J., Kenagy, R. D., Iruela-Arispe, M. L., Verscharen, C., Rodriguez-Mazaneque, J. C., Clowes, A. W. (2001). Versican V1 proteolysis in human aorta in vivo occurs at the Glu441-Ala442 bond, a site that is cleaved by recombinant ADAMTS-1 and ADAMTS-4. *J Biol Chem*, 276(16), 13372-13378. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M009737200

Saoncella, S., Echtermeyer, F., Denhez, F., Nowlen, J. K., Mosher, D. F., Robinson, S. D., Goetinck, P. F. (1999). Syndecan-4 signals cooperatively with integrins in a Rho-dependent manner in the assembly of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *9*6(6), 2805-2810.

Sarkar, S., Nuttall, R. K., Liu, S., Edwards, D. R., & Yong, V. W. (2006). Tenascin-C stimulates glioma cell invasion through matrix metalloproteinase-12. *Cancer Res, 66*(24), 11771-11780. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0470

Schelter, F., Halbgewachs, B., Baumler, P., Neu, C., Gorlach, A., Schrotzlmair, F., & Kruger, A. (2011). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1-induced scattered liver metastasis is mediated by hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha. *Clin Exp Metastasis, 28*(2), 91-99. doi: 10.1007/s10585-010-9360-x

Schiller, H. B., Hermann, M. R., Polleux, J., Vignaud, T., Zanivan, S., Friedel, C. C., Fassler, R. (2013). beta1- and alphav-class integrins cooperate to regulate myosin II during rigidity sensing of fibronectin-based microenvironments. *Nat Cell Biol, 15*(6), 625-636. doi: 10.1038/ncb2747

Schilling, Oliver, & Overall, Christopher M. (2008). Protease subsite profiling with proteomederived peptide libraries (PICS). *Protocol Exchange*, 1-12. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2008.88

Schmittgen, T. D., & Livak, K. J. (2008). Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative C(T) method. *Nat Protoc, 3*(6), 1101-1108.

Schwitalla, Sarah, Fingerle, Alexander A., Cammareri, Patrizia, Nebelsiek, Tim, Göktuna, Serkan I., Ziegler, Paul K., Greten, Florian R. (2012). Intestinal Tumorigenesis Initiated by Dedifferentiation and Acquisition of Stem-Cell-like Properties. *Cell*, 25-38. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.12.012

Seidah, N. G., Mayer, G., Zaid, A., Rousselet, E., Nassoury, N., Poirier, S., Prat, A. (2008). The activation and physiological functions of the proprotein convertases. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 40*(6-7), 1111-1125. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2008.01.030

Sela-Passwell, N., Trahtenherts, A., Kruger, A., & Sagi, I. (2011). New opportunities in drug design of metalloproteinase inhibitors: combination between structure-function experimental approaches and systems biology. *Expert Opin Drug Discov, 6*(5), 527-542. doi: 10.1517/17460441.2011.560936

Shanmugam, M, Krett, N L, Peters, C a, Maizels, E T, Murad, F M, Kawakatsu, H, Hunzicker-Dunn, M. (1998). Association of PKC delta and active Src in PMA-treated MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. *Oncogene, 16*, 1649-1654. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1201684

Sheffield, S. (2005). PATHOLOGY REPORTING OF BREAST DISEASE: A Joint Document Incorporating the Third Edition of the NHS Breast Screening Programme 's Guidelines for Pathology Reporting in Breast Cancer Screening and the Second Edition of The Royal College of Pathologists 'M. Sheffield: NHSBSP.

Shieh, H. S., Mathis, K. J., Williams, J. M., Hills, R. L., Wiese, J. F., Benson, T. E., Tomasselli, A. (2008). High resolution crystal structure of the catalytic domain of ADAMTS-5 (aggrecanase-2). *J Biol Chem*, 283(3), 1501-1507. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M705879200

Shimizu, Hajime, Seiki, Takashi, Asada, Makoto, Yoshimatsu, Kentaro, & Koyama, Noriyuki. (2003). Alpha6beta1 integrin induces proteasome-mediated cleavage of erbB2 in breast cancer cells. *Oncogene*, *22*, 831-839. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1206203

Shindo, T., Kurihara, H., Kuno, K., Yokoyama, H., Wada, T., Kurihara, Y., Matsushima, K. (2000). ADAMTS-1: a metalloproteinase-disintegrin essential for normal growth, fertility, and organ morphology and function. *J Clin Invest, 105*(10), 1345-1352. doi: 10.1172/JCI8635

Shozu, M, Minami, N, Yokoyama, H, Inoue, M, Kurihara, H, Matsushima, K, & Kuno, K. (2005). ADAMTS-1 is involved in normal follicular development, ovulatory process and organization of the medullary vascular network in the ovary. *Journal of molecular endocrinology, 35*, 343-355. doi: 10.1677/jme.1.01735

Silver, D. L., Hou, L., Somerville, R., Young, M. E., Apte, S. S., & Pavan, W. J. (2008). The secreted metalloprotease ADAMTS20 is required for melanoblast survival. *PLoS Genet, 4*(2), e1000003. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000003

Singh, A. B., Tsukada, T., Zent, R., & Harris, R. C. (2004). Membrane-associated HB-EGF modulates HGF-induced cellular responses in MDCK cells. *J Cell Sci, 117*(Pt 8), 1365-1379. doi: 10.1242/jcs.01037

Singh, R. J., Mason, J. C., Lidington, E. A., Edwards, D. R., Nuttall, R. K., Khokha, R., Gavrilovic, J. (2005). Cytokine stimulated vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) ectodomain release is regulated by TIMP-3. *Cardiovasc Res,* 67(1), 39-49. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2005.02.020

Sjoblom, T., Jones, S., Wood, L. D., Parsons, D. W., Lin, J., Barber, T. D., Velculescu, V. E. (2006). The consensus coding sequences of human breast and colorectal cancers. *Science*, *314*(5797), 268-274. doi: 10.1126/science.1133427

Small, J., Rottner, K., Hahne, P., & Anderson, K. I. (1999). Visualising the actin cytoskeleton. *Microsc Res Tech*, *47*(1), 3-17. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0029(19991001)47:1<3::AID-JEMT2>3.0.CO;2-2

Somerville, R. P., Jungers, K. A., & Apte, S. S. (2004). Discovery and characterization of a novel, widely expressed metalloprotease, ADAMTS10, and its proteolytic activation. *J Biol Chem*, *279*(49), 51208-51217. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M409036200

Somerville, R. P., Longpre, J. M., Apel, E. D., Lewis, R. M., Wang, L. W., Sanes, J. R., Apte, S. S. (2004). ADAMTS7B, the full-length product of the ADAMTS7 gene, is a chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan containing a mucin domain. *J Biol Chem*, 279(34), 35159-35175. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M402380200

Somerville, R. P., Longpre, J. M., Jungers, K. A., Engle, J. M., Ross, M., Evanko, S., Apte, S. S. (2003). Characterization of ADAMTS-9 and ADAMTS-20 as a distinct ADAMTS subfamily related to Caenorhabditis elegans GON-1. *J Biol Chem*, 278(11), 9503-9513. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M211009200

Song, Ruo-Hua, Tortorella, Micky D, Malfait, Anne-Marie, Alston, James T, Yang, Zhiyong, Arner, Elizabeth C, & Griggs, David W. (2007). Aggrecan degradation in human articular cartilage explants is mediated by both ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, *56*, 575-585. doi: 10.1002/art.22334

Sonnenschein, C., & Soto, A. M. (2008). Theories of carcinogenesis: an emerging perspective. *Semin Cancer Biol, 18*(5), 372-377. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2008.03.012

Sounni, N. E., Dehne, K., van Kempen, L., Egeblad, M., Affara, N. I., Cuevas, I., Coussens, L. M. (2010). Stromal regulation of vessel stability by MMP14 and TGFbeta. *Dis Model Mech, 3*(5-6), 317-332. doi: 10.1242/dmm.003863

Spiering, D., & Hodgson, L. (2011). Dynamics of the Rho-family small GTPases in actin regulation and motility. *Cell Adh Migr*, *5*(2), 170-180.

Spivey, K a, Chung, I, Banyard, J, Adini, I, Feldman, H a, & Zetter, B R. (2012). A role for collagen XXIII in cancer cell adhesion, anchorage-independence and metastasis. *Oncogene*, *31*, 2362-2372. doi: 10.1038/onc.2011.406

Sridhar, S C, & Miranti, C K. (2006). Tetraspanin KAI1/CD82 suppresses invasion by inhibiting integrin-dependent crosstalk with c-Met receptor and Src kinases. *Oncogene, 25*, 2367-2378. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209269

Stankunas, K., Hang, C. T., Tsun, Z. Y., Chen, H., Lee, N. V., Wu, J. I., Chang, C. P. (2008). Endocardial Brg1 represses ADAMTS1 to maintain the microenvironment for myocardial morphogenesis. *Dev Cell*, *14*(2), 298-311. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2007.11.018

Stanton, H., Melrose, J., Little, C. B., & Fosang, A. J. (2011). Proteoglycan degradation by the ADAMTS family of proteinases. *Biochim Biophys Acta, 1812*(12), 1616-1629. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2011.08.009

Stanton, Heather, Rogerson, Fraser M, East, Charlotte J, Golub, Suzanne B, Lawlor, Kate E, Meeker, Clare T, Fosang, Amanda J. (2005). ADAMTS5 is the major aggrecanase in mouse cartilage in vivo and in vitro. *Nature*, *434*, 648-652. doi: 10.1038/nature03417

Statistics, Office for National. (2010). Cancer survival in England: one-year and five-year survival for 21 common cancers, by

sex and age. Patients diagnosed 2003-2007 and followed up to 2008 Statistical Bulletin.

Steinl, C., Essl, M., Schreiber, T. D., Geiger, K., Prokop, L., Stevanovic, S., Klein, G. (2013). Release of matrix metalloproteinase-8 during physiological trafficking and induced mobilization of human hematopoietic stem cells. *Stem Cells Dev, 22*(9), 1307-1318. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0063

Stephens, Philip J, McBride, David J, Lin, Meng-Lay, Varela, Ignacio, Pleasance, Erin D, Simpson, Jared T, Stratton, Michael R. (2009). Complex landscapes of somatic rearrangement in human breast cancer genomes. *Nature*, *462*, 1005-1010. doi: 10.1038/nature08645

Sternlicht, M. D., & Werb, Z. (2001). How matrix metalloproteinases regulate cell behavior. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 17*, 463-516. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.17.1.463

Stipp, C. S. (2010). Laminin-binding integrins and their tetraspanin partners as potential antimetastatic targets. *Expert Rev Mol Med*, *12*, e3. doi: 10.1017/S1462399409001355

Streuli, C. H., & Akhtar, N. (2009). Signal co-operation between integrins and other receptor systems. *Biochem J, 418*(3), 491-506. doi: 10.1042/BJ20081948

Stupka, N., Kintakas, C., White, J. D., Fraser, F. W., Hanciu, M., Aramaki-Hattori, N., McCulloch, D. R. (2013). Versican processing by a disintegrin-like and metalloproteinase domain with thrombospondin-1 repeats proteinases-5 and -15 facilitates myoblast fusion. *J Biol Chem*, *288*(3), 1907-1917. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.429647

Suntzeff, V., Burns, E. L., Moskop, M., & Loeb, L. (1938). On the proliferative changes taking place in the epithelium of vagina and cervix of mice with advancing age and under the influence of experimentally administered estrogenic hormones. *Am J Cancer, 32*(2), 256-289.

Swanton, C., Burrell, R. A., & Futreal, P. A. (2011). Breast cancer genome heterogeneity: a challenge to personalised medicine? *Breast Cancer Res, 13*(1), 104. doi: 10.1186/bcr2807

Tagliabue, E., Ghirelli, C., Squicciarini, P., Aiello, P., Colnaghi, M. I., & Menard, S. (1998). Prognostic value of alpha 6 beta 4 integrin expression in breast carcinomas is affected by laminin production from tumor cells. *Clin Cancer Res, 4*(2), 407-410.

Taherian, Aliakbar, Li, Xinlei, Liu, Yongqing, & Haas, Thomas a. (2011). Differences in integrin expression and signaling within human breast cancer cells. *BMC cancer, 11*, 293. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-11-293

Takizawa, M., Yatabe, T., Okada, A., Chijiiwa, M., Mochizuki, S., Ghosh, P., & Okada, Y. (2008). Calcium pentosan polysulfate directly inhibits enzymatic activity of ADAMTS4 (aggrecanase-1) in osteoarthritic chondrocytes. *FEBS Lett, 582*(19), 2945-2949. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2008.07.036

Tamai, K. K., & Nishiwaki, K. (2007). bHLH transcription factors regulate organ morphogenesis via activation of an ADAMTS protease in C. elegans. *Dev Biol, 308*(2), 562-571. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2007.05.024

Tan Ide, A., Ricciardelli, C., & Russell, D. L. (2013). The metalloproteinase ADAMTS1: a comprehensive review of its role in tumorigenic and metastatic pathways. *Int J Cancer, 133*(10), 2263-2276. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28127

Tan, P. H., & Ellis, I. O. (2013). Myoepithelial and epithelial-myoepithelial, mesenchymal and fibroepithelial breast lesions: updates from the WHO Classification of Tumours of the Breast 2012. *J Clin Pathol, 66*(6), 465-470. doi: 10.1136/jclinpath-2012-201078

Tang, B. L. (2001). ADAMTS: a novel family of extracellular matrix proteases. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 33*(1), 33-44.

Tauchi, Ryoji, Imagama, Shiro, Natori, Takamitsu, Ohgomori, Tomohiro, Muramoto, Akio, Shinjo, Ryuichi, Kadomatsu, Kenji. (2012). The endogenous proteoglycan-degrading enzyme ADAMTS-4 promotes functional recovery after spinal cord injury. *Journal of neuroinflammation*, *9*, 53. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-9-53

Terry, S. J., Elbediwy, A., Zihni, C., Harris, A. R., Bailly, M., Charras, G. T., Matter, K. (2012). Stimulation of cortical myosin phosphorylation by p114RhoGEF drives cell migration and tumor cell invasion. *PLoS One*, *7*(11), e50188. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050188

Thiery, J. P. (2002). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *2*(6), 442-454. doi: 10.1038/nrc822

Thirkettle, S., Decock, J., Arnold, H., Pennington, C. J., Jaworski, D. M., & Edwards, D. R. (2013). Matrix metalloproteinase 8 (collagenase 2) induces the expression of interleukins 6 and 8 in breast cancer cells. *J Biol Chem*, *288*(23), 16282-16294. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.464230

Thomas, M. B., Radhakrishnan, K., Gnanadhas, D. P., Chakravortty, D., & Raichur, A. M. (2013). Intracellular delivery of doxorubicin encapsulated in novel pH-responsive chitosan/heparin nanocapsules. *Int J Nanomedicine*, *8*, 267-273. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S37737

Tilghman, R. W., Cowan, C. R., Mih, J. D., Koryakina, Y., Gioeli, D., Slack-Davis, J. K., Parsons, J. T. (2010). Matrix rigidity regulates cancer cell growth and cellular phenotype. *PLoS One*, *5*(9), e12905. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012905

Toft-Hansen, H., Nuttall, R. K., Edwards, D. R., & Owens, T. (2004). Key metalloproteinases are expressed by specific cell types in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol, 173*(8), 5209-5218.

Tonoli, H., & Barrett, J. C. (2005). CD82 metastasis suppressor gene: a potential target for new therapeutics? *Trends Mol Med*, *11*(12), 563-570. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2005.10.002

Tortorella, M. D., Arner, E. C., Hills, R., Easton, A., Korte-Sarfaty, J., Fok, K., Malfait, A. M. (2004). Alpha2-macroglobulin is a novel substrate for ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5 and represents an endogenous inhibitor of these enzymes. *J Biol Chem*, *279*(17), 17554-17561. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M313041200

Tortorella, M. D., Arner, E. C., Hills, R., Gormley, J., Fok, K., Pegg, L., Malfait, A. M. (2005). ADAMTS-4 (aggrecanase-1): N-terminal activation mechanisms. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, *444*(1), 34-44. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2005.09.018

Tortorella, M. D., Burn, T. C., Pratta, M. A., Abbaszade, I., Hollis, J. M., Liu, R., Arner, E. C. (1999). Purification and cloning of aggrecanase-1: a member of the ADAMTS family of proteins. *Science*, *284*(5420), 1664-1666. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5420.1664

Tortorella, M. D., Tomasselli, A. G., Mathis, K. J., Schnute, M. E., Woodard, S. S., Munie, G., Shieh, H. S. (2009). Structural and inhibition analysis reveals the mechanism of selectivity of a series of aggrecanase inhibitors. *J Biol Chem*, *284*(36), 24185-24191. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.029116

Torzilli, P. A., Bourne, J. W., Cigler, T., & Vincent, C. T. (2012). A new paradigm for mechanobiological mechanisms in tumor metastasis. *Semin Cancer Biol,* 22(5-6), 385-395. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2012.05.002

Troeberg, L., Fushimi, K., Khokha, R., Emonard, H., Ghosh, P., & Nagase, H. (2008). Calcium pentosan polysulfate is a multifaceted exosite inhibitor of aggrecanases. *FASEB J*, *22*(10), 3515-3524. doi: 10.1096/fj.08-112680

Troeberg, L., Fushimi, K., Scilabra, S. D., Nakamura, H., Dive, V., Thogersen, I. B., Nagase, H. (2009). The C-terminal domains of ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5 promote association with N-TIMP-3. *Matrix Biol, 28*(8), 463-469. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2009.07.005

Troeberg, L., & Nagase, H. (2012). Proteases involved in cartilage matrix degradation in osteoarthritis. *Biochim Biophys Acta, 1824*(1), 133-145. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2011.06.020

Tsai, H. M., Nagel, R. L., Hatcher, V. B., & Sussman, II. (1989). Endothelial cell-derived high molecular weight von Willebrand factor is converted into the plasma multimer pattern by granulocyte proteases. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, *158*(3), 980-985.

Tsutsui, K., Manabe, R., Yamada, T., Nakano, I., Oguri, Y., Keene, D. R., Sekiguchi, K. (2010). ADAMTSL-6 is a novel extracellular matrix protein that binds to fibrillin-1 and promotes fibrillin-1 fibril formation. *J Biol Chem*, *285*(7), 4870-4882. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.076919
Ugalde, A. P., Ordonez, G. R., Quiros, P. M., Puente, X. S., & Lopez-Otin, C. (2010). Metalloproteases and the degradome. *Methods Mol Biol, 622*, 3-29. doi: 10.1007/978-1-60327-299-5_1

UK, Cancer Research. (2009). CancerStats Breast cancer – UK.

van der Neut, R, Krimpenfort, P, Calafat, J, Niessen, C M, & Sonnenberg, A. (1996). Epithelial detachment due to absence of hemidesmosomes in integrin beta 4 null mice. *Nature genetics*, *13*, 366-369. doi: 10.1038/ng0796-366

van Kempen, L. C., de Visser, K. E., & Coussens, L. M. (2006). Inflammation, proteases and cancer. *Eur J Cancer, 42*(6), 728-734. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2006.01.004

van Kempen, L. C., Rhee, J. S., Dehne, K., Lee, J., Edwards, D. R., & Coussens, L. M. (2002). Epithelial carcinogenesis: dynamic interplay between neoplastic cells and their microenvironment. *Differentiation*, *70*(9-10), 610-623. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-0436.2002.700914.x

Van Laere, S., Beissbarth, T., Van der Auwera, I., Van den Eynden, G., Trinh, X. B., Elst, H., Dirix, L. (2008). Relapse-free survival in breast cancer patients is associated with a gene expression signature characteristic for inflammatory breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res, 14*(22), 7452-7460. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1077

Van Lint, P., Wielockx, B., Puimege, L., Noel, A., Lopez-Otin, C., & Libert, C. (2005). Resistance of collagenase-2 (matrix metalloproteinase-8)-deficient mice to TNF-induced lethal hepatitis. *J Immunol, 175*(11), 7642-7649.

Van Lint, Philippe, Wielockx, Ben, Puimège, Leen, Noël, Agnès, López-Otin, Carlos, & Libert, Claude. (2005). Resistance of collagenase-2 (matrix metalloproteinase-8)-deficient mice to TNF-induced lethal hepatitis. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), 175, 7642-7649.*

van Meerloo, J., Kaspers, G. J., & Cloos, J. (2011). Cell sensitivity assays: the MTT assay. *Methods Mol Biol, 731*, 237-245. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-080-5_20

Vankemmelbeke, M. N., Jones, G. C., Fowles, C., Ilic, M. Z., Handley, C. J., Day, A. J., Buttle, D. J. (2003). Selective inhibition of ADAMTS-1, -4 and -5 by catechin gallate esters. *Eur J Biochem, 270*(11), 2394-2403. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1033.2003.03607.x

Vazquez, F., Hastings, G., Ortega, M. A., Lane, T. F., Oikemus, S., Lombardo, M., & Iruela-Arispe, M. L. (1999). METH-1, a human ortholog of ADAMTS-1, and METH-2 are members of a new family of proteins with angio-inhibitory activity. *J Biol Chem*, *274*(33), 23349-23357.

Velasco, J., Li, J., DiPietro, L., Stepp, M. A., Sandy, J. D., & Plaas, A. (2011). Adamts5 deletion blocks murine dermal repair through CD44-mediated aggrecan accumulation and modulation of transforming growth factor beta1 (TGFbeta1) signaling. *J Biol Chem, 286*(29), 26016-26027. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.208694

Viloria, C. G., Obaya, A. J., Moncada-Pazos, A., Llamazares, M., Astudillo, A., Capella, G., Lopez-Otin, C. (2009). Genetic inactivation of ADAMTS15 metalloprotease in human colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res, 69*(11), 4926-4934. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4155

Visscher, D. W., Gingrich, D. S., Buckley, J., Tabaczka, P., & Crissman, J. D. (1996). Cell cycle analysis of normal, atrophic, and hyperplastic breast epithelium using two-color multiparametric flow cytometry. *Anal Cell Pathol, 12*(2), 115-124.

von Thun, A., Birtwistle, M., Kalna, G., Grindlay, J., Strachan, D., Kolch, W., Norman, J. C. (2012). ERK2 drives tumour cell migration in three-dimensional microenvironments by suppressing expression of Rab17 and liprin-beta2. *J Cell Sci, 125*(Pt 6), 1465-1477. doi: 10.1242/jcs.092916

Wagsater, D., Bjork, H., Zhu, C., Bjorkegren, J., Valen, G., Hamsten, A., & Eriksson, P. (2008). ADAMTS-4 and -8 are inflammatory regulated enzymes expressed in macrophage-rich areas of

human atherosclerotic plaques. *Atherosclerosis*, 196(2), 514-522. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.05.018

Wagstaff, L., Kelwick, R., Decock, J., & Edwards, D. R. (2011). The roles of ADAMTS metalloproteinases in tumorigenesis and metastasis. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed), 16*, 1861-1872.

Wall, S. J., Bevan, D., Thomas, D. W., Harding, K. G., Edwards, D. R., & Murphy, G. (2002). Differential expression of matrix metalloproteinases during impaired wound healing of the diabetes mouse. *J Invest Dermatol*, *119*(1), 91-98. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.2002.01779.x

Wallard, M. J., Pennington, C. J., Veerakumarasivam, A., Burtt, G., Mills, I. G., Warren, A., Kelly, J. D. (2006). Comprehensive profiling and localisation of the matrix metalloproteinases in urothelial carcinoma. *Br J Cancer, 94*(4), 569-577. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602931

Walters, S., Rachet, B., Westlake, S., Cooper, N., Rasulo, D., Horn, O., & Coleman, M. (2009). Cancer survival, England, patients diagnosed 2001–2006 and followed up to 2007: one-year and five-year survival for 21 common cancers, by sex and age. *Report produced in collaboration with the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine and the Office of National Statistics http://www. statistics. gov. uk/statbase/prep/14007. asp, 2007.*

Wan, X., Kim, S. Y., Guenther, L. M., Mendoza, A., Briggs, J., Yeung, C., Helman, L. (2009). Beta4 integrin promotes osteosarcoma metastasis and interacts with ezrin. *Oncogene, 28*(38), 3401-3411. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.206

Wang, H., Leavitt, L., Ramaswamy, R., & Rapraeger, A. C. (2010). Interaction of syndecan and alpha6beta4 integrin cytoplasmic domains: regulation of ErbB2-mediated integrin activation. *J Biol Chem*, *285*(18), 13569-13579. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.102137

Wang, L., & Wang, J. (2012). MicroRNA-mediated breast cancer metastasis: from primary site to distant organs. *Oncogene*, *31*(20), 2499-2511. doi: 10.1038/onc.2011.444

Wang, L., Wang, X., & Kong, W. (2010). ADAMTS-7, a novel proteolytic culprit in vascular remodeling. *Sheng Li Xue Bao, 62*(4), 285-294.

Wang, P., Tortorella, M., England, K., Malfait, A. M., Thomas, G., Arner, E. C., & Pei, D. (2004). Proprotein convertase furin interacts with and cleaves pro-ADAMTS4 (Aggrecanase-1) in the trans-Golgi network. *J Biol Chem*, 279(15), 15434-15440. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M312797200

Wang, S. J., Saadi, W., Lin, F., Minh-Canh Nguyen, C., & Li Jeon, N. (2004). Differential effects of EGF gradient profiles on MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell chemotaxis. *Exp Cell Res, 300*(1), 180-189. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2004.06.030

Wang, V. M., Bell, R. M., Thakore, R., Eyre, D. R., Galante, J. O., Li, J., Plaas, A. (2012). Murine tendon function is adversely affected by aggrecan accumulation due to the knockout of ADAMTS5. *J Orthop Res, 30*(4), 620-626. doi: 10.1002/jor.21558

Wang, W. M., Ge, G., Lim, N. H., Nagase, H., & Greenspan, D. S. (2006). TIMP-3 inhibits the procollagen N-proteinase ADAMTS-2. *Biochem J*, 398(3), 515-519. doi: 10.1042/BJ20060630

Wang, W. M., Lee, S., Steiglitz, B. M., Scott, I. C., Lebares, C. C., Allen, M. L., Greenspan, D. S. (2003). Transforming growth factor-beta induces secretion of activated ADAMTS-2. A procollagen III N-proteinase. *J Biol Chem*, 278(21), 19549-19557. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M300767200

Wang, X., Li, K. F., Adams, E., & Van Schepdael, A. (2011). Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors: a review on bioanalytical methods, pharmacokinetics and metabolism. *Curr Drug Metab*, *12*(4), 395-410.

Watson, J. V., Chambers, S. H., & Smith, P. J. (1987). A pragmatic approach to the analysis of DNA histograms with a definable G1 peak. *Cytometry*, *8*(1), 1-8. doi: 10.1002/cyto.990080101

Wayne, G. J., Deng, S. J., Amour, A., Borman, S., Matico, R., Carter, H. L., & Murphy, G. (2007). TIMP-3 inhibition of ADAMTS-4 (Aggrecanase-1) is modulated by interactions between aggrecan and the C-terminal domain of ADAMTS-4. *J Biol Chem*, *282*(29), 20991-20998. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M610721200

Wei, X., Prickett, T. D., Viloria, C. G., Molinolo, A., Lin, J. C., Cardenas-Navia, I., Samuels, Y. (2010). Mutational and functional analysis reveals ADAMTS18 metalloproteinase as a novel driver in melanoma. *Mol Cancer Res, 8*(11), 1513-1525. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-10-0262

Wellings, S. R., & Jensen, H. M. (1973). On the origin and progression of ductal carcinoma in the human breast. *J Natl Cancer Inst, 50*(5), 1111-1118.

Werb, Z. (1997). ECM and cell surface proteolysis: regulating cellular ecology. *Cell*, 91(4), 439-442.

Wersto, R. P., Chrest, F. J., Leary, J. F., Morris, C., Stetler-Stevenson, M. A., & Gabrielson, E. (2001). Doublet discrimination in DNA cell-cycle analysis. *Cytometry*, *46*(5), 296-306.

Wertheimer, E., Gutierrez-Uzquiza, A., Rosemblit, C., Lopez-Haber, C., Sosa, M. S., & Kazanietz, M. G. (2012). Rac signaling in breast cancer: a tale of GEFs and GAPs. *Cell Signal,* 24(2), 353-362. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2011.08.011

Whiteside, E. J., Jackson, M. M., Herington, A. C., Edwards, D. R., & Harvey, M. B. (2001). Matrix metalloproteinase-9 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 are key regulators of extracellular matrix degradation by mouse embryos. *Biol Reprod*, *64*(5), 1331-1337.

Wight, T. N. (2002). Versican: a versatile extracellular matrix proteoglycan in cell biology. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, *14*(5), 617-623. doi: 10.1016/S0955-0674(02)00375-7

Wilcox-Adelman, S. A., Denhez, F., Iwabuchi, T., Saoncella, S., Calautti, E., & Goetinck, P. F. (2002). Syndecan-4: dispensable or indispensable? *Glycoconj J, 19*(4-5), 305-313. doi: 10.1023/A:1025304602057

Williams, N. S., Gaynor, R. B., Scoggin, S., Verma, U., Gokaslan, T., Simmang, C., Becerra, C. (2003). Identification and validation of genes involved in the pathogenesis of colorectal cancer using cDNA microarrays and RNA interference. *Clin Cancer Res, 9*(3), 931-946.

Wiseman, B. S., & Werb, Z. (2002). Stromal effects on mammary gland development and breast cancer. *Science*, 296(5570), 1046-1049. doi: 10.1126/science.1067431

Wojtowicz-Praga, S. M., Dickson, R. B., & Hawkins, M. J. (1997). Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors. *Invest New Drugs*, *15*(1), 61-75.

Woods, A., & Couchman, J. R. (1994). Syndecan 4 heparan sulfate proteoglycan is a selectively enriched and widespread focal adhesion component. *Mol Biol Cell*, *5*(2), 183-192.

Worley, J. R., Baugh, M. D., Hughes, D. A., Edwards, D. R., Hogan, A., Sampson, M. J., & Gavrilovic, J. (2003). Metalloproteinase expression in PMA-stimulated THP-1 cells. Effects of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma (PPAR gamma) agonists and 9-cis-retinoic acid. *J Biol Chem*, 278(51), 51340-51346. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M310865200

Worley, J. R., Thompkins, P. B., Lee, M. H., Hutton, M., Soloway, P., Edwards, D. R., Knauper, V. (2003). Sequence motifs of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 2 (TIMP-2) determining progelatinase A (proMMP-2) binding and activation by membrane-type metalloproteinase 1 (MT1-MMP). *Biochem J*, 372(Pt 3), 799-809. doi: 10.1042/BJ20021573

Wu, K., Katiyar, S., Li, A., Liu, M., Ju, X., Popov, V. M., Pestell, R. G. (2008). Dachshund inhibits oncogene-induced breast cancer cellular migration and invasion through suppression of interleukin-8. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 105*(19), 6924-6929. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0802085105

Xiao, G., Liu, Y. E., Gentz, R., Sang, Q. A., Ni, J., Goldberg, I. D., & Shi, Y. E. (1999). Suppression of breast cancer growth and metastasis by a serpin myoepithelium-derived serine

proteinase inhibitor expressed in the mammary myoepithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A,* 96(7), 3700-3705.

Xu, R., Boudreau, A., & Bissell, M. J. (2009). Tissue architecture and function: dynamic reciprocity via extra- and intra-cellular matrices. *Cancer Metastasis Rev, 28*(1-2), 167-176. doi: 10.1007/s10555-008-9178-z

Yamaji, N., Nishimura, K., Abe, K., Ohara, O., Nagase, T., & Nomura, N. (2000).

Yang, X., Dutta, U., & Shaw, L. M. (2010). SHP2 mediates the localized activation of Fyn downstream of the alpha6beta4 integrin to promote carcinoma invasion. *Mol Cell Biol, 30*(22), 5306-5317. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00326-10

Yokoyama, H., Wada, T., Kobayashi, K., Kuno, K., Kurihara, H., Shindo, T., & Matsushima, K. (2002). A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs (ADAMTS)-1 null mutant mice develop renal lesions mimicking obstructive nephropathy. *Nephrol Dial Transplant, 17 Suppl 9*, 39-41.

Yong, V. W., Power, C., Forsyth, P., & Edwards, D. R. (2001). Metalloproteinases in biology and pathology of the nervous system. *Nat Rev Neurosci, 2*(7), 502-511. doi: 10.1038/35081571

Young, D. A., Phillips, B. W., Lundy, C., Nuttall, R. K., Hogan, A., Schultz, G. A., Edwards, D. R. (2002). Identification of an initiator-like element essential for the expression of the tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-4 (Timp-4) gene. *Biochem J*, *364*(Pt 1), 89-99.

Zeng, W., Corcoran, C., Collins-Racie, L. A., Lavallie, E. R., Morris, E. A., & Flannery, C. R. (2006). Glycosaminoglycan-binding properties and aggrecanase activities of truncated ADAMTSs: comparative analyses with ADAMTS-5, -9, -16 and -18. *Biochim Biophys Acta, 1760*(3), 517-524. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2006.01.013

Zhang, Z. J., & Ma, S. L. (2012). miRNAs in breast cancer tumorigenesis (Review). *Oncol Rep*, 27(4), 903-910. doi: 10.3892/or.2011.1611

Zucker, S., Cao, J., & Chen, W. T. (2000). Critical appraisal of the use of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors in cancer treatment. *Oncogene, 19*(56), 6642-6650. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1204097

Appendix



Appendix 1: ADAMTS evolutionary history

Figure A1: ADAMTS evolutionary history and genomic locations. (Top) The figure shows a representation of the likely gene duplications and a retrotransposition event that gave rise to the expansion of the ADAMTS family. The figure is not drawn to scale, in terms of evolutionary distance. Adapted from Nicholson *et al.* 2005; Huxley-Jones *et al.* 2005; Angerer *et al.* 2006; Brocker *et al.* 2009; Kelwick and Edwards, 2014. (Bottom) The genomic locations of the 19 human ADAMTS genes.

Organism	Number of ADAMTS Genes							
Mus musculus	19							
(Mouse)	ADAMTS-1,-2,-3,-4,-5,-6,-7,-8,-9,-10,-12,-13,-14,- 15,-16,-17,-18,-19 and -20							
Rattus norvegicus	19							
(Ral)	ADAMTS-1,-2,-3,-4,-5,-6,-7,-8,-9,-10,-12,-13,-14,- 15,-16,-17,-18,-19 and -20							
Danio rerio	15							
(Zebransn)	ADAMTS-1,-2,-3, -6,-8a-d,-9,-10,-12,-13,-14,-15a- c,-16,-17,-18 and -20							
Takifugu rubripes	16							
(Puffer Fish)	ADAMTS-1,-2,-3,-4,-5,-6,-7,-8,-9,-10,-12,-14,-15,- 16,-18, and -20							
Ciona intestinalis	6							
(Sea Squirt)	ADAMTS -a [2,3,14], -b [16,18], -c [7,12], -d [9,20], -e [6,10] and -f [1,4,5]							
	[human orthologues]							
Drosophila	3							
melanogaster	CG4096 [7,12], CG6107 [9,20], CG14869 [none]							
(Fruit Fly)	[human orthologues]							

Table A1: ADAMTS orthologues. Data adapted from Ensemble genome
browser (last accessed 1/1/13); Huxley-Jones et al. 2005; Huxley-Jones et al.
2007; Nicholson et al. 2005

	TS1	TS2	TS3	TS4	TS5	TS6	TS7	TS8	TS9	TS10	TS12	TS13	TS14	TS15	TS16	TS17	TS18	TS19	TS20
TS1	100																		
TS2	28	100																	
TS3	28	84	100																
TS4	61	28	28	100															
TS5	57	29	31	46	100														
TS6	37	35	35	40	40	100													
TS7	41	35	34	42	42	52	100												
TS8	60	31	32	54	52	33	37	100											
TS9	52	35	36	49	46	49	48	50	100										
TS10	39	34	33	39	38	77	52	32	46	100									
TS12	38	29	28	39	38	52	73	35	48	51	100								
TS13	27	29	29	28	26	31	34	25	27	29	28	100							
TS14	29	77	81	29	32	37	35	33	38	37	30	32	100						
TS15	66	33	31	58	56	40	46	56	53	40	42	27	33	100					
TS16	33	33	34	35	33	45	50	32	45	45	46	30	32	39	100				
TS17	32	31	31	35	32	38	40	33	39	40	38	29	33	33	41	100			
TS18	33	37	36	38	34	48	49	34	44	47	49	27	35	38	75	44	100		
TS19	31	26	26	33	33	40	38	29	34	40	39	28	30	32	43	61	44	100	
TS20	46	33	34	44	43	41	46	45	62	39	45	30	37	45	37	36	39	32	100
			F	Func	tion	al Gi	roup	s											
			Agg	recar	nases	/ Hyl	ectan	ases											
			AD	DAMT	S-1, 4	, 5, 8,	9, 15	, 20											
			Pro	collag	gen N	prop	eptid	ases											
				AD	AMT	S-2, 3	, 14												
					vW	FCP									High	Level	of Hor	nology	1
						/ITS-1	3								Lov	v Level	of Hom	nology	
				CO	MP Pr	otein	ases											.,	
				A	DAM	TS-7,	12												
	_	_		Orp	han/	Unkn	own	_											
			AD	AMTS	6-6, 10	D, 16,	17, 18	3, 19											

Figure A1.2: ADAMTS metalloproteinase sequence identity. ClustalW analysis of the sequence identities between human ADAMTS metalloproteinase domains. Domains that show the greatest similarities (≥50% identity) are shaded in grey. Adapted from Kelwick and Edwards, 2014

Appendix 2: miRNA regulation of ADAMTSs

Gene	Predicted miRNA
ADAMTS-1	miR-142-5p miR-628-3p miR-340 miR-15a miR-98 miR-10b miR-34a miR-155 miR-380 miR-338-3p
ADAMTS-2	miR-27a miR-95 miR-7 miR-10a miR-10b miR-217 miR-223 miR-200b miR-27b miR-141
ADAMTS-3	miR-199a-3p miR-501-3p miR-16 miR-95 miR-101 miR-144 miR-9 miR-30e miR-429 miR-202
ADAMTS-4	miR-125b miR-182 miR-342-3p miR-339-5p miR-345 miR-384 miR-329 miR-485-3p miR-202 miR-495
ADAMTS-5	miR-16 miR-105 miR-181a miR-203 miR-211 miR- 224 miR-140-5p miR-145 miR-134 miR-382
ADAMTS-6	miR-29b miR-221 miR-203 miR-140-5p miR-9 miR- 369-3p miR-515-5p miR-587 miR-605 miR-330-5p
ADAMTS-7	miR-29b miR-767-5p miR-541 miR-370 miR-596 miR-920 miR-921 miR-29a miR-129-5p miR-29c
ADAMTS-8	let-7f miR-203 miR-153 miR-346 miR-448 miR-519a miR-450b-5p let-7a let-7b let-7c
ADAMTS-9	miR-205 miR-338-5p miR-548a-5p miR-216b miR- 29a miR-30a miR-32 miR-29b miR-103 miR-182
ADAMTS-10	miR-27a miR-29a miR-101 miR-149 miR-296-5p miR-331-3p miR-512-3p miR-637 miR-767-5p miR- 361-3p
ADAMTS-12	let-7a let-7b let-7c let-7d let-7e let-7f miR-98 miR- 198 miR-214 let-7g
ADAMTS-13	miR-525-5p miR-520a-5p miR-509-3p miR-596 miR- 769-5p miR-766 miR-197 miR-34a miR-149 miR- 302a
ADAMTS-14	miR-218 miR-636 miR-615-5p let-7d miR-24 miR- 30b miR-328 miR-202 miR-516b miR-766
ADAMTS-15	miR-29a miR-29b miR-10a miR-217 miR-223 miR- 137 miR-153 miR-150 miR-29c miR-362-5p
ADAMTS-16	miR-142-5p miR-545 miR-124 miR-524-5p miR-567 miR-587 miR-595 miR-612 miR-340 miR-892a
ADAMTS-17	miR-758 miR-19a miR-101 miR-29b miR-144 miR- 134 miR-362-5p miR-324-3p miR-346 miR-486-5p

ADAMTS-18	miR-181a miR-302a miR-16 miR-19a miR-29b miR- 148a miR-205 miR-130a miR-302c miR-382						
ADAMTS-19	miR-369-3p miR-380 miR-26b miR-148a miR-214 miR-219-5p miR-133a miR-154 miR-301a miR-374a						
ADAMTS-20	miR-19b miR-27a miR-29b miR-200b miR-27b miR- 141 miR-186 miR-200a miR-379 miR-429						

Table A2: miRNA regulators of the ADAMTSs. Data in table adaptedfrom:http://www.mirnabodymap.org/index.phpandKelwickandEdwards, 2014.

Appendix 3: ADAMTS domain sizes

	classel /pass damas in	Metalla	Disintensia	TODA	Custaina Diah	6	TEDO	TEDA	TODA	TODE	TODO	TEDT	TERO	TERO	TEDIO	TED44	TERAS	TED42	TODAA	TODAE	Musin	Dresellenen	CURA	CURA	CONI	
	Signal/Prodomain	Metallo	Disintegrin	ISRI	Cysteine Rich	Spacer	TSR2	ISR3	ISR4	ISRS	ISR	ISR/	ISR8	ISR9	ISRIU	ISRII	TSR12	ISR13	ISR14	15815	Mucin	Procollagen	COB1	COB2	GONT	PLAC
TS1	248	230	64	53	112	133	47	56																		
TS2	255	227	65	53	108	135	57	59	50													183			1	31
TS3	245	227	65	53	108	136	56	58	46													228				32
TS4	208	231	64	53	112	152																				
TS5	257	230	63	53	111	147	52																			
TS6	240	240	64	53	105	127	56	57	55	51																35
TS7	228	236	60	53	106	127	55	60	49	49	56	47	56								420					57
TS8	209	233	67	53	110	146	54																			
TS9	283	228	63	53	111	131	52	58	53	53	55	54	55	52	54	54	54	54	60	53					197	
TS10	229	240	64	53	105	123	56	57	55	51																35
TS12	236	232	59	53	33	114	55	59	49	49	57	46	57								320					62
TS13	70	231	66	53	118	130	57	59	52	55	58	52	55										146	109		
TS14	248	227	65	53	109	136	56	53	45													207				32
TS15	201	237	63	53	113	160	52	54																		
TS16	275	233	63	53	107	127	49	56	53	55	51															32
TS17	219	247	63	54	104	103	53	52	49	48																34
TS18	280	231	63	53	108	127	54	52	49	55	51															33
TS19	312	247	63	49	104	129	58	57	49	74																34
TS 20	2/19	230	63	53	111	132	52	58	53	53	55	53	53	52	54	54	54	54	61	52					196	

Figure A3: ADAMTS domain sizes. The size (numbers of amino acid residues) of every domain in the human ADAMTS family is shown. The grey bars are a visual representation of the data. Data adapted from Kelwick and Edwards, 2014

Appendix 4: ADAMTS-15 sequences

>ADAMTS-15_protein
MLLLGILTLAFAGRTAGGSEPEREVVVPIRLDPDINGRRYYWRGPEDSGDQGLIFQITAFQEDFYLHLTP
DAQFLAPAFSTEHLGVPLQGLTGGSSDLRRCFYSGDVNAEPDSFAAVSLCGGLRGAFGYRGAEYVISPLP
NASAPAAQRNSQGAHLLQRRGVPGGPSGDPTSRCGVASGWNPAILRALDPYKPRRAGFGES <mark>RSRR</mark> RSG
<i>RAKR</i> FVSIPRYVETLVVADESMVKFHGADLEHYLLTLLATAARLYRHPSILNPINIVVVKVLLLRDRDSG
PKVTGNAALTLRNFCAWQKKLNKVSDKHPEYWDTAILFTRQDLCGATTCDTLGMADVGTMCDPKRSCSVI
EDDGLPSAFTTAHE LGHVFNMPHDNVKVCEEVFGKLRANHMMSPTLIQIDRANPWSACSAAIITDFLDSG
HGDCLLDQPSKPISLPEDLPGASY <mark>TLSQQCELAFGVGSKPCPYMQYCTKLWCTGKAKGQMVCQTRHFPWA</mark>
DGTSCGEGKLCLKGACVERHNLNKHRVDGSWAKWDPYGPCSRTCGGGVQLARRQCTNPTPANGGKYCEGV
RVKYRSCNLEP CPSSASGKSFREEQCEAFNGYNHSTNRLTLAVAWVPKYSGVSPRDKCKLICRANGTGYF
YVLAPKVVDGTLCSPDSTSVCVQGKCIKAGCDGNLGSKKRFDKCGVCGGDNKSC <mark>KKVTGLFTKPMHGYNF</mark>
VVAIPAGASSIDIRQRGYKGLIGDDNYLALKNSQGKYLLNGHFVVSAVERDLVVKGSLLRYSGTGTAVES
LQASRPILEPLTVEVLSVGKMTPPRVRYSFYLPKEPREDKSSHPKDPRGPSVLHNSVLSLSNQVEQPDDR
PPAR <mark>WVAGSWGPCSASCGSGLQKRAVDCRGSAGQRTVPACDAAHRPVETQACGEPC</mark> PT <mark>WELSAWSPCSKS</mark>
CGRGFQRRSLKCVGHGGRLLARDQCNLHRKPQELDFCVLRPC
Legend: Signal/Pro-domain Furin cleavage site RAKR Metalloproteinase domain E362A
mutation position Disintegrin domain TSR1 Cysteine rich domain Spacer domain TSR2

Figure A4: ADAMTS-15 Sequence. The figure highlights the key ADAMTS-15 protein domains and the location of the E362A mutation in the metalloproteinase inactive construct used in this study.



Appendix 5: Validation of ADAMTS-15 antibodies

Figure A5: Commercial ADAMTS-15 antibodies do not reliably detect endogenous ADAMTS-15. Several commercially available ADAMTS-15 antibodies were tested and none were able to reliably detect ADAMTS-15 (predicted size ~103kDa) from cell lysate samples of human breast cancer cells. Santa Cruz antibody H-135 is reported to detect ADAMTS-15 (Viloria *et al.* 2009) however in our hands ADAMTS-15 could not be detected in either MCF-7 (lanes 1-2) or MDA-MB-231 ADAMTS-15 expressing cells (lanes 3-4). For Abcam antibodies, cell lysates from MDA-MB-231 EV (C, control), TS15 and E362A constitutive cells were used. Some antibodies were generated using ADAMTS-15 peptides that correspond to the indicated residues.

Appendix 6: Phosphokinase array data

	EV	T\$15	E-A	Pattern		
					Activity Dependant Activiation	Peak at T\$15
ρ38α	1185.5	5532	2983.5	\sim	Activity Dependant Inhibition	Reduction at TS15
ERK 1/2	5381	20524.5	12870	\sim	E-A Dependant Activation	Peakat E-A
p70 S6 Kinase (T389)	0	2044	0	\sim	E-A Dependant Inhibition	Reduction at E-A
p53 (\$15)	8431	10382.5	7131	\sim	Activity Independent Activation	Peak for TS15 and E-A compared to EV
PLCy-1	4545.5	12460	5165.5	\sim	Activity Independent Inhibition	Reduction for TS15 and E-A compared to EV
TOR	3974	479.5	2170.5	~~	No Differnce	No difference between samples
CREB	2874.5	0	3666	$\overline{}$	Controls	Control Samples
HSP27	5813	1660	3555	~	Ambiguous	T\$15 and E-A cause different effects
ΑΜΡΚα2	5541.5	2513.5	4235	~~~	1.11.12.00.02	
Src	3302.5	0	1994	$\overline{}$		
STAT2	4106	0	2336	~~		
STAT1	8453.5	5274.5	7674.5	~~		
MEK 1/2	4663	4969	7825.5			
Akt (T308)	7125.5	7273.5	9537			
STAT6	2316.5	1478.5	7822.5			
GSK-3g/B	3723	3870	0	-		
n27 (T189)	5814	3739	254.5			
Paxillin	10795	9110.5	541			
Før	3368.5	2110.5	176.5		-	
p70 S6 Kinase (T421/S424)	8351	9599.5	6041	\sim		
RSK 1/2/3	5420.5	7507	2139	\sim		
p27 (T175)	4368.5	2066	354.5			
STAT5a/b	1189	2235 5	1994			
AMPKga	2654	54.5		\leq		
Akt (\$473)	2009	0	0	~~~		
n53 (\$46)	1/121 5	11647	8447.5	~		
B Caterin	3651	0	0			
Lyn	4520.5	2462	3896	$\overline{}$		
Lck	5429.5	1196.5	0	$\overline{}$		
STAT5a	3413	839	1293.5			
Evn	5687	2059	1778	~		
Yes	7057.5	2953.5	0	~		
STAT3	3818	451.5	146	~		
STAT5b	2307.5	0	0			
p70 \$6 Kinase (T229)	15865.5	10568	11207.5			
RSK 1/2	10328	5881.5	2951.5			
STAT4	8388.5	5179.5	5626.5			
Hck	6368.5	2415	2965.5			
FAK	2399.5	0	863			
p53 (\$392)	6602	8638	3667.5			
Pyk2	4661	3618	5511.5	\sim		
Chk-2	2287	3303.5	1228.5	\sim		
eNOS	6763.5	10692	2249	\sim		
c-lun	5956	6122	6413.5	\rightarrow		
MSK1/2	2950.5	3150	2769	-	1	
JNK pan	966.5	1570	654	\sim		
Positive	34951.5	43093	43891.5	\rightarrow	1	
Positive	43525	29869	34727.5	< -	1	
Positive	48821	34532	34335		1	
Negative		0	0		1	
Negative	0	0	0		1	
		U	0		1	

Figure A6: Human phosphokinase array data. Cell lysates from MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A were incubated with membranes that were pretreated with anti-phosphokinase antibodies as part of the R&D Human phosphokinase array kit. An analysis of HRP signal pixel density was utilised to determine the levels of kinase activation compared to control spots on the membrane. Colour coding is assigned according to pixel density values, where red denotes high values and green denotes low values. The diagrams in the right hand column in combination with the coloured categories (see figure legend) are intended to highlight phosphokinase patterns associated with ADAMTS and/or E362A expression compared to control EV cells.

Appendix 7: qRT-PCR data

	MDA-MB-231	MCF7	
ADAMTS1	26 ±0.40	34 ±0.40	Ct 15-25 Very high expression
ADAMTS4	21 ±0	40 ±0	Ct 26-30 High expression
ADAMTS5	36 ±0	40 ±0	Ct 31-35 Moderate expression
ADAMTS8	40 ±0	40 ±0	Ct 36-39 Low expression
ADAMTS9	26 ±0.04	40 ±0	Ct <40 Very low / undetectable expression
ADAMTS15	29 ±0.03	30 ±0.41	
ADAMTS20	37 ±0.20	36 ±0.47	
TIMP3	26 ±0.14	29 ±0.27	
Syndecan 1	28 ±0.06	26 ±0.04	
Syndecan 4	25 ±0.18	26 ±0.04	
Integrin β1	25 ±0.19	27 ±0.01	
Integrin α5	24 ±0.07	27 ±0.07	
L			

Figure A7: Expression profile of MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells. qRT-PCR analysis of gene expression in MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells. Relative expression levels are shown as a Ct value heat-map. The displayed Ct values, ±standard deviation, are averaged from three independently collected RNA samples. These data are the same as that shown in figure 3.3, except in this figure the standard deviation of three independently collected RNA samples are also shown.



Figure A8: Expression profile of MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells. qRT-PCR analysis of gene expression in MDA-MB-231 EV, TS15 and E362A cells. Relative expression levels are shown as a Ct value heat-map. The displayed Ct values, ±standard deviation, are averaged from three independently collected RNA samples. These data are the same as that shown in figures 3.8 and 4.8, except in this figure the standard deviation of three independently collected RNA samples are also shown.